# THE WELLBEING PROTOCOL -EFFECTS ON TEACHER STRESS, BURNOUT, AND WELLBEING DURING THE COVID-19 OUTBREAK

Georgiana-Felicia Toma

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Education, The University of Auckland, 2022.

## **ABSTRACT**

The COVID-19 pandemic had a negative impact on employee mental wellbeing giving rise to increased stress and burnout symptoms. Teachers were particularly impacted by mandatory self-isolation measures as they were required to change their mode of tuition and to create new materials, adapted for the online environment, in a very short amount of time. The present thesis explored the impact of a workplace wellness programme, The Wellbeing Protocol, delivered online during the first four months of the pandemic outbreak in New Zealand in 2020. The Wellbeing Protocol was a mindfulness-based programme underpinned by elements of cognitive behavioural and positive psychology strategies, delivered in 12 synchronous online sessions. Participants were 32 primary and secondary school teachers. Their self-reported levels of stress, burnout, mental wellbeing, and mindfulness were measured before the programme, immediately after, and three months later. Participant experience of the Wellbeing Protocol was also captured through qualitative methods such as open-ended survey questions and focus group interviews. Both quantitative and qualitative data indicated that The Wellbeing Protocol had a positive effect on participants. Results showed statistically significant reductions in stress and emotional exhaustion following the programme with large effect sizes. Similarly, mental wellbeing and mindfulness scores revealed statically significant improvements with large effect sizes. Non-statistically significant changes in depersonalization and personal accomplishment dimensions of burnout were present. The thematic analysis of the qualitative data indicated (1) self-awareness and non-reactivity may facilitate a reduction in stress levels; (2) the purposeful cultivation of selfcare and positive emotions may be a precursor to enhanced wellbeing; and (3) positive relationships with others and evidence of effectiveness at work may mitigate burnout symptoms. Overall, findings suggested that the Wellbeing Protocol might be a promising option to improve employee wellbeing and reduce stress and burnout rates.

# **DEDICATION**

To those who feel stressed and burned out, know that there is an easier way.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to thank first and foremost my supervisors, Prof. Cristine Rubie-Davies and Prof. Deidre Le Fevre. Without your guidance and support this project wouldn't have been possible. Thank you for believing in me, for giving me feedback always promptly and thoroughly, and for always encouraging me. I would also like to thank Dr. Sandy Farquhar who co-supervised the project in my first candidature year and whose gentle and wise approach to life I still cherish. I am forever grateful to have met all three of you and I look forward to continuing working with you in the future.

To my beloved partner, Jeremie, thank you for being there for me through this research journey. Thank you for your encouraging words and your constant support. I look forward to spending our weekends together and not working on my thesis! Your love has given me the energy to keep going and I am so grateful to have you in my life.

To my dear friends, Serene and Tingting, thank you for your friendship and support throughout these last three and a half years. I feel so grateful to have met you shortly after moving here. You've helped me settle in and never feel lonely. You are my rock and it's been such a gift to share my life with you. Thank you for your hugs, your understanding, and your support with stats!

Finally, I would like to say a heartfelt thank you to all the participants in the Wellbeing Protocol. It has been such a pleasure to meet you and I feel honoured to have worked with you. Thank you for taking part in the programme, for sharing so openly, and for the wonderful feedback you sent my way. I still read your messages and they fill me with love and give me the energy I need to keep going.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
CO-AUTHORSHIP FORMS	
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW	1
1.1. Research Context	
1.2. Ethical Considerations	7
1.3. Thesis Format and Outline	9
CHAPTER TWO: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	11
2.1. Stress	11
2.2. Burnout	13
2.3. Wellbeing	16
2.4. Mindfulness	
2.5. Mindfulness-Based Interventions (MBIs)	20
2.6. The Wellbeing Protocol	
CHAPTER THREE: DECREASING STRESS AND BURNOUT DURING THE COVID-19	2>
PANDEMIC: A QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS	33
Abstract	
3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Theoretical Context	
3.3. Methodology	
3.4. Results	
3.5. Discussion	
3.6. Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research	
3.7. Conclusion	
CHAPTER FOUR: A WORKPLACE WELLNESS PROGRAM PROTECTS AGAINST COVI	
EFFECTS ON MENTAL WELLBEING	
Abstract	
4.1. Introduction	
4.2. Theoretical Context	
4.3. Methodology	
4.4. Results	
4.5. Discussion	
4.6. Strengths and Limitations	
4.7. Conclusion	
CHAPTER FIVE: THE WELLBEING PROTOCOL MITIGATES THE EFFECTS OF COVID-	-19
ON STRESS AND BURNOUT. A QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE UNDERLYING	
MECHANISMS	
Abstract	
5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Theoretical Context	
5.3. Research Questions	
5.4. Methodology	
5.5. Findings	73
5.6. Discussion	80
5.7. Concluding Remarks	84
CHAPTER SIX: A GENERAL DISCUSSION	85

6.1. Overall Summary of Key Findings	86
6.2. Overall Discussion of Key Findings	88
6.3. Theoretical Contributions and Practical Implications	102
6.4. Limitations and Future Research Directions	104
6.5. Concluding Thoughts	109
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	144
Appendix 1. Open Ended Survey Questions at All Data Collection Times	144
Appendix 2. Focus Group Questions	145
Appendix 3. Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form	146

## **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW**

Finding ways to reduce stress and improve wellbeing have arguably been lifelong human pursuits. The recent coronavirus outbreak has brought to the forefront the importance of mental wellbeing and stress reduction more acutely than in previous years. In the workplace, COVID-19 negatively impacted virtually all occupations and caused dramatic increases in stress and burnout symptoms, precipitating a stringent need to find ways to mitigate the overall state of employee mental distress (Giorgi et al., 2020; Lund et al., 2021). In several studies, wellness programmes that have involved resilience-building, stress reduction, and mindfulness have shown promising results in supporting employee wellbeing (Bartlett et al., 2019; Dane & Brummel, 2014; Gabriel & Aguinis, 2021; Karlin, 2018). The present thesis followed this line of enquiry and explored a workplace wellness programme called *The Wellbeing Protocol*.

The Wellbeing Protocol was an evidence-based workplace training programme that comprised mindfulness tools, and cognitive behavioural and positive psychology strategies. Its aim was to support employees to reduce stress and burnout. The programme was created by the researcher who was an experienced meditator and mindfulness practitioner. The creation of the Wellbeing Protocol was prompted by the researcher's own experience of burnout and depression in the period 2014-2017. The Wellbeing Protocol was initially a self-help endeavour, that subsequently evolved into a step-by-step programme employed to support professionals from different fields. In the current study, the target population were New Zealand teachers. They were recruited and partook in the programme during the first four months of the COVID-19 national outbreak in 2020. The researcher was the programme facilitator.

This chapter provides a general introduction to the thesis. It begins by presenting the research context in which the study took place, the gaps in the literature the study aimed to

address, and its research aims. Ethical implications are then discussed. The chapter ends with an outline of the thesis and a brief preview of what each chapter will cover.

#### 1.1. Research Context

The World Health Organisation (WHO) declared COVID-19 a global pandemic on 11 March 2020 (World Health Organization, 2020). Since its onset in December 2019, COVID-19 has caused millions of deaths as well as significant mental distress (Tucker & Czapla, 2021). By 2021, reports across different countries and occupation sectors indicated a rise in stress, burnout symptoms, and poor mental health (Alexander et al., 2021; Giorgi et al., 2020; Tucker & Czapla, 2021). Research has indicated that almost half the workforce across the US, Australia, Asia, Europe, and Latin America were burned out (Alexander et al., 2021). A review of Australian and New Zealand workplaces revealed that in 2020, almost 1 in 10 employees had experienced burnout at least once in the past (Asana & Sapio Research, 2021).

Existing data on teacher mental wellbeing pre- and post-pandemic suggested that COVID-19 caused significant increases in burnout and mental distress. Pressley (2021) found increases in stress for US teachers and Sokal et al. (2020b) showed increases in stress and burnout dimensions of emotional exhaustion and cynicism in Canadian teachers. Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al. (2021) found increased rates of stress, anxiety, and depression for Spanish teachers in 2020. Similarly, Vargas Rubilar and Oros (2021) found high levels of stress, professional burnout and psychophysical indicators of discomfort for Argentinian teachers caused by COVID-related changes to modes of working.

The New Zealand Education Review Office (2021) surveyed half the country's principals and more than 400 teachers and found that the pandemic was placing an increasingly heavy toll on the teaching workforce. Student behaviour was reported to have worsened compared to pre-pandemic standards, the number of teachers dissatisfied with their job had increased, and so did the number of respondents who reported unmanageable

workloads and felt unsupported by their school leaders (Education Review Office, 2021). There is a significant body of literature suggesting that higher job demands, lower resources, and lower organisational support are precursors to burnout (Alarcon, 2011; Hobfoll, 2002; Maslach et al., 2001). In a meta-analysis on factors contributing to burnout, Alarcon (2011) found that job demands, organisational attitudes, and resources were significantly related to all three dimensions of burnout. High job demands had the strongest relation to exhaustion (Alarcon, 2011) in line with Hobfoll's (2002) conservation of resources (COR) theory. COR theory posits that high demands at work have a greater impact on exhaustion and stress than the experience of insufficient resources (Alarcon, 2011).

Although the Education Review Office (2021) did not capture measures of stress and burnout, a national survey conducted by The New Zealand Educational Institute and Deakin University (2020) showed that in 2019 teacher rates of burnout and stress were twice as high as those of the general population. We could infer therefore, based on the data previously presented, that these rates worsened post-pandemic. Media reports were consistent with this claim and depicted an over-worked, stressed, and burned-out New Zealand teaching workforce (n.a., 2021).

Calls to support teacher wellbeing appeared in both media and research (Education Review Office, 2021; n.a., 2021; Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020b). Giorgi et al. (2020) recommended the implementation of anti-contagion measures and of wellbeing and resilience training. Similarly, Gabriel and Aguinis (2021) suggested that wellness programmes, especially mindfulness or cognitive behavioural interventions, could promote reductions in burnout and stress symptoms. Current research findings on mindfulness-based training in the workplace suggested that such training could lead to improved productivity and reduced procrastination (Karlin, 2018), improved job performance and employee engagement (Dane & Brummel, 2014), reduced workplace incivility (Hülsheger et al., 2021), and enhanced

decision-making (Hafenbrack et al., 2014). In their respective reviews, Baicker et al. (2010) and Carolan et al. (2017) suggested that these promising findings should be further investigated and called for more research to be done in this space.

The current study aimed to fill this gap in the literature. Additionally, the present study was the first to our knowledge to measure the impact of a workplace wellness programme on New Zealand teachers employing a mixed-method design. Bernay (2014) conducted a hermeneutic phenomenological study of five New Zealand teachers who were introduced to mindfulness during their teacher education programme and who were monitored during their first year of teaching. Participants completed fortnightly journal entries for the duration of the study and were interviewed at three time points: after the first five journal entries, after the following five journal entries, and at the end of the first term of their second year of teaching. Results showed teachers' wellbeing and ability to focus were enhanced, their stress was reduced, and they were better able to respond rather than react emotionally to student needs (Bernay, 2014). Bernay's (2014) was the only study to explore mindfulness-based interventions for New Zealand teachers to date, that I was able to locate. Although the findings from Bernay's (2014) study were promising, the sample size comprised only 5 teachers and the study did not involve a more comprehensive programme that went beyond instruction in mindfulness practices.

There have also been very few studies that have investigated burnout and mental wellbeing among New Zealand (NZ) educators and none were very recent. Milfont et al. (2008) investigated the reliability of the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory among New Zealand secondary school teachers and found above average scores of burnout and a negative correlation with wellbeing measures. Whitehead et al. (2000) examined a sample of primary school teachers and principals in Auckland and discovered above average burnout scores compared to a normative sample of US teachers. Bianchi et al. (2016) surveyed a sample of

184 NZ school teachers and found that 8% of respondents had burnout symptoms at high frequency. These respondents were also identified as clinically depressed based on the Patient Health Questionnaire (Bianchi et al., 2016). In their study, Bianchi et al. (2016) aimed to demonstrate that burnout is a depressive symptom, rather than to investigate the state of the NZ teaching workforce. Thus, the latest studies that seek to understand the level of burnout in NZ educators were conducted over a decade ago. The current study hopes to fill this gap in literature though the discussion of baseline scores, which captured NZ primary and secondary school teachers' stress, burnout, mental wellbeing, and mindfulness in March 2020, at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The literature on teacher mental wellbeing during the coronavirus pandemic outbreak was limited at the date of publication of this study, undoubtedly due to the unprecedented nature of this event. There were nonetheless studies dedicated to US (Pressley, 2021), Canadian (Sokal et al., 2020b), Spanish (Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2021), and Argentinian teachers (Vargas Rubilar & Oros, 2021). The current study contributed to this emerging body of research by adding data related to New Zealand educators.

The final point of differentiation from prior research related to the content of the wellness programme employed, The Wellbeing Protocol (WP), which had not been previously investigated. WP was a mindfulness-based programme delivered entirely online which made it highly versatile and easily adopted during national quarantine measures. WP was an evidence-based programme, whose features are described in detail in the following chapter.

The first COVID-19 case in New Zealand was reported in February 2020. Almost a month later, the government declared a State of National Emergency and a mandatory national lockdown (New Zealand Government, 2021). Schools were tasked to begin online instruction in the following two weeks. For many teachers this meant having to get

acquainted with online tools for teaching for the first time. In many instances, teachers were also required to create online teaching materials and to train their students on how to use the new digital tools. A lot of teachers were parents themselves which meant that at the same time they had to home-school their own children.

For the research team the national lockdown caused a narrowing in the scope of the study. In the initial stages, the study was designed to comprise both teachers and secondary school students, aged 16 and above. The aim was to observe changes in both populations and to measure the feasibility of the programme at a school level. Unfortunately, the abrupt pandemic onset affected the recruitment of students, resulting in the research team making the decision to eliminate this dimension of the study and focus entirely on teachers.

Previously established relations with schools were put on hold and the research team had to find alternative means to recruit participants. Teachers were thus recruited through Facebook advertisements during the first two weeks of lockdown and the programme was delivered immediately after. Further the initial study design included a waitlist control group, which was made untenable due to the small sample size and the expressed wish of participants to be part of the programme immediately due to high levels of stress.

Data were collected before, after, and three months following completion of the programme. Quantitative data consisted of self-report measures of stress through The Perceived Stress Scale (S. Cohen, 1986), burnout through the Maslach Burnout Inventory - Educator Survey (Maslach & Jackson, 1981), mental wellbeing through the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (Stewart-Brown et al., 2009), and mindfulness through the Five-Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (Baer et al., 2006, 2012). Qualitative data consisted of open-ended questions at all three time points (See Appendix 1) and focus group interviews following programme completion (See Appendix 2). Of the 56 teachers who expressed a desire to be part of the research, only 32 completed the self-reported surveys at

all time points. Therefore, it was only these data that were included in the present study. Of the 32 teachers, 14 participated in the focus group interviews.

The research questions guiding the study were:

- 1. Does the Wellbeing Protocol have an impact on stress, burnout, mental wellbeing, or mindfulness?
- 2. What are the underlying mechanisms by which the Wellbeing Protocol impacts (or not) the above aspects?
  - 3. What is the subjective experience of participants in the Wellbeing Protocol?

#### 1.2. Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee. Ethical issues were considered at all stages of the research from planning, to conducting the research, and reporting of results. Drew et al. (2008) pointed out that the three primary responsibilities of researchers regarding participants were obtaining consent, protecting from harm, and ensuring privacy.

## **Informed Consent**

Consent was obtained from all participants prior to intervention commencement.

Participants responded to advertisements and agreed to partake in the intervention, to complete all questionnaires, and to respect the privacy of the other participants. They were sent the consent forms electronically. Each consent form was accompanied by an information sheet explaining the intervention, the research methods to be employed, any potential risks involved, the obligations of the research team, conflict of interest, and the proposed use of the research data (See Appendix 3). Participation was completely voluntary, with no form of compensation being offered. At the end of the intervention, participants were invited to attend one of four focus groups to discuss their experience of the programme. Participants were given the option to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reasons.

### Protecting from Harm

The nature of the intervention and data collection methods (online questionnaires and focus groups) were not likely to cause any physical harm. The researcher was careful to ensure no psychological stress was caused to participants, endeavouring to plan and conduct the study with minimal possibility of harm to participants. The researcher provided all participants with phone numbers of free hotlines for depression, mental health support, and suicide prevention.

## Privacy and Confidentiality

Given the nature of the intervention, that is, a group programme, and of the data collection method, that is, focus groups, it was not possible to ensure participants participated anonymously. Every effort was made, however, to protect participant privacy. All real names and identifying information were removed from the data collected and replaced by codes. These codes were used both in the data analysis stage and in reporting of results. Further, all collected data were kept in a private and secure location. There were no hard-copy documents associated with the research. All electronic data were safely stored on the researcher's password-protected work computer. Access to this data was restricted to the researcher and the two supervisors. The data will be kept for six years and will then be destroyed.

### Use of Research Results

The results of this research will be used for academic purposes only. The main use included completion of the researcher's thesis in fulfilment of the requirements of a doctoral degree at the University of Auckland. Data have also been used for relevant academic publications and conference presentations. Participants were made aware of these dissemination methods in the consent form and information sheet.

### Potential Conflict of Interest

The researcher was also the Wellbeing Protocol creator and intervention facilitator. In order to avoid any potential conflict of interest, the data collection and coding was managed by a research assistant who provided the researcher with de-identified data. The researcher acted with integrity with respect to data analysis procedures and worked closely with supervisors to ensure objectivity was retained at all times. Neither the main supervisor or cosupervisor had any association with potential pools of participants that could be considered a conflict of interest or perception of coercion.

#### 1.3. Thesis Format and Outline

The present thesis includes a literature review and three studies which have been converted into three articles for publication in accordance with the University of Auckland Revised 2016 PhD Statute and Guidelines. Chapters 3, 4, and 5 have been submitted for publication to the *Journal of Occupational Health*, *Journal of Workplace Behavioural Health*, and *Journal of Workplace Learning*, respectively. The thesis ends with a general discussion and concluding remarks. Having a few repetitive elements across the chapters was inevitable given the nature of a thesis with publication. Great care was incorporated, however, to minimise such instances where possible. A brief overview of each chapter is presented below.

Chapter 2 introduces the theoretical background of the present study. It discusses the key concepts employed, their definition, and relevant current literature on each. The concepts are: stress, burnout, wellbeing, and mindfulness. The chapter also presents an overview of mindfulness-based interventions, their origins and development, as well as interventions created specifically for teachers.

Chapter 3 presents the first study which investigates the relations between WP, stress, and burnout. It was a quantitative study employing the Perceived Stress Scale (S. Cohen,

1986) and Maslach's Burnout Inventory for Teachers (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). The results suggested that WP was a promising option to reduce teacher stress and burnout.

Chapter 4 includes the second study which explored WP's impact on wellbeing and mindfulness. It is a quantitative review of data from the Warwick-Edinburg Mental Wellbeing Scale (Tennant et al., 2007a) and the Five Facets Mindfulness Questionnaire (Baer et al., 2006, 2012) administered before, immediately after, and 3 months after programme completion. Findings suggested significant improvement in mental wellbeing and mindfulness.

Chapter 5 presents the third study which aimed to convey and analyse participants' personal experience of WP. A thematic analysis of the qualitative data revealed the main themes that emerged and pointed to the potential underlying mechanisms by which WP impacted stress, burnout, and wellbeing.

Chapter 6, the final chapter, includes a general discussion of key findings pertaining to the three studies. It also highlights the contribution the present research has made, its practical implications, and limitations. The chapter ends with an overview of potential avenues for future research and some concluding thoughts.

## CHAPTER TWO: THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

This chapter starts by discussing the key concepts that inform the current study and their theoretical underpinnings. These concepts are: stress, burnout, wellbeing, and mindfulness. A definition as well as current research findings will be presented for each. An overview of existing knowledge on mindfulness-based interventions (MBIs) will follow, with a separate section dedicated to MBIs designed specifically for teachers. The chapter will end with a description of the Wellbeing Protocol.

#### 2.1. Stress

Stress can generally be defined as the experience of anticipating or encountering adversity in one's goal-related efforts (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010), a view adopted by the present study as well. Stress elicits the following physiological reactions: activation of the sympathetic nervous system, increased activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and parasympathetic withdrawal. These reactions are grouped under the umbrella term 'the stress response' (Kunz-Ebrecht et al., 2003). Sapolsky (1996) highlights the role of the stress response, from an evolutionary perspective, in improving mental and physiological functioning to meet imminent demands and permit survival. In other words, when the stress response is activated, attention is narrowed and physiological arousal is raised, so that the focus is placed entirely on dealing with the task at hand.

Activation of a stress response could result in an occurrence of either good stress or chronic stress. Good stress, also referred to as *eustress*, was defined as an occurrence where stress yields a benefit (Le Fevre et al., 2003). For example, Fay and Sonnentag (2002) showed that work stress can lead to initiative-taking in the form of acquiring skills employees need in order to meet job demands. Conversely, chronic stress represented a prolonged activation of the stress response. It is widely agreed in the literature that chronic stress responses are crucial causal factors leading to various illnesses such as autoimmune disorders

(Buske-Kirschbaum et al., 2002), psychiatric diseases (Zorn et al., 2017), and somatic illnesses (Strahler et al., 2017). Stress-related mental illnesses have become so prevalent that the World Health Organisation predicted them to be the second leading cause of disabilities by 2020 (Murray et al., 1996). This prediction did not foresee the outbreak of a global pandemic in 2020. National surveys and research studies showed however that COVID-19 led to a significant increase in stress-related mental illness (Alexander et al., 2021; Tucker & Czapla, 2021).

The most widely used explanatory model for understanding stress at work was the Conservation of Resources (COR) theory (Hobfoll, 1989, 2002). COR stated that people are motivated to obtain, foster, retain, and protect those things they value. Hobfoll (1989, 2002) hypothesised that workplace stress occurred in three instances: when there was a loss of resources, the threat of a loss, or a lack of gain after investing resources. Resources comprised personal characteristics, such as emotional stability, conditions, such as social support, and objects, such as tools or money. The loss, threat of loss, or lack of gain were conceptualised as demands. According to COR, the higher the demands and fewer the resources someone had at their disposal, the higher the likelihood of maladaptive coping. This maladaptive coping was shown to lead to increased burnout (Alarcon, 2011).

Stress had been identified as a risk factor in the teaching profession long before the pandemic (Blase, 1986; Kyriacou, 1987). Epidemiological evidence showed that teachers experienced mental health problems at a significantly higher rate than other occupations, including both mental disorders, such as depression, and psychological symptoms, such as depressed mood (Schonfeld et al., 2017). Both quantitative and qualitative research has identified a variety of stressors that have affected teachers, including: student disruptive behaviours, overly prescriptive supervisors, or unsupportive administrators (Schonfeld et al., 2017). High rates of prolonged workplace stress have been shown to cause burnout and the

teaching profession was recognised as being at significant risk (Abenavoli et al., 2013; Jennings & Greenberg, 2009).

#### 2.2. Burnout

The concept of burnout was first proposed over three decades ago to define depletion of physical energy among human service professionals such as health-care workers, teachers, or social workers (Freudenberger, 1989; Maslach & Jackson, 1981). Maslach and Jackson (1981) developed the concept to comprise a reaction to chronic workplace interpersonal stressors resulting in emotional exhaustion, cynicism, and a lack of personal accomplishment. Emotional exhaustion represented the core stress-related component of burnout. It denoted feelings of emotional and physical depletion due to over-extension. Cynicism or depersonalisation referred to negative feelings and attitudes towards recipients of service, such as patients or students, and a negative or excessively detached response to various aspects of work. The last dimension of burnout was related to self-evaluation, specifically a negative appraisal of one's efficacy, and included feelings of incompetence, low productivity, and lack of achievement at work (Maslach et al., 2001).

Several theories about the development of burnout were presented in the 1980s; however, the one best supported by research findings over time was the notion that burnout was a response to prolonged chronic job stressors. This prompted the World Health Organisation (2019) to declare burnout an occupational hazard arising from chronic workplace stress unsuccessfully managed.

The evolution of burnout research was intertwined with the development of the Conservation of Resources (COR) theory. COR theory contributed significantly to the current conceptualisation of burnout, and the latter represented the theory's initial base in the workplace and organisational behaviour literature (Westman et al., 2004). According to COR, chronic exposure to high demands and low resources at work was a precursor to burnout

(Alarcon, 2011). COR theory also held that increased demands and resource loss had a stronger effect in high demand situations. Prolonged exposure to such contexts led to a depletion of resources such as energy (Hobfoll et al., 1990). This pointed to the burnout dimension of emotional exhaustion. According to COR, emotional exhaustion was likely to occur first, followed by cynicism, which was seen as a maladaptive coping mechanism. This maladaptive coping style would then engender a lack of personal efficacy and accomplishment. Hence, the burnout process encompassed a downward spiral of resource loss (Alarcon, 2011).

Most occupations included a variety of responsibilities and requirements which could be perceived at one time or another as stressors. In both COR theory and burnout research these stressors were classified as demands (Alarcon, 2011). Current literature has highlighted that the most common types of demands that led to employee stress were role ambiguity, high workload, and role conflict (Landy & Conte, 2013). Role ambiguity involved lack of clarity regarding job responsibilities or job-related information (Fried et al., 2013). High workload represented an overload of demands (Maslach et al., 2001) and role conflict referred to the experience of conflicting demands at work (Fried et al., 2013). Prolonged exposure to these types of demands was integral to the burnout process and resulted in increased strain (Alarcon, 2011; Bakker & Demerouti, 2007).

Available resources played an equally significant role in predicting workplace stress (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Job control in particular was identified as a resource aid in the prevention of burnout (Alarcon, 2011). Job control was defined as the extent to which a worker had decision-making power between several options (Spector, 1998). It was said to include constructs such as participation in the decision-making process or autonomy. Autonomy comprised the decision latitude a worker had over immediate tasks and time constraints (Spector, 1998). High decision latitude and perceived control at work were

positively related to lower strain (Henry, 2005; Maslach et al., 2001) and negatively related to burnout symptoms (Alarcon, 2011).

Burnout has been linked to a variety of negative outcomes for both workplaces and individuals. For example, burnout has been associated with absenteeism and intention to leave (Alarcon, 2011; Daniels, 2004; H. Kim & Kao, 2014), lower productivity and effectiveness at work (Jun et al., 2021; Ruotsalainen et al., 2014), and job dissatisfaction (Aiken et al., 2002). It has also been shown to cause a higher incidence of workplace conflict given that those who experience burnout could have a negative impact on colleagues (Maslach et al., 2001). Maslach et al. (2001) pointed out that burnout could be "contagious" meaning that it could perpetuate itself through negative workplace interactions, and further, Burke and Greenglass (2001) found evidence that it could permeate workers' home lives.

In terms of health-related outcomes, the emotional exhaustion dimension of burnout has been shown to be predictive of stress-related illnesses (Maslach et al., 2001). In a study of 3,368 Finnish employees, Honkonen et al. (2006) found that physical illness was more prevalent in burned out individuals and it increased with the severity of burnout. The authors found statistically significant correlations between burnout and musculoskeletal disorders for women and cardiovascular disease for men (Honkonen et al., 2006). Burnout may also precipitate the onset of mental health illnesses. Koutsimani et al. (2019), for example, found a significant association between burnout and depression, and burnout and anxiety.

Teachers have recorded high rates of burnout compared to the general population from the earliest burnout research onwards (Cunningham, 1983). Empirical studies have shown that burnout negatively influences teacher efficacy (Lizano & Mor Barak, 2015; Pines, 2002). Chronically stressed and burned out teachers have been shown to have lower job performance and often miss more days of work, which disrupted the instruction flow for their students (Zee & Koomen, 2016). A synthesis of 40 years of teacher efficacy research (Zee &

Koomen, 2016) found that high rates of burnout were consistently corelated to reduced teacher efficacy, or teachers' perceptions of their inability to produce desired classroom outcomes. Jennings and Greenberg (2009) hypothesized that teachers experiencing burnout may lack sufficient energy resources to plan adequately or instruct high quality lessons. In fact, both Wong et al. (2017) and Cook et al. (2017) found inverse correlations between burnout and teaching quality. Spilt et al. (2011) found that teacher burnout was also associated with poor interpersonal relationships with students, colleagues, and parents. Burnout has been identified as a precursor to poor relationship quality and teacher wellbeing in a series of subsequent studies as well (Abenavoli et al., 2013; Wink et al., 2021).

Jennings et al. (2019) identified organisational structures such as resources available and job demands, together with teachers' individual skills and coping mechanisms as being primary workplace stressors. Jennings and Greenberg (2009) suggested that in the absence of adequate skills or support to alleviate these stressors, the likely result was a "burnout cascade" whereby teachers' maladaptive behaviours engendered a vicious cycle of classroom disruption and escalating teacher distress. Despite the many calls to action to mitigate this burnout cascade over the last three decades, burnout has continued to be a significant issue for teachers, arguably worsened by the COVID-19 pandemic (Education Review Office, 2021; Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2021; Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020b).

### 2.3. Wellbeing

The concept of wellbeing has its roots in ancient Greek philosophy, particularly the works of Plato, Aristotle, Socrates, and Epicurus. The modern understanding of the term originated in 1961 with the chief of the US National Office of Vital Statistics, Halbert L. Dunn, who was searching for a term to convey positive aspects of health that could be achieved through intentional pursuit beyond mere disease avoidance goals (Scaria et al., 2020). This view of wellbeing gained momentum in both media and research over the

following three decades marking a shift in focus from amelioration of psychological or physical pathology towards prevention (Ryan & Deci, 2001). Interestingly, Ryan and Deci (2001) noted that wellbeing received the most attention in the US during the 1960s human potential movement and the 2000s positive psychology movement, both of which coincided with periods of relative affluence. The authors speculated that the surge in interest in wellbeing might have been catalysed by the realisation of the economically affluent that material goods or luxury failed to secure happiness (Ryan & Deci, 2001).

Two schools of thought emerged in ancient times and have continued to influence the modern usage and definition of the concept: hedonistic and eudaimonistic (Deci & Ryan, 2008; Ryan & Deci, 2001). The hedonistic view argued that wellbeing meant experiencing a high level of positive affect and satisfaction with one's life, and low levels of negative affect (Deci & Ryan, 2008). In this view, wellbeing was synonymous with happiness (Deci & Ryan, 2008). The eudaimonic perspective, however, argued that subjective reports of being happy or satisfied were not necessarily indicative of psychological wellbeing. This perspective held that wellbeing was a process rather than a state or outcome: the process of realising one's true nature or daimon, or, in other words, the process of fulfilling one's potential (Deci & Ryan, 2008).

These two different approaches to wellbeing inevitably gave rise to a period of debate regarding the nature of positive mental health and wellbeing, with a consensus finally reached regarding the term's definition. Wellbeing thus referred to optimal psychological functioning and experience (Ryan & Deci, 2001) and encompassed two main aspects: (1) a hedonic aspect that referred to life satisfaction and the subjective experience of happiness; and (2) a eudaimonic aspect that encompassed positive psychological functioning, self-development, self-realisation, self-acceptance, autonomy, and positive relationships with others (Clarke et al., 2011; Hunter et al., 2015; Tennant et al., 2007a).

Greater wellbeing has been shown to represent a significant protective factor against mental health conditions, including depression (Gargiulo & Stokes, 2009). It has also contributed significantly to health, psychological functioning, and social relationships (Huppert & Whittington, 2003; Stewart-Brown et al., 2009). The term wellbeing or mental wellbeing came to be synonymous with positive mental health, as it had been shown that in order to be considered mentally healthy there was a requirement for both the eudaimonic and the hedonic aspects to be expressed, alongside the absence of mental illness (Hunter et al., 2015; Huppert, 2009; Keyes, 2007). The approach to mental wellbeing gradually transitioned from disorder treatment and prevention to positive mental health promotion both in healthcare, as well as research, and policy development (Hue & Lau, 2015; Huppert, 2009).

A growing body of evidence has suggested that improvements in teachers' mental wellbeing is positively correlated with reductions in stress and burnout symptoms, particularly after participation in a mindfulness-based programme (Beshai et al., 2016; Carroll et al., 2021; Flook et al., 2013; Franco et al., 2010; Frank et al., 2015; Gold et al., 2010; Hwang et al., 2017, 2019; Jennings et al., 2013; Kemeny et al., 2012; Roeser et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2016). For example, Beshai et al. (2016) found that mindfulness training reduced teacher stress and improved wellbeing in a sample of 89 secondary school teachers. Flook et al. (2013) had similar results in their randomised control trial in which 18 primary school teachers showed decreased burnout and psychological symptoms following a mindfulness course. Franco et al. (2010) found mindfulness training resulted in a reduction in psychological distress in a sample of 68 Spanish secondary school teachers and Jennings et al. (2013) recorded an improvement in wellbeing and efficacy in 50 teachers enrolled in the mindfulness-based programme Cultivating Awareness and Resilience in Education.

#### 2.4. Mindfulness

Based in Buddhist traditions, mindfulness is a contemplative practice that was first introduced into western psychotherapy in the 1950s, then applied as a clinical intervention in the 1970s (Birchinall et al., 2019). The 1980s saw the emergence of secular mindfulness-based interventions in the fields of medicine and psychology (Birchinall et al., 2019). The seminal definition of mindfulness most frequently employed in current literature pertained to Jon Kabat-Zinn, founder of the Stress Reduction Clinic at the University of Massachusetts Medical School, according to which mindfulness is an intentional and non-judgemental present moment awareness (Kabat-Zinn, 2013, 2016).

Baer et al. (2006) identified five facets pertaining to western secular mindfulness practice: *observing* (i.e., the ability to notice thoughts, emotions, sensations, or sounds), *describing* (i.e., the ability to ascribe labels to these stimuli), *acting with awareness* (i.e., being intentional with one's actions as opposed to functioning on automatic pilot), *non-judging of inner experience* (i.e., refraining from judging one's emotions or cognitions), and *non-reactivity to inner experience* (i.e., refraining from identifying with and impulsively acting on emotions or cognitions).

The practice of mindfulness included daily meditation with the aim of bringing attentional awareness to the present moment and enabling non-identification with one's stream of thoughts (Kabat-Zinn, 2005; Stahl & Goldstein, 2010). This non-identification aimed to facilitate a reduction in rumination and worry and a consequent decrease in stress (Gunaratana, 2011). Mindfulness practice has been shown in a variety of studies with clinical and non-clinical populations to facilitate stress and burnout reduction (Anastasiades et al., 2017; Baer et al., 2012; Roeser et al., 2013), promote wellbeing (Birchinall et al., 2019), improve immune function (Davidson et al., 2003), support greater emotional regulation (Carroll et al., 2021), and improve emotional and cognitive functioning (Jha et al., 2010).

Qualitative data has captured participants' personal experiences of mindfulness programmes and shown that they believed the practice was beneficial, they experienced less stress as a result of it, they were better able to regulate their emotions, and to access strategies to calm themselves down in conflict situations (Biegel et al., 2009a; Broderick & Metz, 2009; Emerson et al., 2017; Hue & Lau, 2015).

#### 2.5. Mindfulness-Based Interventions (MBIs)

Due to its positive impact on human functioning and wellbeing (Brown et al., 2007), mindfulness was adapted to western secular contexts from clinical settings to workplaces. In what follows, a brief overview of MBIs will be given. The last section will focus on MBIs for teachers specifically.

The most seminal MBI, and also one of the first to be developed in the west, is Jon Kabat-Zinn's Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) programme. Kabat-Zinn (2016) recontextualized mindfulness in a secular context and taught it in a group-based, educational setting in the form of 26 hours of live content supplemented by daily 45-minutes of home practice over 8 weeks. MBSR comprised traditional mindfulness meditation practices and models of stress from mind-body medicine. It addressed topics such as dealing with thoughts, responding versus reacting, or dealing with difficult emotions and physical pain (Crane, 2009).

With its first iteration in 1979, MBSR is currently one of the most well-researched MBIs with over 1,000 publications on it recorded in the Web of Science to date. MBSR has been shown to have a positive impact on various markers such as stress (Gold et al., 2010), burnout (Carroll et al., 2021), and immune function (Davidson et al., 2003). Two systematic reviews of MBSR interventions delivered in the workplace recorded reductions in psychological distress, anxiety, depression, stress, and emotional exhaustion (Bartlett et al., 2019; Janssen et al., 2018). Additionally, improvements in job performance, sleep quality,

relaxation, and self-compassion have also been found (Bartlett et al., 2019; Janssen et al., 2018).

There are very few studies that have explored the impact of an unmodified MBSR intervention on teachers, as the majority employ modified MBSR versions or other MBIs (Hwang et al., 2017; Lomas et al., 2017). Gold et al. (2010) found that MBSR supported primary school teachers in reducing stress, anxiety, and depression. Gouda et al. (2016) conducted a pilot study to explore the effect of offering MBSR training to students and teachers in the same school setting and found that relative to the control group students who participated in the programme showed significant improvements in self-regulation, stress, and interpersonal problems. Similarly, teachers in the intervention group reported higher emotion regulation, decreased anxiety, and reduced interpersonal problems (Gouda et al., 2016).

Carroll et al. (2021) explored the effectiveness of MBSR compared to a health enhancement programme in a population of Australian teachers and found that both programmes supported participants in improving self-reported stress, wellbeing, and intention to leave the profession. MBSR, however, had greater impact on sustained attention and neural reactivity to negative emotional stimuli (Carroll et al., 2021).

MBSR was adapted by Segal et al. (2018) to suit the specific needs of clinical populations suffering from depression and came to be known as Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT). As its name suggested, MBCT employed strategies from cognitive behavioural therapy, such as identification of negative cognitive patterns, alongside mindfulness practice to increase patients' awareness of present moment experience and prevent depression relapse (Segal et al., 2018). MBCT was shown to be effective in preventing depression relapses (Segal et al., 2018), reducing anxiety and global distress symptoms in acute mental health populations (McCay et al., 2016), and improving sleep, relaxation, and energy in patients with a cancer diagnosis (Bartley, 2012). MBCT was

primarily used with clinical populations with no studies to my knowledge exploring the impact of MBCT on teachers.

### MBIs for Teachers

The role of the teacher has changed over the decades, from focusing primarily on the cognitive development of students to catering to their emotional challenges appropriately and effectively (Jennings & Greenberg, 2009). Increases in students' attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), stress, anxiety, and depression has placed considerable demands on teachers' knowledge and skills, and resulted in higher teacher stress, lower wellbeing, and satisfaction (Napoli, 2004). Teacher stress and decreased wellbeing have been shown to contribute negatively to classroom quality (Carson et al., 2010; Jennings, 2015a; Jennings et al., 2019). A significant body of literature has shown that when teachers struggled to meet competing demands, they were unable to manage successfully the social and emotional dynamics of the classroom environment to the detriment of student behaviour and academic achievement (Carson et al., 2010; Gerber et al., 2007; Gilliam & Shahar, 2006; Hamre et al., 2008; Jennings et al., 2019; Sutton & Wheatley, 2003). Carson et al. (2010), Montgomery and Rupp (2005), and Sutton and Wheatley (2003), for example, showed that teacher emotional reactivity in response to student disruptive behaviours negatively influenced teacher cognitive functioning, self-efficacy, and motivation. Further, Gilliam and Shahar (2006) found a correlation between teacher distress in response to disruptive student behaviours and the growing rate of pre-school expulsions. Similarly, Osher et al. (2008) showed that high levels of teacher emotional distress were correlated with decreased teacher performance and increased negative student behaviour. Finally, Hamre et al. (2008) and Gerber et al. (2007) discovered a correlation between higher burnout and depressive symptoms and decreased teacher efficacy and ability to connect to students positively.

However, all these studies were conducted in the US and it is unknown whether or not the results would be applicable in a different context.

Jennings and Greenberg (2009) acknowledged this predicament and contended that as classroom interactions deteriorated and conflicts escalated, the demands on teachers increased and their mental wellbeing decreased. The authors noted that in the face of challenging classroom conditions, teachers might feel compelled to enact unnecessary punitive measures or to respond with hostility which might engender a self-sustaining cycle of classroom disruption by way of eliciting antagonism from students or by demotivating them (Jennings et al., 2013; Jennings & Greenberg, 2009). Research has shown that high levels of classroom distress may lead to teacher burnout (Tsouloupas et al., 2010) and to declining student achievement and teacher performance (Osher et al., 2008).

Teachers with high levels of burnout have been shown to be at increased risk of mental and physical illness (Schonfeld, 2001; Schonfeld et al., 2017); they were often in an irritable mood, and their performance quality was lower (Huberman et al., 1993). Teacher mood was positively linked with student achievement and classroom quality. De Schipper et al. (2008), for example, reported that teacher positive mood was related to high quality caregiving in early education settings. On the other hand, depressive symptomatology has been found to negatively impact classroom climate and teachers' ability to provide emotional and instructional support for their students (Jennings et al., 2013; Jennings & Greenberg, 2009; Schonfeld et al., 2017). The link between stress, high rates of teacher burnout (Jennings et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2012), and low overall quality of classroom instruction has been well documented in the literature, with most studies highlighting the need to address these issues (Ancona & Mendelson, 2014; Franco et al., 2010; Gold et al., 2010; Gouda et al., 2016; Meiklejohn et al., 2012; Schonfeld, 2001; Schonfeld et al., 2017).

Given these promising research findings, MBIs were seen as potential protective or remedial factors against burnout and chronic stress. This has resulted in the creation of a handful of MBIs specifically targeting teachers, most of which originated and were investigated in the US and Canada (Hwang et al., 2017; Lomas et al., 2017). Of all the existing MBIs, three programmes have had a larger presence in schools and in the literature: Mindfulness-Based Wellness Education (MBWE), Cultivating Awareness and Resilience in Education (CARE), and Stress Management and Relaxation Techniques (SMART) in Education.

MBWE was created at the University of Toronto in 2005 in response to increasing rates of teacher burnout and stress. Inspired by the success of mindfulness interventions for clinical populations, Poulin created a mindfulness programme for human service professionals, specifically teachers-in-training (Poulin et al., 2008). MBWE was an 8-week health promotion intervention designed to promote adoption of mindfulness skills and exploration of seven dimensions of wellbeing: social, emotional, mental, physical, spiritual, ecological, and vocational. MBWE was modelled on MBSR, employing similar practices, with a notable difference in its focus on health and wellness promotion. MBWE participants received 36 hours of instruction and were encouraged to practise five days per week for an average of 15 to 20 minutes (Poulin et al., 2008). Poulin et al.'s (2008) first randomised control trial showed increases in mindfulness and teacher self-efficacy among MBWE participants compared to a control group. Additionally, they established a positive correlation between improvements in mindfulness practice and improvements in teacher self-efficacy and physical wellbeing ratings immediately following the intervention (Poulin et al., 2008).

The CARE programme was based on Jennings and Greenberg's model of the prosocial classroom (2009) and aimed to support teachers in developing social-emotional competency and improve their wellbeing (Jennings, 2016). CARE was presented in five

daylong consecutive sessions, four of which were spread out over 4 or 5 weeks, with the fifth session being offered several months later, for a total of 36 hours. Trained facilitators coached participating teachers by email and phone between sessions to support teachers' practical application of the programme to their classrooms. CARE utilises three main instructional components: (1) emotion skills instruction, (2) stress reduction and mindfulness practices, and (3) compassion and listening exercises (Jennings, 2016). CARE was shown to improve teachers' levels of mindfulness, wellbeing, and ability to implement a more autonomy-supportive motivational orientation in their classrooms (Jennings et al., 2013).

The SMART in Education programme was designed by the Impact Foundation in 2007 and was modelled on MBSR (Roeser et al., 2012). It was an 8-week programme that included 34.5 hours of instruction and daily home practice of approximately 15 minutes per day. SMART in Education included didactic presentations, group discussions, dyadic exercises, and mindfulness practices such as breath awareness meditation, progressive body scans, and mindful movement (Roeser et al., 2012). The programme aimed to promote regulation of attention and emotion, mindfulness, and self-compassion as tools to counter teacher stress and to enhance emotional resilience (Roeser et al., 2012). Two randomised control trials of the programme revealed that teachers in the SMART intervention group reported higher levels of mindfulness, focused attention, and self-compassion, as well as lower levels of occupational stress and burnout (Roeser et al., 2013).

In their review of MBIs for teachers, Emerson et al. (2017) stated that the interventions employed in the studies reviewed showed improvement in participants' awareness, reduced reactivity to emotional situations, and increased confidence in managing negative emotions. Similarly, Hwang et al. (2017) reviewed 16 studies and found that MBIs helped teachers cope with stress, better manage conflict and difficult emotions, and develop an increased awareness of their physical and mental experience. Additionally, their review

outlined positive effects of mindfulness on classroom organisation and improved student behaviour. Hwang et al.'s (2017) review revealed that there was a lack in mindfulness research of sufficient studies using multiple sources of qualitative data and of studies that assessed the sustainability of training effects with follow-up assessments over time. The current project design addressed this gap by collecting qualitative data through open ended survey questions from all participants and through focus group interviews from a representative participant sample. Additionally, the present study included a three-month follow-up assessment point. On another note, both reviews mentioned above (Emerson et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2017) covered studies conducted and developed mostly in the US. It was therefore unknown whether or not their results would be applicable in a different context. The present project aimed to contribute to this emerging field of research by providing insights about the New Zealand teaching workforce.

Studies that have captured qualitative data have been instrumental in highlighting teachers' experience of mindfulness training, as well as the mechanisms underpinning its positive impact. In their mixed methods study on elementary school teachers, Akhavan et al. (2021) found positive change to teacher-student interaction to be one of the emerging themes. Of the 25 participants, 24 noted they were able to reframe from reacting to student disruptive behaviour. Further, 21 of them indicated that they intentionally showed they valued and appreciated their students on a more frequent basis following the programme. The other emerging themes discussed in the study were that teachers began daily practices of being present and that they felt mindfulness practice helped them reduce stress (Akhavan et al., 2021). One of the biggest limitations of Akhavan et al.'s (2021) study was their sample, one rural school district in California, US, which opened the question whether these results applied to the New Zealand context, especially given its bicultural underpinnings and strong Māori influence, especially in education.

Ancona and Mendelson (2014) conducted a pilot randomised control trial on the impact of a yoga and mindfulness programme for teachers and also found that participants reported a reduction in stress. The programme consisted of six sessions, each 45 minutes, delivered on school premises after instruction hours. It included breath awareness techniques and yoga poses, with a focus on six main themes: breath, stress, anger, energy, thoughts, and love (Ancona & Mendelson, 2014). One participant comment, in particular, offered an insight into how certain mindfulness techniques allowed teachers to recognise stress and diffuse it before it escalated:

I knew I was stressed but felt like it was just a part of the job. I learned that I can keep myself from getting too stressed by listening to my body and taking time to breathe deeply and calm down before continuing with my day. (Ancona & Mendelson, 2014, p. 163)

Although Ancona and Mendelson's (2014) findings contributed to giving us an emerging picture of the underlying mechanisms by which mindfulness might impact stress, their study did not include follow-up measures and their sample size was small, including only US teachers from an urban school in a low-income neighbourhood.

Other studies who employed qualitative data were Hue and Lau (2015) and Schussler et al. (2016). Teachers in Hue and Lau's (2015) study associated their perceived reduction in stress with their increased ability to identify the origin of stress in their mind and body (Hue & Lau, 2015). This was also true for participants in a CARE programme who discussed being more aware of how they were holding stress in their bodies and how they were reacting to feeling stressed (Schussler et al., 2016). Participants in CARE additionally noted that they became much less reactive to situations that would have triggered them in the past which resulted in improved relationships with their students. A teacher's comment was particularly illustrative of how non-reactivity functioned in practice:

It's not taking it personally when somebody gets you mad. It allows me to get my emotions out of the way so that I can help them [students] and I'm not worried about how I'm reacting to them being in that place (Schussler et al., 2016, p. 137).

The two studies above contained several limitations. In the case of Hue and Lau (2015) their sample size was small and they had no follow-up data. Further, their sample was entirely Chinese. In Schussler et al. (2016) the sample was US-based, with the added limitation that their only data collection means was focus groups. Although focus groups represented an efficient avenue for information collection, they might also have resulted in group think whereby one person's comment became the whole group's opinion. The present project aimed to fill these gaps in research by employing two avenues for qualitative data collection, a three-month follow-up design, and a teacher sample based in a culture sparsely represented in research studies.

A final insight offered by qualitative analyses of mindfulness-based interventions revolved around the impact of mindfulness on conflict resolution. Schussler et al. (2016) pointed out that mindfulness led to improved relationships by increasing teacher emotional regulation and compassion, and Burrows (2015) found that teachers' practice of mindfulness helped them solve relational dilemmas with students. Their studies lacked however follow-up assessments and were based in US and Australian contexts, respectively, which questioned their applicability to New Zealand educators.

To conclude, the current review of research on MBIs for teachers encompassed both quantitative and qualitative findings, both of which suggested mindfulness training could have positive outcomes for educators, supporting them to reduce stress, burnout and psychological distress, and improve their wellbeing. Most of the studies cited included calls for more research to be done in this emerging field. The current thesis aimed to contribute to this body of knowledge by investigating the impact of a mindfulness-based programme hitherto unexplored, The Wellbeing Protocol. It also aimed to address existing gaps in the

literature by including multiple ways to collect quantitative data, follow-up assessments, and an under-researched cultural context, namely New Zealand.

### 2.6. The Wellbeing Protocol

The Wellbeing Protocol (WP) was a mindfulness-based wellness programme dedicated to reducing stress and burnout and improving employee wellbeing. WP was comprised of an adaptation of mindfulness training, cognitive behavioural therapy for nonclinical populations, and positive psychology. The mindfulness tools and techniques included were secular and similar to those employed in Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (Stahl & Goldstein, 2010) or Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (Crane, 2009). The cognitive behavioural aspect drew from the work of Burns (2012, 2020) and involved techniques such as cognitive distortions, awareness raising, or the use of thought journals. Cognitive distortions were defined as automatic thought patterns that subconsciously influenced perception in negative ways leading to anxiety and depression (Burns, 2012). Positive psychology represented the third theoretical pillar of WP and drew on the work of Fredrickson (2009, 2014; 2008) on positive emotions, the positivity ratio, and negative bias. Additional WP research underpinnings came from the work of Seth (2015, 2016) on the neuroscience of consciousness, Barrett (2017) and Barrett et al. (2009; 2015) on the neurophysiology of emotions, Brewer et al. (2011, 2013) on mindfulness and the brain's default mode network, Porges (2017) and the polyvagal theory of autonomic nervous system activation, Brosschot et al. (2017) on the theory of stress as an automatic response to perceptions of generalised unsafety, and Crum (2011) and Crum et al. (2017; 2014) on stress mindset.

The Wellbeing Protocol was a group-based training programme designed to be delivered online in 12 one-hour sessions over three months. It covered topics related to the stress response, stress mindset, negative thought patterns conducive to anxiety and

depression, the cultivation of positive emotions, and dealing with negative or uncomfortable emotions (See Table 1.1 for an overview).

The Wellbeing Protocol differed from other mindfulness-based interventions in several ways. It was the first programme, to my knowledge, to employ cognitive-behavioural strategies outside of clinical contexts. Secondly, its educational content encompassed a great variety of sources, including neuroscientific studies, the latest research on stress mindsets, and positive psychology strategies. Finally, the Wellbeing Protocol was designed to suit busy work schedules in terms of short duration (12 hours) and flexibility of online delivery.

**Table 1.1**The Wellbeing Protocol Sessions by Curriculum Objective

Session	Curriculum Objectives
(60 min)	·
1	Get to know each other
	<ul> <li>Create our rules of engagement</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Get an understanding of wellbeing</li> </ul>
	Set your wellbeing goal
2	• What is stress?
	<ul><li>What is my stress mindset?</li></ul>
	<ul><li>What is a mindset and how does it work?</li></ul>
	<ul> <li>How do stress mindsets influence our stress responses?</li> </ul>
	• How can I re-design my stress response?
3	• What is mindfulness?
	• What is meditation?
	<ul><li>How does mindfulness work?</li></ul>
	<ul> <li>What does brain science tell us about the effects of</li> </ul>
	mindfulness?
	• How can I practice mindfulness easily and effectively?
4	How do we construct reality?
	<ul><li>What influences our perception?</li></ul>
	• What are cognitive distortions?
	<ul> <li>How can I become more effective and stop self-sabotage?</li> </ul>

5	<ul><li>How can I change my stress mindset?</li><li>How can I re-design my stress response?</li></ul>
6	<ul><li>What are emotions?</li><li>What is the secret life of our brain?</li><li>What is a wellbeing mindset?</li></ul>
7	<ul> <li>What are positive emotions?</li> <li>What is our negativity bias?</li> <li>What is the positivity ratio?</li> <li>What are simple ways to change our negativity bias?</li> </ul>
8	<ul> <li>What are some simple techniques to create a wellbeing mindset?</li> </ul>
9	<ul><li>What is love?</li><li>How can I say 'no' effectively and guilt-free?</li><li>What does positivity really mean?</li></ul>
10	<ul> <li>What are simple mindfulness mindset techniques?</li> <li>How can I find time when I'm very busy?</li> <li>How can I deal with negative emotions and discomfort?</li> <li>How can I deal with intense emotions and/or high stress situations?</li> </ul>
11	<ul> <li>How can I change the way my body responds to stress?</li> <li>How can values help me stress less?</li> <li>What is the link between needs and stress?</li> <li>How can I express my needs effectively?</li> </ul>
12	<ul><li>How can I recharge effectively?</li><li>What is important for me now?</li><li>How can I set a wellbeing goal that I will actually implement?</li></ul>

From a methodological perspective, each session followed a similar structure: (1) discussion of relevant concepts and their research underpinnings; (2) self-reflection prompts; (3) demonstration of techniques; (4) practice of techniques; (5) questions and answers.

Participants were asked to practise the techniques between the sessions. The time to employ the techniques was usually very short, lasting from 10 seconds to three minutes. Some weeks,

participants were encouraged to engage in a daily mindfulness practice. They were provided with several audio recordings of guided meditations lasting from 2 minutes to 15 minutes.

The content of the meditations included topics such as body scan, autogenic relaxation, brain rest guidance, energy replenishment through visualisations, and progressive muscle relaxation. Participants were also provided with visual prompts that served as memory aids for different techniques and as practice reminders.

Participants had the opportunity to ask questions both during the sessions and privately via email. Additionally, each session started with a discussion about the insights gained through the weekly practice, as well as any difficulties that might have arisen.

This chapter has provided an overview of the key concepts employed in the current thesis and a description of the mindfulness-based programme employed. The implications of all four concepts related to teachers were discussed, with a focus on mindfulness-based interventions for educators. The following chapter will discuss the impact of the Wellbeing Protocol on teacher stress and burnout.

# CHAPTER THREE: DECREASING STRESS AND BURNOUT DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC: A QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS

The previous two chapters have together provided a comprehensive review of the study objectives, the context of the research, the definition of the concepts employed in this study, and the gaps in the literature the current project aimed to address. The current chapter (Chapter 3), together with the two following chapters (Chapter 4 and 5), present the three empirical studies which investigate the impact of the Wellbeing Protocol. This chapter contains the first empirical study, dedicated to exploring the impact of WP on teacher stress and burnout. The chapter has been submitted to the *Journal of Occupational Health*. The proposed citation is: Toma, G. F., Rubie-Davies, C. M., & Le Fevre, D. Decreasing stress and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: A quantitative analysis. *The Journal of Occupational Health*. Manuscript submitted for publication.

#### **Abstract**

**Objectives** – This field study explored the impact of a mindfulness-based wellness programme called the Wellbeing Protocol on stress and burnout experienced by New Zealand school teachers during the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak.

**Methods** – The mindfulness-based programme was delivered online to 32 teachers during the first four months of the 2020 pandemic outbreak in New Zealand. Participant levels of stress and burnout were measured before, immediately after, and three months following the intervention. Data were analysed using repeated measures ANOVAs and Pearson correlation coefficients.

**Results** – Results indicated statistically significant effects over time. There was a statistically significant self-reported reduction in stress post intervention (p < .05) and at three-months follow (p < .05), with large effect size. There was a statistically significant reduction in emotional exhaustion post-program (p < .01) and at three-months follow-up (p < .01). The depersonalization and personal accomplishment scales showed moderate and low improvements respectively, without reaching statistical significance. However, baseline levels of depersonalization were low and personal accomplishment were high which may have resulted in floor and ceiling effects respectively.

**Conclusion** - The study suggests that the mindfulness-based program was a promising option to support teacher wellbeing and fill an important professional learning and development gap that has been long unaddressed. The program may also represent a suitable option for workplaces in other domains looking to reduce employee stress and support the development of protective mechanisms against burnout for staff.

**Keywords** – burnout, stress, workplace wellness program, teachers, mindfulness-based program

#### 3.1. Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on employee wellbeing causing a rise in stress, burnout, and mental health conditions across all occupation sectors (Giorgi et al., 2020). In 2021, 49% of employees across the US, Latin America, Australia, Asia, and Europe reported experiencing burnout symptoms (Alexander et al., 2021). The rise in employee stress and burnout seemed to have continued in the post-pandemic economy due to the changing nature of work arrangements, increased difficulty in disconnecting from work, overwork, and ongoing risk of virus exposure (Yousef, 2021).

Teachers have been particularly impacted by the mental health issues associated with the pandemic, given that the profession was already experiencing high rates of stress and burnout before the pandemic (Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020a). Further, COVID-19 protective measures such as social distancing policies, mandatory lockdowns, and isolation periods, required educators to rapidly adapt to significant work changes such as online instruction, usage of new technologies and increased workload (Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020a). Although the full impact these challenges had on educator stress and burnout remains to be fully examined, studies on organizational change show that change is correlated with increases in stress and uncertainty (Rafferty & Griffin, 2006). Heightened uncertainty is linked to a lessened sense of control over events, and with psychological discomfort, both of which exacerbate stress and burnout symptoms (Rafferty & Griffin, 2006). In 2020, workrelated uncertainty, stress, and lack of control were likely augmented by the fear of virus exposure, the increasing number of casualties, and the unpredictable evolution of the pandemic. A review of existing literature on COVID-19-related mental health effects in the workplace highlighted a general increase in emotional distress, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress symptoms (Giorgi et al., 2020).

The teaching profession likely experienced similar, if not more acute, symptoms. This claim was supported by two recent studies which reported increases in burnout symptoms in US and Canadian teachers in 2020 (Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020a). Analysing a sample of 1626 Canadian teachers, Sokal et al. (2020a) observed a steady increase in exhaustion and cynicism during the first three months of the pandemic. Although they noticed increased efficacy in classroom management and sense of accomplishment, the authors reported that as the pandemic progressed, teachers' cognitive and emotional attitudes towards change became more negative, making them more susceptible to chronic stress and burnout (Sokal et al., 2020a). Similar findings appear in Pressley's (2021) survey of US teachers, highlighting that COVID-19 led to increased teacher anxiety, stress, and burnout symptoms. There was no similar data focused on New Zealand educators. In fact, a literature review yielded only three studies exploring teacher wellbeing and burnout in New Zealand, none of which was very recent (Bianchi et al., 2016; Milfont et al., 2008; Whitehead et al., 2000). A study conducted in 2000 revealed that New Zealand primary school teachers had above average scores on Maslach's Burnout Inventory – Educators Survey (Whitehead et al., 2000). A 2008 study investigating the reliability of the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory revealed that New Zealand secondary school teachers had above average scores of burnout (Milfont et al., 2008). A 2016 survey of 186 New Zealand teachers found that 25% of respondents were in the high burnoutdepression group and 45% in the medium burnout-depression group, employing the Shirom-Melamed Burnout Measure and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (Bianchi et al., 2016).

To mitigate the impact of the pandemic on workers' mental health, Giorgi and colleagues (2020) recommended the adoption of shared anti-contagion measures and the implementation of workplace resilience training programmes (Giorgi et al., 2020). Similarly, Gabriel and Aguinis (2021) recommended stress management interventions involving cognitive behavioural therapy or mindfulness meditation in order to support employee

wellbeing and resilience. These recommendations were congruent with global employee surveys according to which employees' fourth most desired workplace change for 2021 was a greater focus on their wellbeing (Alexander et al., 2021).

Workplace wellness programmes, particularly those encompassing stress reduction, mindfulness, and resilience training, have received increased research attention recently.

Current literature has shown such programmes have a positive impact on employee mental health, wellbeing, productivity, and retention (Baicker et al., 2010; Carolan et al., 2017).

The present study aimed to increase the sparse body of research on New Zealand (NZ) teachers by exploring the effectiveness of a mindfulness-based resilience program called The Wellbeing Protocol on NZ teachers' stress and burnout at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### 3.2. Theoretical Context

#### Stress and Burnout

The term stress encompasses two main components: stressors and distress. Stressors, or stressful experiences, are circumstances perceived to threaten a major goal, such as the maintenance of one's physical health and integrity, known as physical stressors, or one's psychological wellbeing, known as psychological stressors (Kemeny et al., 2012). Distress represents a negative psychological response to such threats and includes a variety of cognitive and affective states, such as frustration, feeling overwhelmed, anxiety, helplessness, or sadness (Kemeny et al., 2012). When stress becomes chronic, it may have effects on cognitive functioning and lead to burnout or psychiatric conditions such as anxiety and depression (Golkar et al., 2014).

The World Health Organisation defines burnout as an occupational hazard resulting from chronic workplace stress unsuccessfully managed (World Health Organisation, 2019).

Burnout is characterised by feelings of emotional and physical exhaustion, negativity towards

work or cynicism, and lack of personal accomplishment (Maslach & Jackson, 1986). The negative consequences of burnout extend beyond workers' personal experience (Gabriel & Aguinis, 2021) and can result in reduced individual, team, and organisational performance, and higher absenteeism and turnover (Bakker et al., 2014).

Research has consistently demonstrated that teaching is a stressful profession long before the pandemic (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2015) and outlined that chronic workplace stress was a precursor to low teacher wellbeing and health, lower quality instruction, and eventually burnout and attrition (Harmsen et al., 2018).

Applying a systems approach to understanding teacher workplace stress, Jennings, Minnici, and Yoder (2019) identified two main types of triggers. The first involved organizational structures, for example job demands and resources available. The second related to individual skills and competencies such as teachers' ability to successfully manage stressors and regulate their emotions.

Jennings and Greenberg (2009) have demonstrated that in the absence of skills or tools to combat stress and burnout, the result may be a "burnout cascade" (2009, p. 492), meaning teachers employ maladaptive coping strategies which exacerbate existing problematic conditions. When teachers lack the emotional regulation skills and resources to effectively manage their response to stressors, they often default to reactive behaviours that foster a vicious cycle of classroom disruption (Jennings et al., 2019). This intensifies teacher frustration and exhaustion and impacts work performance and the quality of teacher interaction with students, colleagues, and school leaders (Schussler et al., 2016).

These reactive cycles can nonetheless be altered. Current literature posits that having highly-developed abilities to understand and to effectively manage one's thoughts, emotions, and behaviours allows teachers to reduce their reactivity (Abenavoli et al., 2013), to

empathise with others, and to make considerate and constructive choices about personal behaviour and social interactions (Hwang et al., 2017).

## Workplace Wellness Programs for Teachers

Many countries provide professional development programmes for teachers with the aim of improving instructional quality, student academic outcomes, and teacher retention. Very few of these programmes, however, successfully address the need for specific skill development in the areas of stress reduction or social-emotional competencies. Social-emotional competencies are a set of skills that include the ability to understand one's own and others' emotions and thoughts, to establish and cultivate healthy relationships, and to make thoughtful and constructive choices regarding personal behaviour and social interactions in a variety of contexts (CASEL, 2021). Possessing social-emotional competencies has been shown to improve teacher effectiveness and student academic outcomes (Abenavoli et al., 2013).

There are very few professional development programmes to date that target the enhancement of such competencies. There is nonetheless a growing body of literature supporting the beneficial impact of mindfulness-based programmes on improving teachers' social-emotional competencies, and reducing their stress and burnout symptoms (Beshai et al., 2016; Hwang et al., 2017).

Mindfulness is the awareness that arises from bringing one's full attention to the present moment with an attitude of non-judgement (Williams & Kabat-Zinn, 2011). Mindfulness-based programmes for both general and clinical populations have been shown to increase wellbeing, immunity, and stress resilience (Ditrich et al., 2017). Educator-specific studies have found that following mindfulness-based programmes, teachers report reduced depression and anxiety (Jennings et al., 2019), improved engagement, and improved job control and efficacy (Domitrovich et al., 2016). Mindfulness-based programmes have also

been shown to strengthen resilience and self-regulation, including aspects such as emotional regulation and expression in both general and teacher populations (Abenavoli et al., 2013; Creswell, 2017). In his review of mindfulness-based interventions, Creswell (2017) highlighted the need for more research in this area, particularly studies that examined programme effects at follow-up time points.

The programme employed in the current study, The Wellbeing Protocol, was research-based and encompassed methodologies pertaining to secular mindfulness, cognitive behavioural training, and positive psychology. The programme had a strong focus on skill development in the areas of self-awareness, stress reduction, resilience, and effective management of thoughts, emotions, and behaviours to achieve positive outcomes. The techniques taught were short, lasting between 10 seconds to 3 minutes. Participants were encouraged to practise the techniques between sessions. Participants were also provided with two additional resources: a repository of audio guided meditations and a bank of visual prompts to support their practice between sessions.

# 3.3. Methodology

#### **Participants**

Participants included teachers from public and private schools in New Zealand (N = 32). Participants volunteered and gave active consent to participate in the study in accordance with ethical research guidelines. Participants received no compensation or incentives to be part of the intervention or to complete the data collection. Table 1 provides demographic information for the sample. Overall, the results were not disaggregated by age, gender, or instructional context due to the small sample size.

Table 1

Demographic data

Demographic variables						
Age	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69	
	3%	16%	31%	47%	3%	
Gender	Female	Male				
	97%	3%				

#### **Procedure**

Approval for ethical research was obtained prior to participant selection. Participants were recruited through Facebook advertisements in the first month of the pandemic outbreak in New Zealand, namely March 2020. The Wellbeing Protocol (WP) consisted of 12 weekly sessions delivered synchronously online.

#### Data Collection

Data were collected before and after the programme and at 3 months follow-up. The self-reported stress and burnout measures used were combined into a single online survey.

Participants received the survey link by email and were asked to complete it in within 4 days.

#### Measures

#### Stress.

Stress levels were assessed using the 10-item Perceived Stress Scale (PSS; S. Cohen et al., 1983). The PSS assesses the extent to which situations in one's life are perceived as stressful, unpredictable (e.g., 'In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?'), or uncontrollable (e.g., 'In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life?'). Higher scores indicate higher levels of stress. The PSS was scored on a 7-point scale ('never'

to 'every time', 1-7, with four items reverse scored). This scale has demonstrated good reliability and validity (Beshai et al., 2016; Hewitt et al., 1992). In the current study, internal consistency for the baseline scores was  $\alpha = .88$ .

#### Burnout.

Burnout was measured using the 22-item Maslach Burnout Inventory – Educators Survey (MBI-ES; Maslach & Jackson, 1986). The scale is comprised of three subscales measuring different aspects of burnout including emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and a sense of personal accomplishment. Emotional exhaustion is characterised by feeling fatigued and emotionally over-extended by one's work (e.g., 'I feel emotionally drained from my work.'). Depersonalisation involves unfeeling and impersonal responses towards students (e.g., 'I don't really care what happens to some students.'). Personal accomplishment entails feelings of productivity and competence at work (e.g., 'I have accomplished many worthwhile things in this job.'). Higher scores of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization and lower scores of personal accomplishment indicate higher levels of burnout. The MBI-ES was scored on a 7-point scale ('never' to 'every time', 1-7). A total burnout score was not computed following MBI-ES scoring guidelines. Instead, total scores were calculated for the three subscales using means. The MBI-ES has demonstrated good reliability and validity (Aboagye et al., 2018). In the current study, internal consistency for the baseline scores was: emotional exhaustion  $\alpha = .91$ , depersonalisation  $\alpha = .77$ , and personal accomplishment  $\alpha =$ .69. Although the baseline score reliability for personal accomplishment was below 70, the reliability of post-programme scores was  $\alpha = .82$  and for the 3-month follow up scores was  $\alpha$ = .83. We, therefore, included the personal accomplishment scale in our analyses.

#### Data Analysis

The quantitative data from PSS and MBI-ES were entered into and analysed using a statistical software package (IBM SPSS Statistics v.27). One-way repeated measures

Analyses of Variance (ANOVA) with time as the within-subjects factor were conducted to evaluate changes in participants' self-reported levels of stress, emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and personal achievement at the three assessment points: T1 (prior to the programme), T2 (immediately after the programme), and T3 (at 3-months follow-up). In order to correct for a potential Type I error, Bonferroni corrections were performed for post-hoc pairwise comparisons. The corresponding effect size is reported as partial eta squared  $(\eta_{\rm P}^2)$ . In addition, Pearson correlation coefficients were used to explore the relations- between changes in stress and changes in the three dimensions of burnout.

#### 3.4. Results

#### Stress

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to evaluate the effect of the Wellbeing Protocol on participants' self-reported stress over the study period. Results showed a statistically significant time effect for mean stress ratings, F(2, 62) = 4.33, p = .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .12$ , a large effect size (Cohen, 1992). Post hoc Bonferroni-corrected pairwise comparisons showed a statistically significant reduction in perceived stress from baseline to post programme (p < .05) and at three-month follow up (p < .05), suggesting that the reduction in perceived stress was maintained (Table 2).

 Table 2

 Estimated Marginal Mean, Standard Deviation and Reliability for PSS

Measure	Mean T1 (SD)	Mean T2 (SD)	Mean T3 (SD)	Reliability (a)
PSS	35.18 (8.41)	30.71 (7.66)*	30.81 (10.05)*	.88

Notes: PSS = Perceived Stress Scale; PSS scores range from 1 to 7. SD = standard deviation.

<sup>\*</sup>Statistically significant change from T1.

#### Burnout

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to evaluate the effect of the Wellbeing Protocol on participants' self-reported levels of emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and personal achievement over the study period (See Table 3).

Results showed a statistically significant effect of time for emotional exhaustion ratings, F(2, 62) = 6.71, p = .002,  $\eta_p^2 = .17$ , a large effect size. Post hoc Bonferroni-corrected pairwise comparisons showed a statistically significant reduction in perceived emotional exhaustion from baseline to post programme (p < .01) and from baseline to three-month follow up (p < .01). Hence, teacher emotional exhaustion ratings continued to decline even after the wellness programme had been completed. The depersonalisation and personal achievement scales showed moderate improvements that were not statistically significant: depersonalisation F(2, 62)=2.17, p = .123,  $\eta_p^2 = .06$  and personal accomplishment F(2, 62)=1.85, p = .165,  $\eta_p^2 = .05$ . The effect sizes were moderate and small respectively.

**Table 3**Estimated Marginal Means, Standard Deviations and Reliabilities for MBI-ES Subscales

Measure	Mean T1 (SD)	Mean T2 (SD)	Mean T3 (SD)	Reliability (a)
MBI-ES EE	36.90 (11.64)	32.12 (11.66)*	30.78 (12.42)*	.91
MBI-ES D	9.03 (4.57)	8.53 (4.05)	7.93 (2.91)	.77
MBI-ES PA	47.06 (5.10)	48.65 (5.66)	47.93 (6.39)	.69

Notes: MBI-ES = Maslach's Burnout Inventory – Educator Survey; MBI-ES scores range from 1 to 7. The MBI-ES comprises the subscales EE (emotional exhaustion), D (depersonalization), and PA (personal achievement). SD = standard deviation. \*Statistically significant change from T1.

#### Relationships Between Changes in Stress and Subscales of Burnout

To examine the relations between changes in stress and changes in the subscales of burnout, Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated using change scores (PSS and subscales of MBI-ES) from T1 to T2 (i.e., pre- to post-programme). Changes in stress were significantly positively related to changes in emotional exhaustion (r = .48, p < .001) and negatively related to personal accomplishment (r = -.62, p < .001), meaning participants who showed a decrease in stress were also more likely to see a decrease in emotional exhaustion and an increase in personal accomplishment following the programme.

#### 3.5. Discussion

The results reported here suggested that the mindfulness-based wellness programme had significant positive effects on teachers' wellbeing. With regard to measures of stress, participants showed statistically significant improvements both immediately following the programme and at follow-up assessment, with the eta squared showing a large effect size over time. This is consistent with similar findings that link mindfulness-based interventions with reductions in stress following a mindfulness-based intervention (Biegel et al., 2009b). Chronic stress can negatively impact physical health (McEwen, 2004) and the post-programme statistically significant reduction suggests that the programme might help reduce stress, supporting teachers' resilience and protecting them against stress-related illnesses. Future research with a larger sample would provide an opportunity to test whether the programme's effects on stress and physical symptoms are mediated by improvements on other variables such as measures of stress hormones cortisol or dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA).

With regards to burnout, statistically significant intervention effects were found on the emotional exhaustion scale both immediately after the programme and three months later.

This suggests the programme may help reduce fatigue in teachers by fostering the

development of inner resources to meet work demands effectively and engage with students and colleagues successfully. Emotional exhaustion is considered the core dimension of burnout (Maslach et al., 2001). It is conceptualised as feeling overextended and depleted of one's physical and emotional resources (Maslach et al., 2001). This absence of resources is a determining factor to burnout development according to the conservation of resources (CORs) theory (Hobfoll, 2002). COR posits that strain develops due to a perceived threat to individual physical or psychological resources, or an actual loss of these resources resulting in an imbalance between job demands and resource availability (Hobfoll, 2002). Hobfoll (2002) argued that burnout develops particularly when there is an imbalance between resource investment and lack of appropriate resource replenishment. As a consequence, individuals are reluctant to invest in their job either physically or emotionally, they develop negative affective states and attitudes towards students or colleagues, and are overall less effective. Consequently, their job performance suffers (Hultell et al., 2013). The mindfulnessbased wellness programme may be particularly suited to address emotional exhaustion as it specifically targets the development of mental and emotional resources through mindset training and regular self-care routines. It is notable that the intervention did not demonstrate statistically significant effects on the depersonalisation or personal accomplishment scales. It is worth noting that baseline levels on the depersonalisation scale were relatively low and the personal accomplishment scores were high possibly resulting in floor and ceiling effects (see Table 3).

Overall, the quantitative findings provide preliminary support for the mindfulness-based programme as a potential resource to improve teacher wellbeing.

#### 3.6. Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

Limitations of this study design include the small sample size and the lack of a control group, which restricts our ability to rule out the influence of confounding variables on the

results. A control group was not used because all the teachers who volunteered expressed a desire to receive the intervention as soon as possible due to high levels of stress caused by the COVID-19 pandemic unfolding. Given the small numbers of volunteers it was decided to assign all teachers to receive the programme. Considering that research on stress, burnout, and mental health of teachers during the 2020 COVID-19 outbreak showed an increase in stress and burnout (Giorgi et al., 2020; Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020a), we can infer that the decrease in symptoms presented in this study can be attributed to the mindfulness-wellness programme. In the future, it would be of interest to explore the impact of the mindfulness-wellness programme on larger samples, with randomised controlled trials and in different workplace contexts.

This study relied on the use of self-report measures for data gathering. These measures are by nature subjective and may be influenced by response shift bias (Howard & Dailey, 1979). Both the PSS and MBI-ES, however, are widely-used instruments in research on teachers as well as other populations and they have been shown to be reliable in studies that combined self-report measures with observations or physiological markers such as cortisol levels (Biegel et al., 2009b; Golkar et al., 2014). In future studies, objective measures such as salivary cortisol, dehydroepiandrosterone or heart rate variability could address threats to validity raised by the use of self-report measures. Longer trials and longitudinal studies would also enable conclusions to be drawn about the effectiveness of the programme in reducing stress and burnout over time.

#### 3.7. Conclusion

Addressing teacher stress and burnout is becoming a priority as awareness grows that teachers who are stressed, burned out, and over-worked lack the resources to create thriving classroom environments and engaging learning opportunities (Beshai et al., 2016; Hwang et al., 2017). The present study, which measured levels of teacher stress and burnout during

COVID-19, adds to the growing body of literature that suggests that mindfulness-based wellness programmes could be used effectively to support the development of stress management and resilience skills in teachers and buffer against future burnout or mental illness. It is important, however, to highlight the fact that mindfulness-based programmes are not a panacea and need to be implemented alongside organisational processes that foster healthy workplaces.

The study suggests that the Wellbeing Protocol is a promising option to support teacher wellbeing and fills an important professional development gap that has been long unaddressed. The programme may also represent a suitable option for workplaces in other domains looking to reduce employee stress and support their staff development of protective mechanisms against burnout.

# CHAPTER FOUR: A WORKPLACE WELLNESS PROGRAM PROTECTS AGAINST COVID-19 EFFECTS ON MENTAL WELLBEING

The previous chapter discussed the impact of the Wellbeing Protocol on teacher stress and burnout. It contained the methodology and findings of our first empirical study. The current chapter features our second empirical study which addressed the impact of the Wellbeing Protocol on teacher mental wellbeing and mindfulness levels. The chapter has been submitted to the *Journal of Workplace Behavioural Health*. The proposed citation is: Toma, G. F., Rubie-Davies, C. M., & Le Fevre, D. Decreasing stress and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: A quantitative analysis. *Journal of Workplace Behavioural Health*. Manuscript submitted for publication.

#### **Abstract**

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic had deleterious effects on workers' mental wellbeing. The current study investigated the impact of an online workplace wellness programme on teacher mental wellbeing and mindfulness during the first four months of a nation-wide quarantine in New Zealand. Longitudinal data at three time points were examined: baseline, end of programme, and 3 months post-programme. Tests of paired data of baseline versus the later time points found statistically significant improvements in mental wellbeing (Warwick-Edinburg Mental Wellbeing Scale) and mindfulness (The Five Facets Mindfulness Questionnaire) with large effect sizes. Mindfulness scores were higher at 3 months follow up compared to end-of-programme suggesting teachers' mindfulness ratings continued to improve after programme completion. Implications for research and workplace training are discussed.

*Keywords*: mindfulness; wellbeing; intervention; teachers; COVID-19; mindfulness-based intervention

#### 4.1. Introduction

COVID-19 was officially declared a pandemic on 11 March 2020 by the World Health Organisation (World Health Organisation, 2020). The infection initially reported in December 2019, reached New Zealand on 28 February 2020 causing the New Zealand Government to institute nation-wide self-isolation and a State of National Emergency on 25 March 2020 (New Zealand Government, 2021). Teachers were among the occupations significantly impacted by work-from-home policies as they were required to change their instructional practice from face-to-face to online in a very short period of time. The onus placed on teachers was significant as they grappled with developing online teaching material, becoming familiarised with digital platforms while training their students how to use them, ensuring they delivered the required curriculum, and performing all due assessments. For many teachers, these work obligations were exacerbated by their caring duties either for their own children who required home-schooling, or for elderly parents and/or relatives. Global surveys across different professions found that mandatory lockdowns, social distancing, home-schooling, and other COVID-related changes to one's work, caused a rise in stress, burnout symptoms, and mental distress (Giorgi et al., 2020; Lund et al., 2021; Tucker & Czapla, 2021). Although there are no New Zealand surveys dedicated specifically to educators, it can be inferred teachers experienced similar, if not more acute symptoms given that stress and burnout had already been prevalent in the profession (Aluja et al., 2005; Collie, 2021; Hultell et al., 2013; Sokal et al., 2020a). Two recent studies dedicated to exploring the mental wellbeing of US (Pressley, 2021) and Canadian teachers (Sokal et al., 2020a) during the COVID-19 pandemic support this claim. Pressley (2021) found higher rates of burnout for US teachers, with the highest stressors being virus exposure anxiety, teaching demands, and parent communication. Similarly, Sokal et al. (2020a) found an increase in emotional exhaustion and cynicism, two of the three dimensions of burnout

(Maslach et al., 2001), in Canadian teachers during the first three months of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak.

Both Pressley (2021) and Sokal et al. (2020a) called for schools to support teachers in managing stress and burnout symptoms, although they did not provide specific examples of how that could be achieved. In their review of pandemic effects on worker wellbeing, Giorgi et al. (2020) recommended the organisational implementation of anti-contagion measures and of resilience and wellbeing programmes. Gabriel and Aguinis (2021) also highlighted that wellbeing interventions, particularly those underpinned by cognitive behavioural therapy or mindfulness, can be effective in reducing stress and burnout symptoms. Indeed, existing literature on the impact of mindfulness and wellness workplace training showed promising results and called for more research to be done in this space (Baicker et al., 2010; Carolan et al., 2017).

To date there were no intervention studies examining the impact of a mindfulness-based programme on teacher wellbeing in New Zealand (NZ), or elsewhere, during the COVID-19 pandemic. In fact, NZ teacher wellbeing and mindfulness had been underresearched. Most previous studies focused on burnout (Bianchi et al., 2016; Milfont et al., 2008; Whitehead et al., 2000), with the exception of Bernay (2014) who investigated the impact of mindfulness practices for first-year teachers. Considering the impact of COVID-19 on teacher wellbeing (Education Review Office, 2021) and the promising results mindfulness-based interventions had yielded in teacher populations elsewhere (For a review see Emerson et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2017), it was imperative to investigate the acceptability and effectiveness of a mindfulness-based intervention on NZ teacher mental wellbeing.

The wellness programme employed was called "The Wellbeing Protocol" (WP) and included mindfulness, meditation, and cognitive behavioural techniques to improve

participants' mental wellbeing. WP was based on the core mindfulness principles of Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR; Stahl & Goldstein, 2010; Williams & Penman, 2011) and Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT; Crane, 2009) adapted for non-clinical populations and designed to offer practical, accessible, and relevant training to adults in a workplace context. Like MBSR and MBCT, WP was a group-based intervention designed to be delivered by an experienced mindfulness trainer. Unlike the other two MBIs however, WP was adapted to fit into a workplace context in several ways: (1) the mode of delivery was online to minimise disruption to work schedules and allow participants who could not attend the live sessions to watch replays; (2) the number of hours compared to MBSR (26 hours session time) was reduced to 12 hours; (3) team challenges were run throughout the duration of the programme to foster the creation of a community of practice in the workplace; (4) the practical application of the principles discussed referred to workplace contexts such as deadlines, having difficult conversations, or keeping calm under pressure.

#### **4.2.** Theoretical Context

#### Mental Wellbeing and Mindfulness

Positive mental wellbeing represented an important protective factor against mental health issues (Gargiulo & Stokes, 2009). It has been shown to be a significant contributor to psychological functioning, as well as to health and social outcomes (Stewart-Brown et al., 2009). The term has been used in both academic literature and policy interchangeably with positive mental health (Hunter et al., 2015). Following a period of disagreement on its definition, the concept was accepted to cover two main aspects of wellbeing: eudaimonic, meaning positive functioning, and hedonic, meaning subjective wellbeing and happiness (Clarke et al., 2011; Hunter et al., 2015; Tennant et al., 2007a). Keyes (2007) argued that it took a combination of these two aspects for a person to be considered mentally healthy, and not merely the absence of mental illness. This was reflected in the last decade by the gradual

shift from assessing mental health almost exclusively by measures of psychological distress or mental illness, to inclusion of instruments that capture the eudaimonic and hedonic dimensions and their inherent protective factors such as feelings of joy and contentment, positive relations with others, autonomy, and sense of purpose in life (Hunter et al., 2015; Ng Fat et al., 2017). There are few studies that have explored the relations between these aspects of mental wellbeing and mindfulness (See Beshai et al., 2016 and Lomas et al., 2017 for two exceptions) and none that we could locate that investigated this relation in the context of a wellness programme delivered during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The most widely used definition of mindfulness in the current literature came from Kabat-Zinn (2013, p. 4): "Paying attention in a particular way: on purpose, in the present moment, and non-judgementally". Originally stemming from Buddhist meditation practice, mindfulness in the West retained the core tenet of this tradition, namely that the state of present moment, non-judgemental awareness could be cultivated through the intentional and regular practice of meditation (Bennett & Dorjee, 2016; Chaskalson, 2011). Mindfulness practice touched upon different aspects, and although the number and definition of these facets varied in the literature, the most commonly cited ones, which the present study also adhered to, stemmed from the work of Baer et al. (2006) and they included: observing (i.e., noticing external and internal stimuli, such as emotions, sensations, thoughts, sounds), describing (i.e., mentally labelling these stimuli), acting with awareness (i.e., being present and intentional with one's action as opposed to acting on automatic pilot or absent-mindedly), non-judging of inner experience (i.e., not evaluating one's emotions or cognitions), and nonreactivity to inner experience (i.e., not reacting to, impulsively acting on or allowing attention to become identified with emotions or cognitions). A growing body of research has associated mindfulness with beneficial effects such as improved emotional and cognitive

functioning (Jha et al., 2010), reduced stress (Anastasiades et al., 2017; Bennett & Dorjee, 2016), and improved immune function (Davidson et al., 2003).

## Mindfulness-Based Interventions and Wellness Programmes in the Workplace

Mindfulness-based interventions (MBIs) have recently been integrated into workplaces with positive results on a variety of markers such as reduced stress and burnout, improved performance, workplace relationships, and motivation (Aikens et al., 2014; Good et al., 2016). Given its positive outcomes, mindfulness training was made available to teachers in order to enhance their wellbeing and health (Ancona & Mendelson, 2014; Felver & Jennings, 2016; Flook et al., 2010, 2013). MBIs for teachers have been shown to support reductions in stress and burnout symptoms, and increases in emotional regulation (Flook et al., 2013; Hue & Lau, 2015; Jennings, 2011; Molloy Elreda et al., 2019). Bernay (2014), Roeser (2014), and Roeser et al. (2013) each recommended the inclusion of mindfulness training in teacher development programmes given its positive impact on emotion regulation and stress reduction.

Reviews of existing literature suggested that MBIs led to significant improvements in wellbeing, although most studies used measures of mental distress to ascertain this (Grégoire et al., 2015). In their review of mindfulness studies, Goyal et al. (2014) observed that few studies included wellbeing indicators and recommended further research to be undertaken in order to investigate the relationship between MBIs and eudaimonic and hedonic aspects of wellbeing. Additionally, the effect of MBIs over time needed to be further explored. In a meta-analysis of the impact of MBIs on employee psychological distress, Virgili (2015) concluded that follow-up times were short in most cases (an average of 8.3 weeks) and further studies should explore more the effectiveness of mindfulness training over time. Carmody and Baer (2008) pointed out that there was a need to investigate the mechanisms by which mindfulness training exerted positive effects, particularly assessing whether

participants in an MBI actually became more mindful over time, and if so, whether this increase was correlated with mental wellbeing outcomes.

The present study set out to examine these questions in relation to a mindfulness-based wellness programme, The Wellbeing Protocol (WP), which was delivered online to New Zealand teachers in the first four months of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak. The programme consisted of 12 sessions on topics such as stress reduction techniques, managing emotions, mindfulness, and cognitive patterns that cause anxiety. Participants engaged in individual practice in between sessions. The practice changed weekly, and it typically involved the technique presented in the live session and an accompanying guided audio meditation. Participants were provided with several guided audio meditations to choose from and, also, with Wellbeing Cards, a series of visual prompts that aimed to foster adoption of positive habits of mind.

# 4.3. Methodology

#### **Participants**

Participants were selected from a sample of New Zealand teachers who responded to Facebook advertisements. The only selection criterion was to be actively employed. Participants volunteered and gave active consent to participate in the study in accordance with ethical research guidelines. Participants received no compensation or incentives to be part of the intervention or to complete the data collection. Table 1 provides demographic information for the sample. Overall, the results were not disaggregated by age, gender, or instructional context due to the small sample size (N = 32).

Table 1

Demographic Data

Demographic variables						
Age	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69	
	3%	16%	31%	47%	3%	
Gender	Female	Male				
	97%	3%				

#### Data Collection

Data were collected before, immediately after, and 3 months following programme completion. The self-reported mindfulness and wellbeing measures used were combined into a single online survey, which was emailed to participants at the three collection times above.

#### Measures

#### Mindfulness.

Mindfulness was measured using a short form of the Five-Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ-15; Baer et al., 2006, 2012). The scale was comprised of 15 items and measured five aspects of mindfulness: observing (e.g., "I watch my feelings without getting lost in them"), describing (e.g., "My natural tendency is to put my experiences into words"), acting with awareness (e.g., "When I do things, my mind wanders off and I'm easily distracted"; reverse coded), non-judging of inner experience (e.g., "I think some of my emotions are bad or inappropriate and I shouldn't feel them"; reverse coded), and non-reactivity to inner experience (e.g., "When I have distressing thoughts or images, I feel calm soon after"). The FFMQ-15 was scored on a 7-point scale ('never' to 'every time', 1-7), with 7 items reverse scored. This scale has demonstrated good reliability and validity (Baer et al., 2006, 2012; Gu et al., 2016). Gu et al. (2016) recommended the exclusion of the observing

facet from comparisons of total or subscale scores before and after mindfulness interventions. The present study followed this recommendation and a total mindfulness score was not computed. Instead, total scores were calculated for the remaining four dimensions of mindfulness. In the current study, internal consistency for the baseline scores was: describing  $\alpha = .78$ , acting with awareness  $\alpha = .60$ , non-judging of inner experience  $\alpha = .77$ , and non-reactivity to inner experience  $\alpha = .85$ . Although the baseline score reliability for acting with awareness was below 70, the reliability of post-programme scores was  $\alpha = .82$ . We therefore included the sub-scale in our analyses.

# Wellbeing.

Wellbeing was measured using the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS; Stewart-Brown et al., 2009). The scale captured a broad representation of wellbeing including psychological functioning (e.g., "I've been thinking clearly"), cognitive-evaluative dimensions (e.g., "I've been dealing with problems well"), and affective-emotional aspects (e.g., "I've been feeling cheerful"). The scale consisted of 14 positively-phrased items that asked participants to rate their experience over the previous two weeks. The WEMWBS was scored on a 7-point scale ('never' to 'every time', 1-7) and the items were summed into a total wellbeing score (range 14-98). This scale previously demonstrated good reliability and validity (Stewart-Brown et al., 2009; Tennant et al., 2007a). In the current study, internal consistency for the baseline scores was  $\alpha = .96$ .

### Data Analysis

The quantitative data from FFMQ-15 and WEMWBS were entered into and analysed using a statistical software package (IBM SPSS Statistics v.27). One-way repeated measures Analyses of Variance (ANOVA) with time as the within-subjects factor were conducted to evaluate changes in participants' self-reported levels of describing, acting with awareness, non-judging of inner experience, non-reactivity to inner experience, and wellbeing at the

three assessment points: T1 (prior to the programme), T2 (immediately after the programme), and T3 (at 3-months follow-up). In order to correct for a potential Type I error, Bonferroni corrections were performed for post-hoc pairwise comparisons. The corresponding effect size was reported as partial eta squared ( $\eta_p^2$ ). In addition, Pearson correlation coefficients were used to explore the relations between changes in wellbeing and changes in the four dimensions of mindfulness.

#### 4.4. Results

# Mindfulness

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to evaluate the effect of the programme, over the study period, on participants' self-reported levels of describing, acting with awareness, non-judging of inner experience, and non-reactivity to inner experience.

Results showed a statistically significant effect by time for all four mindfulness facets: describing F(2, 62) = 6.73, p = .002,  $\eta_p^2 = .17$ , acting with awareness F(2, 62) = 7.50, p = .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .19$ , non-judging of inner experience F(2, 62) = 8.90, p = .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .22$ , and non-reactivity to inner experience F(2, 62) = 8.30, p = .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .21$ , all with large effect sizes (Table 2). Post hoc Bonferroni-corrected pairwise comparisons showed a marginally significant reduction in all four facets from baseline to post programme (p < .01) and a statistically significant reduction from baseline to three-month follow up (p < .01). Hence, teacher mindfulness ratings continued to improve after the Wellbeing Protocol had been completed.

**Table 2**Estimated Marginal Means, Standard Errors, Time Effect Size, and Reliabilities For FFMQ
15

Measure	Mean T1 (SE)	Mean T2 (SE)	Mean T3 (SE)	Reliability (α)
FFMQ-D	13.38 (.61)	14.69 (.56)*	14.91 (.51)*	.78
FFMQ-AA	13.13 (.50)	14.31 (.47)*	14.78 (.30)*	.60
FFMQ-NJ	14.63 (.49)	15.97 (.45)*	16.63 (.44)*	.77
FFMQ-NR	11.75 (.66)	13.50 (.48)*	13.59 (.61)*	.85

Notes: FFMQ = Five-Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire; FFMQ scores range from 1 to 7. The FFMQ comprises the subscales D (describing), AA (acting with awareness), NJ (non-judging of inner experience), and NR (non-reactivity to inner experience). SE = standard error.

\*Statistically significant change from T1.

# Wellbeing

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to evaluate the effect of WP on participants' self-reported wellbeing over the study period. Results showed a statistically significant effect for time for mean wellbeing ratings, F(2, 62) = 4.41, p = .016,  $\eta_p^2 = .12$ , a large effect size. Post hoc Bonferroni-corrected pairwise comparisons showed a statistically significant increase in wellbeing from baseline to post programme (p < .05) and a non-statistically significant reduction at three-month follow up. T2 and T3 means are, however, higher than T1, suggesting that the improvement in wellbeing was maintained at three-month follow-up (Table 3).

**Table 3**Estimated Marginal Means, Standard Errors, and Reliabilities for WEMWBS

Measure	Mean T1 (SE)	Mean T2 (SE)	Mean T3 (SE)	Reliability (α)
WEMWBS	62.12 (2.29)	69.68 (2.18)*	65.53 (2.68)	.96

Notes: WEMWBS = Warwick-Edinburg Mental Wellbeing Scale; WEMWBS scores range from 1 to 7. SE = standard error. \*Statistically significant change from T1.

# Relations Between Changes in Wellbeing and the Four Mindfulness Facets

To examine the relations between changes in wellbeing and changes in the subscales of mindfulness, Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated using change scores (WEMWBS and subscales of FFMQ) from T1 to T2 (i.e., pre- to post-programme). Changes in wellbeing were statistically significantly positively related to changes in describing r(30) = .42, p = 0.015, acting with awareness r(30) = .41, p = .020, and non-reactivity to inner experience r(30) = .47, p = .006, meaning participants who showed an increase in mindfulness facets describing, acting with awareness, and non-reactivity to inner experience were also more likely to see an increase in mental wellbeing following the programme. There were no statistically significant correlations between wellbeing and non-judging of inner experience (Table 4).

 Table 4.

 Pearson Correlations Between Mindfulness Facets and Wellbeing

	1	2	3	4	5
1. WEMWBS	-				
2. FFMQ-D	.42*	-			
3. FFMQ-AA	.41*	.40*	-		
4. FFMQ-NJ	.21	.35*	.43*	-	
5. FFMQ-NR	.47**	.31	.21	.37*	-

<sup>\*\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

#### 4.5. Discussion

The present study explored the impact of a mindfulness-based wellness programme (WP) on teachers during the first months of a national lockdown in New Zealand due to COVID-19. The results suggested that WP had statistically significant positive effects on teachers' wellbeing. The post programme scores showed statistically significant improvements in mental wellbeing and although the three months follow-up results did not reach statistical significance, the eta squared showed that the effect size over time was large. This is consistent with emerging evidence regarding the effectiveness of mindfulness-based interventions in improving components of wellbeing such as positivity or coping (Beshai et al., 2016; Flook et al., 2013). Given the high levels of stress and burnout reported by teachers and captured in the emerging COVID-19 literature, the findings of this study point to a promising workplace intervention that may be capable of supporting teachers.

Additionally, the results showed statistically significant increases in all four dimensions of mindfulness analysed, with large effect sizes that continued at three-months

<sup>\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

follow up. This suggests WP supported participants in developing the ability to put their experience into words; to be in the present moment and act with awareness; to recognise their thoughts, emotions, and states; and accept them with equanimity and non-reactivity. These findings are consistent with literature on MBIs' impact on teacher stress (Roeser et al., 2013), burnout (Flook et al., 2013), and wellbeing (Beshai et al., 2016), pointing to MBIs beneficial effects even during a global pandemic, which had not previously been investigated.

Furthermore, the scores on all four mindfulness facets increased at three months' follow-up, suggesting that WP had long-lasting effects on teachers and the mindfulness skills they acquired continued to develop after programme completion. This is highly significant given that in order to combat the habitual patterns of thinking and reacting that cause chronic stress, consistency in practice is required. The current findings show WP may be suitable to support teachers in developing that consistency. Meiklejohn et al. (2012) suggested that teachers who have an established mindfulness practice might be better equipped to teach their students. Similarly, Bernay (2014) and Jennings (2011, 2015a, 2015b) advocated that mindfulness skills can support teachers in creating supportive and effective learning environments for their students. Therefore, WP might be a suitable intervention to be included in school professional development programmes.

#### 4.6. Strengths and Limitations

This study possessed a number of strengths. First, as mentioned above, there are to date no other studies that explore the impact on an MBI on teachers during a global pandemic outbreak in New Zealand or elsewhere, so this study addresses a gap in the literature. Second, there are very few studies investigating modified MBIs in the workplace and this study examined the impact of a short MBI adapted to fit into a busy teacher schedule. Third, the promising positive impact as evidenced by the large effect sizes on both measures point to a firm basis for further research. A final strength worth mentioning is the content of the

intervention, which was informed by mindfulness-based stress reduction (Stahl & Goldstein, 2010), cognitive therapy (Crane, 2009), and mainstream adaptations (M. Williams & Penman, 2011).

There were also several limitations. The sample was small and relatively homogenous (mostly female), suggesting the need to investigate in larger samples representative of the teacher population. Additionally, the lack of a control group restricted our ability to rule out the influence of confounding variables on the results. A control group was not used due to the small volunteer pool and their expressed desire to receive the intervention immediately to help cope with the stress and anxiety caused by the pandemic outbreak. Further, the study relied on self-report measures, which are subjective and open to influence by response bias (Howard & Dailey, 1979). Future research could employ a greater variety of methods to assess wellbeing and stress, such as adrenal hormone dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), heart rate variability, or salivary cortisol.

#### 4.7. Conclusion

Addressing teacher stress is becoming a priority especially in the post-pandemic workplace. As awareness that teachers with poor mental wellbeing are unable to create engaging learning environments grows (Beshai et al., 2016; Hwang et al., 2019), the need to provide suitable teacher training to promote wellbeing becomes all the more acute. The findings of the current study suggest that the Wellbeing Protocol might be a promising option.

# CHAPTER FIVE: THE WELLBEING PROTOCOL MITIGATES THE EFFECTS OF COVID-19 ON STRESS AND BURNOUT. A QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE UNDERLYING MECHANISMS

The previous two chapters (Chapters 3 and 4) presented the quantitative findings related to the impact of the Wellbeing Protocol on teacher stress, burnout, mental wellbeing, and mindfulness. The current chapter (Chapter 5) introduces the final empirical study in our project. This study draws on qualitative data to capture participants' personal experience of the Wellbeing Protocol and the underlying mechanisms by which the programme impacted the above-mentioned dimensions. The chapter has been submitted to the *Journal of Workplace Learning*. The proposed citation is: Toma, G. F., Rubie-Davies, C. M., & Le Fevre, D. Decreasing stress and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: A quantitative analysis. *Journal of Workplace Learning*. Manuscript submitted for publication.

#### **Abstract**

**Purpose** – This paper aims to convey and analyse participants' experience of a workplace wellness programme during the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak, with the aim of understanding the underlying mechanisms of how the programme impacted stress, burnout, and mental wellbeing.

**Design/methodology/approach** – Teachers participated in an online mindfulness-based wellness programme in 2020. Participants' experience was captured via focus groups and open-ended survey questions collected before, immediately after, and 3-months following the intervention. The data were analysed using thematic analysis.

**Findings** – Three themes emerged: self-awareness and non-reactivity may facilitate a reduction in stress levels, the purposeful cultivation of self-care and positive emotions may be a precursor to enhanced wellbeing, positive relationships with others and evidence of effectiveness at work may mitigate burnout symptoms. Findings depicted effective strategies to improve wellbeing as well as promising areas for further research.

**Originality** – This study shows promising results given the current rather limited research on mindfulness-based workplace wellness interventions. This study advances this area of research and provides insights into what seems to be effective.

**Practical implications** – A useful programme to improve employee wellbeing and reduce stress and burnout symptoms is identified.

**Keywords** – workplace wellness, workplace learning, stress, burnout, wellbeing, intervention

#### 5.1. Introduction

The COVID-19 outbreak had a significant impact on employee wellbeing. High stress levels were reported across all occupation sectors (Lund et al., 2021). A McKinsey Global Institute survey showed that in January 2021, 49% of employees across the US, Latin America, Europe, Australia, and Asia were experiencing burnout symptoms, which, the authors suggested, might be an underestimate given that burned out employees are less likely to respond to survey requests (Alexander et al., 2021). The rise in employee stress and burnout seems to have continued in the post-pandemic economy and is likely to do so at least for the foreseeable future, primarily due to the changing nature of work arrangements and risk of virus exposure for those in high physical proximity jobs (Lund et al., 2021).

Teachers have been particularly impacted given that they work in a high physical proximity occupation. Further, the measures taken to reduce the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus in 2020, namely social distancing and home isolation, required educators to rapidly adapt to many changes such as online modes of instruction, using new technologies and increasing workloads (Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020a). The full impact that these changes had on educator wellbeing remains to be fully examined. Studies on the impact of organisational change on employee wellbeing show that change is correlated with increases in stress and uncertainty (Guidetti et al., 2018). In 2020, these were likely augmented by the unpredictable evolution of the global pandemic and the increasing number of casualties. Current literature indicates that heightened uncertainty leads to a lessened sense of control over events, which creates psychological discomfort and, in turn, exacerbates stress and burnout symptoms (Rafferty & Griffin, 2006).

Given the above considerations, it seems imperative for workplaces to cater to employee wellbeing and to provide effective support. In fact, increased focus on wellbeing at work was employees' fourth most desired workplace change in 2021 (Alexander et al., 2021).

Although there is a lack of global survey data dedicated specifically to educators, we can infer based on existing facts and research that the need to enhance their wellbeing is similar, if not more acute than the need within the general population. This claim is supported by two recent studies which showed increases in burnout symptoms in Canadian and US teachers due to COVID-19 (Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020a). Workplace wellness programmes represent an option to address this need. Several studies have shown such programmes have a positive impact on employee health outcomes, as well as on productivity and employee retention (Baicker et al., 2010; Carolan et al., 2017).

The present paper explored the effectiveness of a mindfulness-based workplace wellness programme provided online to 32 teachers during the 2020 pandemic outbreak. The wellness programme is called *The Wellbeing Protocol* and it has a strong focus on skill development in the areas of self-awareness, stress reduction, and effective management of thoughts, emotions, and behaviours to achieve positive outcomes. Participant levels of stress, burnout and wellbeing were measured before, immediately after, and three months following programme completion through standard quantitative instruments. The quantitative data (Toma et al., under reviewb, under reviewa) showed significant improvements on all three scales and the current paper aims to explore the mechanisms underpinning these results through the lens of participants' voice as captured in focus groups and open-ended survey questions.

#### **5.2.** Theoretical Context

#### Stress and Burnout

Stress and burnout had been intrinsic to the teaching profession long before the pandemic, being a major cause of employee attrition (Schussler et al., 2016). In the United States for example, 50% of teachers leave the profession in the first 5 years (Schussler et al.,

2016). In New Zealand, 37% of teachers resign by the end of their third year (Bernay, 2014). Many who remain in the profession experience high stress and burnout symptoms.

Applying a systems approach to teacher workplace stress, Jennings et al. (2019) identified two main categories of triggers. The first relates to organisational structures, for example, job demands and resources available. The second involves individual skills and competencies, such as teachers' skill in managing stressors and regulating their emotions.

Jennings and Greenberg (2009) have shown that in the absence of tools or support to combat stress and burnout symptoms, the results may be a "burnout cascade" (2009, p. 492), meaning teachers resort to maladaptive coping strategies which further intensify existing problematic conditions. When teachers lack the emotional regulation resources to effectively manage their response to stressors, they are likely to default to reactive behaviours that engender a vicious cycle of classroom disruption (Jennings et al., 2019). This results in increased frustration and exhaustion for the teacher, which impacts work performance and the quality of interactions with students, colleagues, and school leaders (Schussler et al., 2016). Breaking these reactive cycles requires highly-developed abilities to understand and to manage one's thoughts, emotions, and behaviours effectively; to empathise with others; and to make considerate and constructive choices about personal behaviour and social interactions (Abenavoli et al., 2013; Jennings et al., 2013).

# Wellbeing

The concept of wellbeing is complex and for a long time it eluded researcher's attempts to define it (Dodge et al., 2012). In their work, Dodge and colleagues (2012) identified three key aspects required for a comprehensive definition of wellbeing: (1) the idea of a set point for wellbeing; (2) the individual's need for equilibrium/the inevitability of homeostasis; and (3) the intrinsic fluctuating relationship between challenges and resources. They therefore defined wellbeing as "the balance point between an individual's resource pool

and the challenges faced" (Dodge et al., 2012, p. 230). They showed that the nature of wellbeing was not static, but rather continuously changing so as to reach a stable point where the individual acquired the psychological, social, and physical resources needed to meet specific challenges.

In their analysis of 99 self-report measures for wellbeing, Linton and colleagues (2016) identified five recurrent themes embedded in the concept: mental wellbeing, social wellbeing, activities and functioning, physical wellbeing, spiritual wellbeing, and personal circumstances. The present study focuses on mental wellbeing. Although in the past there has been disagreement about the relationship between positive mental health and mental wellbeing, recently a reasonable level of consensus has been established. Thus, mental wellbeing is now largely seen as covering two aspects: (1) the subjective experience of happiness and life satisfaction, also known as the hedonic perspective; and (2) positive psychological functioning, good relationships with others and self-realisation, also known as the eudaimonic perspective (Tennant et al., 2007b). This perspective also includes aspects such as autonomy, self-acceptance, competence, and the capacity for self-development (Dodge et al., 2012; Ng Fat et al., 2017).

# Workplace Learning and Wellness Programs for Teachers

Many countries provide workplace learning opportunities for teachers with the aim of improving teaching quality, student academic outcomes, and teacher retention (Philipsen et al., 2019; Postholm, 2012). Very few professional development programmes, however, address the need for specific instruction in the areas of stress reduction skills or social-emotional competencies to meet the demands of the profession effectively. Social-emotional competencies refer to a set of skills that include the ability to understand one's own emotions and thoughts and those of others, to establish and maintain healthy relationships and to make considerate and constructive choices about personal behaviour and social interactions across

a variety of contexts (CASEL, 2021). Possessing such competencies has been shown to improve teacher effectiveness and student academic outcomes (Abenavoli et al., 2013). Yet, there is a scarcity of programmes that support the development of these skills.

There is a growing body of research showing that mindfulness-based workplace wellness programmes can improve teachers' social-emotional competencies and their ability to manage stress, while reducing burnout symptoms (Beshai et al., 2016; Hwang et al., 2017; Jennings, 2015b). In addition, some studies have found that following such programmes, teachers report reduced anxiety and depression (Jennings et al., 2019), improved engagement (Castillo-Gualda et al., 2019), perceived job control, and efficacy (Domitrovich et al., 2016).

This promising initial research needs to be further expanded in order to clearly understand the underlying mechanisms of how mindfulness-based wellness programmes impact stress, burnout, and wellbeing.

# **5.3. Research Questions**

The current study focuses on understanding the role of the mindfulness-based wellness programme *The Wellbeing Protocol* in influencing teacher levels of wellbeing, stress, and burnout. We used a qualitative explanatory design (McMillan, 2004), expanding on the quantitative results of the trial (Toma et al., under reviewb, under reviewa) to explore participants' beliefs about how aspects of the programme related to outcomes. Our specific research questions were:

- 1. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' stress levels and if so, how?
- 2. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' burnout levels and if so, how?
- 3. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' wellbeing levels and if so, how?

# 5.4. Methodology

# **Participants**

Participants included teachers and paraprofessionals from public and private schools in New Zealand (N = 32). Participants volunteered and gave active consent to participate in the study in accordance with ethical research guidelines. Participants received no compensation or incentives to be part of the intervention nor to complete the data collection. Table 1 provides demographic information for the sample.

Table 1

Demographic Data

Demographic variables							
Age	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69		
	3%	16%	31%	47%	3%		
Gender	Female	Male					
	97%	3%					

#### Data Collection

Qualitative data consisted of transcripts from four focus groups comprising a total of 14 participants and open-ended survey questions collected before and after the intervention and at 3-months follow-up. Focus groups were conducted after the intervention and the quantitative data collection ended. Their purpose was to solicit in-depth information from the teachers' perspectives as to if, how, and why certain outcomes showed effects. They were semi-structured and lasted approximately 1 hour each. They took place online via Zoom, after work, on days that participants agreed was convenient to their schedules, within two weeks of programme completion.

The focus group protocol was developed according to Krueger and Casey (2015) guidelines and consisted of questions related to what went well in the programme, what needed improvement, if anything was different in their life because of the programme and if they noticed any change in their stress and wellbeing level. Participants were encouraged to elaborate on their responses and to engage in dialogue with each other if they felt the need.

Open-ended survey questions were administered before and after the programme and at 3 months follow-up using online survey software. Participants received the survey link by email and were asked to complete it within a 4-day window.

# Data Analysis

The data from the focus groups transcriptions and the survey questions were analysed using thematic analysis, by identifying, analysing, and reporting themes from the data-set (Braun & Clarke, 2006). An inductive rather than a theoretical approach was selected in order to allow for the content of participants' responses to generate categories and themes that were not necessarily dictated by the questions employed (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

The qualitative data-set was analysed following the process outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006) according to which the focus group transcriptions and survey responses were first closely read and re-read to get an overall picture of the material collected and to generate initial codes. The initial codes were then reviewed for consistency, and several were merged to avoid repetition and overlap. Codes were then grouped into potential categories that were checked to ensure correspondence with the coded extracts and with the whole data-set. The next step was to identify the underlying meaning and relation between categories and to generate themes related to the research questions. Finally, relevant quotes were selected.

# 5.5. Findings

Three main themes emerged (Table 2): self-awareness and non-reactivity may facilitate a reduction in stress levels, the purposeful cultivation of self-care and positive

emotions may be a precursor to enhanced wellbeing, positive relationships with others, and evidence of effectiveness at work may mitigate burnout symptoms.

**Table 2**Themes, Categories and Codes Illuminating Participants' Experience of The Wellbeing Protocol.

Codes	Categories	Themes
Better able to perceive own's thoughts, emotions and physical sensations  Better able to name or describe emotions, physical sensations or thoughts  Being more in the present moment  Being able to not react to triggers  Being able to let go of negative thoughts or emotions  Being able to let go of attachment to one's	Increased awareness of mental, emotional, and physical experience  Increased ability to manage thoughts, emotions, and reactions	Self-awareness and non-reactivity may facilitate a reduction in stress levels
own opinions or feelings  Stress is now seen as positive		
Feeling more in control  Feeling calmer, more relaxed, less stressed	Reduced stress	
Feeling more energy		
Increased understanding of what self-care		The purposeful
and wellbeing is	Increased self-care	cultivation of self-
Increased practice of self-care	practice	care and positive
actions/routines		emotions may be a

Being less hard on oneself		precursor to
Feeling more positive emotions towards others at work or at home Feeling more positive feelings towards life/experience in general	Feeling more positive towards self and others	enhanced wellbeing
Better ability to understand students or colleagues' perspectives  Received feedback from team, colleagues or students about positive changes  Improved relationships at work or home  Reduction in workplace conflict  Connecting with other educators in the programme was positive and helpful	Improved relationships with others	Positive relationships with others and evidence of effectiveness at work may mitigate burnout symptoms.
Dealt with a work crisis in a better way than before Teaching practice improved Better able to prioritise at work Not taking on others' responsibilities Better able to recognise warning signs before limits are reached	Improved effectiveness at work	

# 1. Self-Awareness and Non-Reactivity May Facilitate a Reduction in Stress Levels

The main underlying mechanisms underpinning the reduction in stress experienced by most participants were: increased awareness of experience; increased ability to manage

unhelpful thoughts, emotions, or reactions; and a shift in mindset regarding stress and control.

They will each be described in more detail below.

#### 1.1. Increased Awareness of Mental, Emotional and Physical Experience.

Participants reported an increase in their ability to notice their thoughts, emotions, and physical sensations and to describe, identify or categorise them. Being exposed to examples of physical manifestations of stress enabled participants to identify their own physical symptoms and to better categorise sensations they were hitherto unsure of:

I now notice physical things like heart palpitations, whereas before, I probably wouldn't have really noticed. I mean, I might have noticed it, but I wouldn't have thought to slow down my breathing to assist that to drop. I would have just, oh God, I'm stressed and then worry about it later. But now that I learnt those techniques, I put those into place straight away. So that it doesn't escalate. (Participant 29)

Similarly, the exercises meant to expand participants' emotion vocabulary, enabled them to better understand the nuances of their emotions and to more adequately describe them.

It's given me a language for how I'm feeling. (Participant 10)

Present moment awareness was one of the most reported consequences of the mindfulness training, meaning participants were able to become aware of thoughts and emotions not related to what was present in their current circumstances, let go of them, and return their attention to what was at hand.

# 1.2 Increased Ability to Manage Thoughts, Emotions, and Reactions.

Being able to notice and categorise their thoughts allowed participants to recognise negative thoughts and interrupt automatic thought processes. Negative thoughts were primarily related to perceived judgements from others and worrying about future outcomes or imagined worst-case scenarios. Participants reported being able to stop rumination or

worrying by applying techniques learnt in the programme and by bringing their attention to the present moment.

Tomorrow I've got the dentist and it's almost an emergency run on my tooth. And normally, I would be besides myself, but I've been pushing it out of my brain and just going: "That'll happen when I get there," so I've been able to move it out of my brain. Free my brain. (Participant 31)

Participants mentioned being able to stop negative self-talk by employing skills acquired in the programme. Most of them described their negative self-talk as harsh self-judgement related to their performance in different contexts.

For example, after this programme I came to know that it is natural to have negative judging thoughts towards myself and I learnt to disengage from those thoughts which saved my energy for more important things. (Participant 7)

All participants mentioned decreased reactivity to external and internal stimuli, and an improvement in their ability to pause before responding. This was mostly credited to their increased skills of not identifying with, and letting go of, unhelpful emotions and thoughts.

# 1.3 Reduced Stress Impact.

Realising that stress can be seen as a positive was reported by all participants to be a significant source of comfort and a very effective tool to reduce stress. This mindset change was linked to positive outcomes such as feeling calmer, more relaxed, and more energised.

I am just a lot calmer and in control. (Participant 30)

Yes, I feel calmer, I'm able to slow down and relax myself [sic] when I feel I'm becoming stressed. (Participant 20)

A significant outcome of the training highlighted by participants was an increased sense of control and agency. They credited this to their improved ability to let go of their negative thoughts and emotions, and to their heightened confidence in their capability to manage any unpredictable challenges. This led them to feel less stressed and more in control.

I feel more prepared, for what I couldn't tell you. Maybe that makes me more able to cope with life. (Participant 11)

Taking back some of the control and being present in life, makes me a better teacher and a far more relaxed member of our family. (Participant 28)

# 2. The Purposeful Cultivation of Self-Care and Positive Emotions May Be a Precursor to Enhanced Wellbeing

Most participants noticed improvements in their mental wellbeing and attributed them to an increased understanding of what self-care entails followed by more frequent practice of self-care actions and feeling more positive towards self and others.

#### 2.1 Increased Self-Care Practice.

After programme completion, participants reported a greater understanding of what wellbeing was, what constituted self-care, and why both were important. For example, many reported feeling less guilty about attending to their wellbeing. As a result, there was an increase in reported self-care practices and routines.

I put myself first sometimes now and I know it helps my other relationships if I'm happy. (Participant 13)

#### 2.2 Feeling More Positive Towards Self and Others.

Many participants reported that having an increased ability to name their emotions and a better understanding of the general human experience of emotions and thoughts, allowed them to be less hard on themselves. Additionally, being able to recognise, name and let go of self-judgements related to their inner critic, allowed participants to be more understanding and more sympathetic towards themselves. For some, this led to an increase in energy resources, and for others to improvements in overall mood.

I keep a bullet journal where I track my mood and overall, since doing the course, it has been much more positive, and more consistently positive as well. (Participant 14)

A significant change recorded by most participants was a rise in positive feelings towards others both in their personal and professional lives. This was attributed in part to the fact that they no longer assumed others were negatively judging them. Another antecedent to

this was the purposeful cultivation of gratitude and kindness. Participants described feeling more positive towards self and others after engaging in random acts of kindness or after writing things they were grateful for. These practices were also linked to reports of feeling more positive towards life and present moment experience in general.

Yeah, I think I'm much kinder, and I can see when people are kind. Before I never saw, I always saw the negative things but never really saw the positive things in people. Now, I'm more alert for positive things. (Participant 15)

# 3. Positive Relationships with Others and Evidence of Effectiveness at Work May Mitigate Burnout Symptoms.

Feeling more positive emotions towards others, being less reactive and stressed were identified in participants' reports as precursors to improved relationships at work and at home. These positive relationships together with specific examples of improved effectiveness at work are likely protective factors against job burnout.

# 3.1 Improved Relationships with Others.

Participants described having an improved ability to understand others' perspectives. Some credited this to being less attached to their own opinions, thoughts, and emotions, and to being less defensive. Many reported having received positive feedback in the workplace or at home about being less reactive, not taking things personally, and being generally calmer.

I feel like I can understand other people better and don't judge straight away. (Participant 15)

I have even had comments from my team leader at work and my family about being far less defensive and reactive, not taking things so personally. I see the things that people say to me differently now and understand their comments are more about themselves than myself. (Participant 23)

As a result, participants described an improvement in their relationships with colleagues, students, and family members. They also expressed gratitude and joy for having had the opportunity to connect with like-minded educators in the course. For many, listening

to others' experiences and noticing similarities with theirs, led to a sense of belonging and to greater self-acceptance.

Many participants gave examples of workplace conflicts that were handled better or precluded from escalating as they might have prior to the programme. They attributed this to their reduced reactivity, increased ability to empathise with others, and reduced attachment to their own opinions.

# 3.2 Improved Effectiveness at Work.

Participants reported noticing an improvement in their teaching practice, credited primarily to them being perceived by students as calmer and being able to instill a sense of calm in the classroom. Many taught some of the practices related to stress reduction and mindful present moment awareness to students, with the result of improved classroom climate.

Participants noticed increased effectiveness at work and gave as examples improved ability to deal with crises, to prioritise tasks, and to reduce procrastination.

I have stressed far less and continue to only concentrate on which [sic] I have control of. Recently while dealing with a chronically suicidal student, I have found that under this extremely stressful circumstance I handled things far better than I ever would have a year ago. I kept healthy boundaries and once I established safety for the student I handed over and went into self-care mode. I have felt the work we have done in the course has held me in far better stead over the lockdown period and also supporting others. I definitely feel more resilient. (Participant 23)

Participants also described being better able to say "no" when appropriate, not taking on others' responsibilities and recognising the warning signs of becoming overwhelmed before limits were reached. The last point was linked to a decrease in stress as participants reported being able to use the techniques learnt to address symptoms before they escalated.

# 5.6. Discussion

The themes identified in this study, as well as the categories and codes that supported them, were consistent with findings from similar studies of mindfulness-based interventions

and workplace wellness programmes (Hwang et al., 2017). Some of the underlying mechanisms outlined in the present study, however, have received little to no attention in previous studies and they are presented as potential new avenues for research.

# Self-Awareness and Non-Reactivity May Facilitate a Reduction in Stress Levels

A common finding across studies is that mindfulness training may result in improved self-awareness, which can lead to improved emotional and physical wellbeing and reduced stress symptoms (Abenavoli et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2017; Schussler et al., 2016). For example, Abenavoli and colleagues (2013) showed a reduction in reported daily physical symptoms and negative affect which mediated teachers' reports of perceived stress. Roeser and colleagues (2013) showed an improvement in teachers' attention and somatic awareness as well as a reduction in negative affect. These results are consistent with findings of mindfulness-based wellness programmes for non-teacher populations whereby the training increased participants' awareness of mental and physical phenomena and reduced their stress, anxiety, rumination, negative affect, and depressive symptoms (Cayoun et al., 2019; Townshend et al., 2016).

The present study confirms these findings and furthers this line of research by proposing that non-reactivity might be a foundational precursor to reduced stress. Non-reactivity is one of the five dimensions of mindfulness identified by Baer and colleagues (Baer et al., 2008) and is defined as the ability to not react automatically to internal or external stimuli. The majority of participants in the present study cited an increased ability to respond rather than react automatically and linked this to improvements in their stress levels and in their relationships with others. In a systematic review of mindfulness-based interventions for teachers, Hwang and colleagues (2017) found that not reacting automatically allowed teachers to experience being calmer, more centred, and relaxed.

Further investigation of the connection between non-reactivity and stress reduction might be a useful research endeavour.

The Purposeful Cultivation of Self-Care and Positive Emotions May Be a Precursor to Enhanced Wellbeing

Self-care encompasses self-awareness, self-compassion, and the implementation of a variety of strategies across physical, emotional, mental, and social domains (Mills et al., 2020). But self-care is not always prioritised by teachers as they might feel selfish at the thought of attending to their own needs or may fear judgement from others. Current research does not address specifically the relationship between self-care and teacher wellbeing. Studies from the healthcare sector, however, have established a correlation between improved self-care and increases in wellbeing (Mills et al., 2020; Narasimhan et al., 2019). The present study highlights that enhancing teacher understanding of the importance of and practical application of self-care may lead to an increase in practice adoption and frequency, which in turn, may catalyse improvements in wellbeing. This finding would benefit from further research to explore further the link between the two.

A growing body of research has highlighted that the purposeful cultivation of positive emotions has a causal effect on wellbeing via biological and psychological pathways (Le Nguyen & Fredrickson, 2018). To date, the link between the two in the context of a workplace wellness intervention has not been explored, perhaps because not many workplace programmes include specific strategies on this topic. The findings of the current study suggested that including explicit strategies to cultivate positive emotions might facilitate an increase in participants' wellbeing levels. These promising results open up new avenues for research in the workplace learning and wellbeing domains.

Positive Relationships with Others and Evidence of Effectiveness at Work May Mitigate Burnout Symptoms.

Workplace burnout has been defined as a process in which the psychological resources of an employee are gradually depleted as a consequence of prolonged stress at work (Maslach et al., 2001). The most prevalent burnout symptoms in the workplace include: loss of motivation and sense of purpose; exhaustion even after resting, cynicism, or disconnectedness; and feelings of ineffectiveness even when the outcomes achieved are good (Ahola et al., 2014; Faraci, 2018; Maslach et al., 2001).

There is convincing evidence that social relationships at work have a significant impact on burnout (Anthony-McMann et al., 2017; Leiter et al., 2015). Greater social support and positive social interactions mitigate burnout symptoms and buffer the stressful impact of demands from others (Leiter et al., 2015). Little research has investigated teachers' workplace relationships and their correlation with burnout. In a recent study on teacher empathy, relationship with students, and burnout, the authors found that teachers higher in empathy had closer relationships with students, were better able to manage problematic behaviours and had lower levels of job burnout. Teachers who had poorer empathy skills showed largely the opposite findings, with greater relationship conflict, fewer problemsolving strategies, less competence, and higher job burnout (Wink et al., 2021).

Our study further advances this emerging area of research by proposing that positive relationships in the workplace and evidence of effectiveness at work might act as deterrents to teacher burnout. Participants in our research found that following the programme they experienced enhanced relationships at work and greater effectiveness in managing tasks and problematic situations. They gave examples of positive interactions with students and colleagues and receiving compliments for their relationship skills and ability to tackle workplace problems. These are arguably mitigating factors against the burnout symptoms of

disconnectedness and work ineffectiveness, although further research is needed to directly explore this correlation.

# 5.7. Concluding Remarks

Participants in the workplace wellness programme the Wellbeing Protocol seem to have gained increased self-awareness and ability to respond rather than react automatically. They also seemed, overall, to be more positive and more effective at work, as well as having improved relationships. They reported feeling less stressed, more relaxed, and more confident. The present study proposes several areas for further research that would advance our understanding of the underlying mechanisms of effective strategies to support employee wellbeing in the workplace. The implications for practice are that this program could be helpful in improving employee wellbeing and reducing stress and burnout.

# **CHAPTER SIX: A GENERAL DISCUSSION**

This doctoral project set out to examine the impact of a workplace wellness programme on New Zealand teachers' levels of stress, burnout, wellbeing, and mindfulness. The timing of data collection and of the intervention coincided with the unfolding of a global pandemic, making the project all the more poignant, timely, and important. In light of this new global development, the project's research questions took on a deeper significance and greater urgency as teachers' mental health and wellbeing were being significantly impacted by COVID-related factors such as anxiety about virus exposure and mandatory lockdowns.

The findings revealed that NZ educators experienced considerable stress, burnout, and mental distress at the onset of the COVID pandemic. This is hardly surprising given that teaching was already an occupation prone to these negative mental health indicators (Bernay, 2014; Jennings, 2015a) and COVID-19 exacerbated educator stress and burnout in many other countries (Ozamiz-Etxebarria et al., 2021; Pressley, 2021; Sokal et al., 2020b). The findings fill a gap in the literature, given that there were no specific surveys or research studies capturing data for NZ primary and secondary school teachers in the first four months of the 2020 pandemic outbreak.

The findings also pointed to a potential option to support teacher wellbeing in the form of the mindfulness-based resilience programme I investigated, The Wellbeing Protocol. This is congruent with existing literature on effective measures to support educators in dealing with COVID-related stress and occupational high demands, which identifies wellbeing and resilience training as an avenue to promote enhanced mental wellbeing and reduce burnout (Gabriel & Aguinis, 2021; Giorgi et al., 2020). The findings were similar to those of studies investigating different mindfulness-based interventions (MBIs) for teachers which also found positive effects on markers of stress, burnout, wellbeing, or efficacy (Bernay, 2014; Beshai et al., 2016; Felver & Jennings, 2016; Hwang et al., 2017). My project

fills a gap in the existing literature by being the first to investigate an MBI delivered to NZ teachers, as well as being the first to explore the impact of the Wellbeing Protocol (WP) among educators. WP seems to be a good fit for the teaching population and, although the design of the current study had to forgo having a waitlist control group, the study nonetheless managed to capture novel insights related to the suitability and effectiveness of WP in times of heightened stress and anxiety.

The initial broad questions that informed the direction of the research were as follows:

- 1. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' stress levels and if so, how?
- 2. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' burnout levels and if so, how?
- 3. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' mental wellbeing levels and if so, how?
  - 4. Does the Wellbeing Protocol affect teachers' mindfulness levels and if so, how?

This chapter will present an overview of the findings from the three empirical articles and discuss the implications of the current research for the broader teacher mindfulness and wellbeing literature and for educator professional development. The limitations of the research are then outlined, followed by possible avenues for future research and education policy. The chapter ends with some concluding thoughts.

# **6.1. Overall Summary of Key Findings**

The first empirical study (Chapter 3) showed reductions in stress on conclusion of the WP intervention and at three months follow-up. The large effect size suggests that the reduction in perceived stress was maintained at follow up assessment. Of the three burnout dimensions, emotional exhaustion recorded a statistically significant decline both immediately after and three months following the programme. The large effect size at both time points suggested that teacher emotional exhaustion levels continued to decrease even after WP had been completed. The reduction in cynicism or depersonalisation had a moderate

effect size but did not reach statistical significance. Similarly, the appraisal of personal accomplishment showed a moderate improvement that was not statistically significant. It is worth noting the presence of floor effects in the cynicism dimension and ceiling effects in personal accomplishment at data collection Time 1 (before the intervention). Pearson correlation coefficients showed that participants who recorded a reduction in stress were more likely to see an improvement in personal accomplishment and a reduction in emotional exhaustion.

The second empirical study (Chapter 4) explored the relations between WP and teacher self-reported mental wellbeing and mindfulness levels. Results showed a statistically significant increase on all four mindfulness facets explored: describing, acting with awareness, non-judging of inner experience, and non-reactivity to inner experience.

Similarly, to the findings related to stress and emotional exhaustion, the four mindfulness dimensions continued to improve three months following programme completion, reaching both statistical significance and large effect sizes. Participants registered increases in mental wellbeing both immediately after and three months following the programme. The scores obtained following completion of WP reached statistical significance with a large effect size, whereas at three months follow up they did not, although the large effect size suggested that enhancements in mental wellbeing were still maintained. Those who saw an improvement in mental wellbeing were also more likely to notice an increase in three of the four mindfulness facets, namely describing, acting with awareness, and non-reactivity to inner experience.

The third study included in this thesis (Chapter 5) explored the subjective experience of teachers undertaking the Wellbeing Protocol. Three main themes emerged, and they included: (1) self-awareness and non-reactivity may facilitate a reduction in stress levels; (2) the purposeful cultivation of self-care and positive emotions may be a precursor to enhanced wellbeing; and (3) positive relationships with others and evidence of effectiveness at work

may mitigate burnout symptoms. Participants reported being better able to perceive their own thoughts, to name and label emotions, to be in the present moment, to not react to triggers, to let go of attachment to their opinions, to let go of negative thoughts, and to adopt a positive stress mindset, all of which contributed to making them feel calmer, more relaxed, in control, and energised. Additionally, the participants novel understanding of what constituted selfcare and wellbeing prompted them to engage in positive practices, which in turn supported enhanced wellbeing. Many participants noted that they were less hard on themselves, and they had more positive emotions towards others, both in the workplace and in their personal life, which led to improvements in their relationships with students, colleagues, and family members. This was noted by school leadership and by colleagues, with many participants describing having received positive feedback from their teams or supervisors and experiencing less conflict at work. Therefore, WP was seen as a useful resource that helped teachers improve their teaching practice and effectiveness at work. Participants commented that they were better able to prioritise work, to not take on others' responsibilities, to deal with work crises, and to recognise warning signs before their limits were reached as a result of participating in the programme.

# **6.2. Overall Discussion of Key Findings**

Upon reflecting on the overall key findings from this doctoral project, two themes arise: (1) the state of New Zealand teacher burnout at the onset of COVID-19 and (2) the effectiveness of the Wellbeing Protocol. The overall key findings will be discussed around these themes in the following sections.

# 6.2.1. The State of New Zealand Teacher Burnout at The Onset of COVID-19

Burnout in the New Zealand teaching workforce has only been sparsely investigated in the last decade and the measurement tools used have varied between studies (Bianchi et al., 2015; Milfont et al., 2008; New Zealand Educational Institute & Deakin University, 2020;

Whitehead et al., 2000). The only other study employing the MBI-ES was conducted by Whitehead et al. (2000) on a sample of 384 New Zealand (NZ) primary teachers. Their sample emotional exhaustion score (27.35) was lower than our sample's baseline scores (36.90), suggesting that the teachers in our sample were experiencing higher levels of energy depletion.

Whitehead et al. (2000) compared their results to a normative sample of US teachers reported in the MBI Manual and found that NZ teachers scored a significantly higher score (27.35) compared to their US counterparts (21.25) on the emotional exhaustion dimension. The authors proposed several reasons for this, one of them being high workload given that at the time of data collection there was a teacher shortage in New Zealand (Whitehead et al., 2000). The authors also referred to excessive demands placed on teachers who were required to teach many specialist subjects such as art, sport, music, or Māori language, in addition to the core curriculum. Additionally, educational reforms had placed increased onus on NZ schools to take full governance responsibility for all aspects of education, including setting their own objectives in accordance with community needs, managing their educational resources appropriately, and being regularly audited by the Education Review Office (Whitehead et al., 2000).

These constraints are still affecting NZ schools twenty years later and are arguably contributors to the high emotional exhaustion rates in our sample. At the time of our initial data collection (before the intervention), NZ schools were already having difficulty recruiting sufficient teachers. A report from the Education Review Office (2021) showed that COVID-19 exacerbated teacher shortages in 2020 leading to an increase in workload for in-service teachers. When the first NZ national lockdown was declared on 25 March 2020, students were given two weeks of holidays and teachers were instructed to begin online tuition thereafter. Many educators were tasked with the development of virtual teaching materials.

Additionally, they had to become familiar with online education platforms and to train their students to utilise them. As the pandemic unfolded and lockdowns were extended, educators were facing increasingly reduced resources and higher demands. They had to manage disruptions during online tuition, ineffective communication with parents, disjointed communication with students, increased onus to cater to students who had limited or no access to devices or internet at home, and, in many instances, lack of sufficient school support (Education Review Office, 2021). Thus, the first months of the pandemic outbreak caused a sharp rise in workload and job demands for NZ teachers. According to COR theory, high workload is a precursor to emotional exhaustion (Alarcon, 2011). In the case of our NZ sample, high workload, coupled with anxiety over virus exposure and uncertainty about the future, likely explain our high emotional exhaustion rates.

Additionally, for many teachers, home-schooling their own children or being carers for older relatives added an extra burden. This is especially true for female teachers who reported higher levels of stress and workload (Education Review Office, 2021). Our sample was almost entirely female, and although we did not capture data related to this, anecdotal evidence suggested that most of our participants had children. This could be another factor that contributed to the high baseline rates of stress and emotional exhaustion (EE) in our sample. Reports on the disproportionately negative effects of COVID on women support our claim (McKinsey & Company & Lean In, 2021; Stats NZ Tauranga Aotearoa, 2020; United Nations, 2020). Both globally (United Nations, 2020) and in New Zealand (Stats NZ Tauranga Aotearoa, 2020) women took on more carer roles than men, experienced higher levels of stress, and lost more jobs.

Interestingly, our EE baseline score was higher than a sample of Canadian (CA) teachers surveyed a month later, in April/May 2020 (Sokal et al., 2020a). The mean emotional exhaustion calculated as average for CA teachers was 3.49, whereas for our sample

it was 4.10. Our sample also scored higher rates of emotional exhaustion (36.90) compared to Argentinian teachers (23.86) surveyed between April – September 2020 (Vargas Rubilar & Oros, 2021). We cannot be sure why this is. Whereas both the Canadian and the Argentinian sample was larger and more heterogenous, the overall majority of respondents were nonetheless women, so gender differences might not be sufficient to account for the difference. A possible explanation is that NZ teachers had already a higher level of stress and emotional exhaustion pre-pandemic. This is supported by a 2019 report according to which NZ primary and area school teachers recorded significant job strain due to high workload, long work hours, and lack of support for students with additional learning and behavioural needs (New Zealand Educational Institute & Deakin University, 2020). NZ teachers scored significantly lower than the general population on all health and wellbeing measures of the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire. The findings revealed almost twice as high rates of burnout, stress, and cognitive stress symptoms in teachers as opposed to the general population. Further, teachers also had more depressive symptoms than the general public and more than double the incidences of sleep disturbances (New Zealand Educational Institute & Deakin University, 2020). These findings preceded the COVID-19 crisis having been captured in the period October–December 2019, three months before the pandemic outbreak. According to COR theory, increased demands and resource loss have a stronger effect in high demand situations (Alarcon, 2011). This aspect is of particular importance because it implies moderation effects of the environment and of pre-existing conditions on new demands and resource loss. In other words, we can speculate that NZ teachers were already experiencing resource depletion and exhaustion due to existing high demands even before the onset of the pandemic and therefore their emotional exhaustion scores were higher as a result of the added COVID-related demands and anxiety.

COR theory posits that high emotional exhaustion is a likely precursor to depersonalisation or cynicism, the latter being a maladaptive coping mechanism when there are excessive demands and a lack of resources. The depersonalisation score in our sample was 9.03, much higher than that of the NZ teacher sample in Whitehead et al.'s (2000) study who scored 6.31. Interestingly, Whitehead et al. (2000) noted that the depersonalisation mean score for New Zealand teachers was significantly lower (6.31) than for their US counterparts (11.00) even though their emotional exhaustion score was higher. The authors suggested that cultural differences might play a role in how respondents were likely to answer questions such as "I feel I treat some students as if they were impersonal objects" or "I don't care what happens to some students". The authors hypothesised that NZ teachers, even when depleted of emotional energy, might be less likely to respond negatively to students, or, alternatively, they might not want to be seen, even to themselves, as inhuman or callous and therefore were less inclined to admit to this in surveys (Whitehead et al., 2000). This might have been the case in our sample as well and might account for the floor effects in the current study. The high difference between the 2000 (6.31) and 2020 (9.03) depersonalisation mean scores suggests nonetheless that the level of stress and work demands experienced by NZ teachers at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic were very high.

Our NZ sample scored higher on depersonalisation (1.80) compared to Sokal et al.'s (2020a) Canadian sample (1.45) in the period April/May 2020. This might further support our argument that NZ teachers might have entered the first months of the pandemic already severely strained from prolonged high job demands. Comparing our sample depersonalisation mean (9.03) with their Argentinian (Vargas Rubilar & Oros, 2021) counterparts (3.97), however, reveals an even greater contrast. We can look at these results as further evidence that NZ teachers had a baseline of higher chronic stress and burnout than their Canadian and Argentinian counterparts. On the other hand, such a big difference in scores might be

underpinned by cultural differences as well. To date there is scarce research exploring the cross-cultural validity of burnout as a concept (Schaufeli, 2017). A critique has emerged, however, regarding depersonalisation and personal achievement, according to which these dimensions represent Western ethnocentric concepts (Schaufeli, 2017). Depersonalisation was said to assume a Western personality concept, which distinguishes between "me" and "you", who enter, as separate entities into a personal relationship. Similarly, personal accomplishment was said to be underpinned by a Western view of achievement which links the latter to the self, achievement becoming thus personal achievement. These views are typical in Western or individualistic cultures and they differ from collectivistic cultures where achievement is considered to result from group efforts (Schaufeli, 2017). Individualistic versus collectivistic cultures are terms pertaining to Hofstede's (1984) dimensions of culture. Individualistic cultures are said to emphasise personal action and responsibility, whereas collectivistic cultures emphasise interpersonal relatedness and group action (Hofstede, 1984). On the Hofstede Insights country comparison tool (Hofstede Insights, 2022), Argentina's individualism score is 46, almost half that of New Zealand (79) and Canada (80). A score of 46 puts Argentina in the middle rankings, meaning that a series of collectivist traits prevail in spite of the individualist tendencies prevalent in that country, especially in large urban areas. Such collectivistic traits include the importance of obligations towards the extended family or the groups one belongs to. We speculate that the marked difference between our sample and the Argentinian sample scores on depersonalisation might have been impacted by this dimension. Having said that, we nonetheless suspect that Hofstede's cultural analysis of New Zealand (Hofstede, 1984; Hofstede Insights, 2022) might not have taken fully into account the country's bicultural element. Māori worldviews and cultural traits are very much collectivistic in nature and they are influential, particularly in education settings where strong emphasis is placed on the obligations and social responsibilities of schools to the community.

There is a lack of data to permit any firm conclusion on this point, other than that there is an apparent influence on culture over at least two of the burnout dimensions that warrants further investigation. It is worth noting here, that the core dimension of burnout, emotional exhaustion, was found to occur universally (Schaufeli, 2017). In his socio-cultural history of burnout, Schaufeli (2017) refers to research that identified emotional exhaustion in the Aymarai, Quechua, and Ladakh indigenous populations.

Our teacher sample reported very high personal achievement scores (a mean of 47.06 of a maximum 56), reflecting their positive self-appraisals of efficacy at work and potential ceiling effects in the sample. This score was also significantly higher than that of Whitehead et al.'s (2000) NZ teachers (37.12). It is intriguing to find that our sample was experiencing high rates of emotional exhaustion and simultaneously high rates of personal accomplishment. According to burnout theory, depletion of energy leads to maladaptive behaviours and feelings of inefficacy at work (Alarcon, 2011). Our findings however present a different picture. Whitehead et al.'s (2000) comparison with US normative data revealed the same scenario: despite having higher rates of emotional exhaustion, NZ teachers also had higher rates of personal accomplishment compared to their US counterparts. The authors were uncertain regarding the root causes of this phenomenon. They hypothesised that NZ teachers might feel apprehensive to admit failure to achieve a good standard or to meet work demands for fear of losing their job. Alternatively, the authors suggested that NZ teachers might continue to derive satisfaction from their interactions with students even when work demands were high (Whitehead et al., 2000). Interestingly, the same co-existence of high emotional exhaustion and high personal accomplishment were identified in Argentinian (Vargas Rubilar & Oros, 2021) and Canadian (Sokal et al., 2020a) teachers as well. There is a lack of sufficient data to fully understand this phenomenon. Cultural differences might play a role, as based on Whitehead et al.'s (2000) analysis, it was clear that the profile of NZ

teachers was significantly different from that of their US counterparts. It might also be that mastering online instruction as a new skill might have improved self-perceptions of efficacy for many teachers. It is also possible that during the global crisis, NZ teachers felt all the more compelled to take on a pastoral role that might have been positively received by their students who were looking for re-assurance and support. Thus, teachers might have experienced an enhanced sense of efficacy as pastors and counsellors.

To summarise, baseline scores in the current study suggested NZ teachers were experiencing high emotional exhaustion and high personal accomplishment rates. Although their depersonalisation or cynicism scores were lower than a normative US teacher sample included in Whitehead et al.'s study (2000), they were nonetheless much higher than NZ teachers' scores in 2000. Further, the fact that our sample's baseline scores of emotional exhaustion and cynicism were higher that their Canadian and Argentinian counterparts surveyed at similar points in time suggests that NZ teachers might have entered the pandemic with their resources already diminished by prolonged exposure to workplace psychosocial hazards such as high workload and high job demands.

# 6.2.2. The Effectiveness of the Wellbeing Protocol

The findings included in the three studies presented in Chapters 3, 4, and 5 suggested that the Wellbeing Protocol (WP) might be a promising intervention to reduce symptoms of stress and burnout, and improve mental wellbeing. Immediately following the programme and at follow-up, teachers reported a statistically significant reduction in perceived stress. Qualitative data collected at the same time points revealed that participants had learnt how stress could be used positively, they felt calmer and more relaxed, and were aware of external factors causing them to stress unnecessarily. They reported using WP mindset and mindfulness techniques to reframe their appraisal of stressful situations and to replace automatic reactions with more considerate responses. For example, participants reported that

they were able to reframe stress from negative to positive and thus convert the physiological stress response into an energy source. Participants communicated that they used WP techniques to manage their thoughts and regulate their emotions both in their day-to-day life and in triggering circumstances. These techniques included mindful ways of thinking, meditation, affirmations, and reframing of inner talk. The latter one refers to paying attention to how one talks to oneself and reframing that to be more supportive, or, in the words of a participant, to give oneself the "grace to exist in stressful situations". Participants also noted that mindfulness practice, particularly the connection to breath at times of high emotional activation, allowed them to pause and replace automatic reactions with more considerate responses. This is a core component of socio-emotional competencies and it seems that WP offers participants the tools required to develop these competencies. Our findings are congruent in this respect with other research on MBIs for teachers which also show that mindfulness helps reduce stress and increase competence in socio-emotional skills (Bernay, 2014; Felver & Jennings, 2016; Hwang et al., 2017; Jennings, 2016). This finding is particularly relevant as we move into the third year of the pandemic and NZ teacher shortages are predicted to increase over the next years (Gerritsen, 2021a, 2021b). Finding easily accessible ways to support teachers in reducing stress and developing competencies to better engage with students has now become an even greater priority and our research project suggests that WP might be a useful option for schools to consider.

Participants also noted that WP mindfulness techniques and cognitive behavioural strategies allowed them to approach problems in a more effective way. They were able to notice instances where they had been avoiding problems subconsciously, choosing to ignore their existence and postponing an acknowledgement of their cognitive load and emotional toll. Through WP techniques, however, participants were able to bring problems to their awareness and to seek solutions from a place of resourcefulness and calm confidence. This

finding is important given that coping styles driven by avoidance have been linked to higher rates of burnout (Schaufeli, 2017). We speculate this might also be one of the underlying mechanisms by which mindfulness might impact burnout. Although previous studies on MBIs have shown a reduction in teacher burnout (For a review see Emerson et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2017), the exact mechanisms by which this outcome came to be were not fully explored. Qualitative data in our study suggests that mindfulness practices such as becoming centred through the use of breathing techniques and complementary cognitive behavioural strategies, such as naming thoughts or becoming aware of distorted patterns of thinking, might allow individuals to overcome avoidance behaviours. In other words, when they employ mindfulness techniques they might be less identified with their emotions, which in turn might reduce the experience of discomfort and the need to avoid it. As a result, participants might gain access to a more resourceful state where they have greater clarity, greater ability to envision solutions, and greater capacity to effectively solve problems. This is likely to stop or reverse the burnout cascade and support teachers to feel in control of outcomes and satisfied with their performance.

Participant reports regarding the effectiveness of WP mindfulness tools are supported by the quantitative data which found statistically significant improvements with large effect sizes over time in all four mindfulness dimensions: describing, acting with awareness, non-judgement of inner experience, and non-reactivity to inner experience. Our findings are consistent with those of other studies which have also shown improvements in mindfulness following an MBI (Baer et al., 2012; Hwang et al., 2017). What is even more relevant is the fact that scores were higher at three months follow-up suggesting that mindfulness was becoming a way of being or a trait characteristic. This is an important outcome especially given that research suggests that trait mindfulness or the extent to which someone is mindful outside of pre-MBI-post-MBI contexts, has a direct impact on their levels of stress and

emotional exhaustion. In other words, teachers high in mindfulness experience less stress and lower emotional exhaustion (Abenavoli et al., 2013).

In our study, reductions in stress were correlated with decreased emotional exhaustion and improved personal accomplishment immediately following WP, suggesting that WP tools might be effective in supporting participants to identify and eliminate stress triggers that cause unnecessary resource depletion. Further, the mental wellbeing scores following WP completion were also higher, with large effect sizes over time, suggesting that WP might support participants not only to build resilience against adverse external circumstances, but also to actively replenish their personal reservoirs. Qualitative data suggests that one of the ways in which WP facilitated this change was by offering participants a new understanding of wellbeing based on relevant research evidence. Teachers reported that before WP their appraisal of wellbeing was "a fluffy buzzword that signalled you were happy". Following the evidence presented in the programme, they professed to having more in-depth knowledge about the six aspects of wellbeing, as discussed in Linton et al. (2016): mental wellbeing, social wellbeing, activities and functioning, physical wellbeing, spiritual wellbeing, and personal circumstances. Participants reported that this awareness led them to make positive changes in their lives towards rest, hobbies, healthy eating, exercise, and spiritual growth. They also pointed out that this knowledge allowed them to develop a more authentic personal understanding of their own wellbeing and freed them from feelings of guilt about taking time to recharge. Many participants confessed that in their professional environment there was great emphasis placed on student wellbeing, whereas teachers' wellbeing was not adequately discussed or catered to. This had led many educators to subconsciously feel their wellbeing did not really matter and to experience, thus, a reluctance to accept when they were not coping well or when they needed a break. Participants also acknowledged that before the programme they lacked sufficient information about ways to improve their mental health

apart from generic self-care advice such as going for a walk or listening to relaxing music. These findings further existing knowledge of the mechanisms by which an MBI impacts mental wellbeing and are quite novel in the literature, given that the majority of existing studies explore pre-intervention-post-intervention quantitative measures of mental wellbeing following an MBI (For a review see Emerson et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2017).

Another aspect relevant to wellbeing relates to participants' increased awareness of the interconnectedness between their mind and physiology. In other words, participants became aware of how their thoughts influenced their emotions and their physical state. As a result, they became more deliberate about bringing a sense of calm and balance to their mental activity through daily use of WP mindfulness, cognitive behavioural, and mindset techniques. Indeed, WP techniques seemed to be supporting participants to change beliefs, habitual thinking patterns, and habitual modes of behaviour, and this would likely enable them to become more effective teachers. For example, participants described being able to reframe some of their job demands so that their response to them became more empowering. They managed to identify sources of chronic stress that were within their power to alter, and they did so, resulting in a decrease in experienced stress. Given that chronic stress is a precursor to emotional exhaustion (Collie, 2021), it is no wonder that as participants' experience of stress decreased, so did their levels of energy depletion.

The other two dimensions of burnout: depersonalisation and personal accomplishment recorded improvements as well. The qualitative data offered an insight into potential underlying mechanisms by which that was made possible. It seemed that several factors may have been at play. On one hand, increases in self-care practices seemed to result in teachers having more energy resources. Simultaneously, the use of WP cognitive-reframing and mindset techniques resulted in decreases in stress and reactivity. Combined, these factors seemed to allow teachers to be more relaxed, more open to engaging with others, less

judgemental, and less negative, all of which led to improved relationships with students and colleagues, and greater efficacy at work. These results are similar to Schussler et al.'s (2016) and Burrow's (2015) findings who also found that mindfulness training for teachers resulted in better relationships at work.

Participants further reported that WP mindset and cognitive behavioural techniques allowed them to calm themselves, slow down, and regulate their emotions when student disruptions would have otherwise triggered them. They reported that this increased ability to regulate their emotions allowed them to empathise with their students, be present, and support co-regulation. Additionally, participants reported that increased emotional regulation allowed them to become more effective at work. For example, a participant described the high stress caused by an upcoming visit from the Ministry of Education and how she employed WP techniques to reframe her thoughts, allowing her to calm herself and also to support her colleagues to decrease their stress response. Another participant referred to a situation when she had to manage a chronically suicidal student and found that because of WP, she handled the situation much better than in the past. She was able to establish safety for the student, keep healthy boundaries, and implement self-care techniques once she had handed over the student. These findings might explain how mindfulness impacts the burnout dimensions of depersonalisation and low personal achievement. Other studies have measured quantitative impacts of mindfulness training in teacher populations in other countries (See for example Beshai et al., 2016; Carroll et al., 2021; Flook et al., 2010; Jennings, 2015b; Roeser, 2014), however, it is still not sufficiently clear how exactly mindfulness promotes these changes. Our findings offer several explanations and examples of how mindfulness can promote change in these dimensions.

The positive effects reported by our teacher sample continued at three months followup in all areas. The four dimensions of mindfulness scores were higher than the post programme scores suggesting that participants' mindfulness levels continued to improve after WP completion. Mindfulness is a skill that requires time to perfect, therefore our findings suggest that WP might be a good introduction to the secular practice of mindfulness, allowing participants to master simple techniques and experience their benefits in a short period of time, thus enhancing their motivation to practise regularly.

The statistically significant reduction in emotional exhaustion at three months follow up with a large effect size suggested that teachers benefitted from improved energy resources even after programme completion. This is a hopeful finding given the current reports regarding the high burnout and poor wellbeing rates among New Zealand educators (Education Review Office, 2021; n.a., 2021) and the Ministry of Education's forecast of teacher shortages in the next few years (Gerritsen, 2021b). It is also worth noting that the emotional exhaustion scores in our study decreased over time (from 4.10 in March to 3.56 in July), whereas scores captured by Sokal et al.(2020a) in Canadian teachers at the same time points as ours showcased a significant increase (from 3.49 in April to 4.56 in June). Although we do not have similar data on NZ teachers to compare our results against, we can draw on the results of the New Zealand Education Review (2021) survey of NZ teachers in 2020, as well as on media reports from the same period (n.a., 2021) to assume that the overall NZ teaching workforce experienced similar depletion of resources and exhaustion as their Canadian counterparts. This would further support our findings that the Wellbeing Protocol might be an effective solution in mitigating stress and burnout symptoms.

Regarding the acceptability and feasibility of the Wellbeing Protocol delivery format, participant reports revealed that they enjoyed the online format. Some confessed that meeting online rather than face-to-face had given them more courage to be honest and open in the group. The most often cited strengths of the content revolved around the interesting scientific

evidence, the ease of use of the techniques, and the supplementary resources that complemented the practice well.

#### 6.3. Theoretical Contributions and Practical Implications

The current project has made several theoretical contributions to the literature. Firstly, it has added to the body of research on teacher stress and burnout in New Zealand. With only four other studies investigating these dimensions and none very recent, there was a gap in the literature regarding NZ educators (Bernay, 2014; Bianchi et al., 2016; Milfont et al., 2008; Whitehead et al., 2000). Our study revealed the state of burnout, stress, and mental wellbeing in NZ teachers at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our findings complement Whitehead et al.'s (2000) results of higher emotional exhaustion, lower depersonalisation, and higher personal achievement scores for NZ teachers and point future researchers in the direction of further analysis.

This project was the first one in New Zealand to explore a mindfulness-based wellness programme, delivered online, to in-service teachers. Bernay (2014) did explore the impact of mindfulness for teachers, but the training was incorporated into a teacher education degree programme. Other than his study there was no other, to my knowledge, exploring mindfulness for NZ teachers. Most of the literature concerning MBIs for teachers revolves around programmes developed in the US or Canada (Jennings, 2016; Roeser, 2014). Our study adds to this body of research a different national dimension and also a different MBI, WP.

WP represents thus another theoretical contribution as the programme had not hitherto been investigated. With its compact and flexible format compared to other MBIs, WP is particularly suitable to fit into busy workplace or school schedules. Our findings suggest it is a promising programme that can support employee wellbeing. This claim is further strengthened by the fact that our study coincided with a global pandemic which placed a

burden on mental wellbeing for teachers and other occupations alike, which made the WP post-programme and 3-month follow-up scores all the more poignant.

There are several implications for practice that arise from the current study. Firstly, our findings support Bernay's (2014) conclusion that mindfulness might be a potential valuable component of teacher education programmes. The NZ Education Review (2021) survey showed that the teachers most impacted by stress and burnout during the pandemic were 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> year teachers. In view of this, it becomes all the more important to equip beginning teachers with the tools and skills required to regulate their emotions, manage their stress, and improve their resilience.

Secondly, our research is relevant for school leaders dealing with teaching staff who are burned out. WP might be a suitable professional development option to support their staff's wellbeing and resilience. The online medium of instruction, in particular, allows for high numbers of staff to attend the sessions synchronously or watch the recorded material at a time that suits them.

Thirdly, our study is relevant for individual teachers seeking to cope with workplace stress or burnout symptoms. Our findings suggest that there are simple ways to mitigate the impact of high work demands and to replenish one's resources. Starting a personal mindfulness practice or participating in a WP programme might be useful in promoting greater mental wellbeing and efficacy.

Finally, my research project has implications for policy makers. Our findings suggest that the NZ teaching workforce is operating under conditions of chronic stress, burnout, high job demands, and inadequate resources. There is a need to create mechanisms by which the wellbeing of educators is regularly monitored. More specifically, I recommend the creation of a national instrument to monitor psychosocial hazards such as workload, job demands, autonomy, and teacher support in schools, so that both school leadership and policy makers

can make appropriate changes to ensure a mentally healthy work environment for teachers. I also recommend the inclusion of mindfulness-based resilience programmes, such as WP, on a national level so that teachers have access to professional development that allows them to improve their mental health outcomes. Whereas implementing these measures on a school or district level can certainly help, a systemic approach is better suited to address NZ teacher poor mental wellbeing, especially given that this problem has been ongoing for so long and is likely to continue based on the Ministry of Education's forecast of teacher shortages in the foreseeable future.

## **6.4.** Limitations and Future Research Directions

Chapters Three, Four, and Five discussed the limitations of the individual studies included in this thesis. The following section will cover the limitations of the research project as a whole. Suggestions for future research directions will be introduced in the last part of this section.

There are four main limitations of the current research project. The first revolves around the fact that I was one of the researchers, the intervention facilitator, and programme creator. In order to minimise any bias, several measures were put into place: data was deidentified so I did not know who it belonged to, a research assistant conducted the focus groups, participants were informed of the situation in their Participant Information Sheet (See Appendix 3), I acted with integrity in all aspects of the research, I worked closely with my supervisors at all stages of the project, and neither of my supervisors had any association with potential pools of participants that could be considered a conflict of interest or perception of coercion. There are two potential benefits of me being the programme creator and intervention facilitator, namely that it brought with it an assurance of the high-fidelity of WP instruction and that I had sufficient mindfulness practice experience to answer participant

questions or support them through any challenges related to it, given that my personal practice dates back almost a decade.

The second limitation revolves around the sample size being small. As discussed in the introduction, recruitment of participants coincided with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak in New Zealand which affected existing relationships with schools and forced the research team to seek other means of participant recruitment. The resulting sample was thus small and rather homogenous from a gender perspective (although there are far more females than males in the teaching profession). The size of the sample did not support disaggregation of data on demographic dimensions such as ethnicity or years of professional experience.

The third limitation of the study relates to the absence of a control group. The initial research design included a waitlist control group who were going to receive the intervention after the intervention group. Due to the small sample size and participants' expressed desire to receive the programme immediately, the control waitlist design was abandoned. For this reason, I was unable to exclude the influence of confounding variables on my findings. Randomly allocating participants to treatment or waitlist groups would have allowed me to establish in a more compelling way that the intervention caused the findings in my project.

The fourth limitation of my research design includes the exclusive use of self-report measures. Howard and Dailey (1979) argued that such measures may be confounded by response-shift bias, an instrumentation effect which occurs when participants' internal frame of reference of the construct being measured changes between the pre-test and the post-test due to my project are, however, widely used in mindfulness research, including in studies where measures such as cortisol levels (Biegel et al., 2009b) or brain imaging (Davidson et al., 2003) have been employed, and which yielded similar findings to ours. Some studies have suggested that in instances where participants might have been exposed to a concept without

fully understanding its meaning, participants may overestimate their ability at the commencement of the programme (Bernay et al., 2016; Drennan & Hyde, 2008). For example, Bernay et al. (2016) found that students might be overestimating their level of mindfulness due to a lack of sufficient knowledge about mindfulness prior to the programme. Similar results were found by Drennan and Hyde (2008) in relation to concepts such as critical thinking and research ability. According to this, response-shift bias might have influenced my respondents to overestimate their level of mindfulness or wellbeing initially. Indeed, participant responses seemed to indicate that both concepts were considered "buzzwords" prior to the programme and that their understanding was deepened thanks to WP. This might suggest that increases in mental wellbeing and mindfulness might have been higher than what our pre-test-post-test measurements showed.

There are several future directions for research that the current project gave rise to. Some are related to the limitations of the current study, whereas some have emerged through incidental findings. The first direction for further investigation relates to the burnout profile of New Zealand (NZ) teachers. As discussed above, our findings and those of Whitehead et al. (2000) found that NZ teachers have a distinct burnout profile on the MBI-ES compared to their US counterparts. Further studies can expand this line of enquiry by investigating the correlation of cultural components with MBI-ES scores.

Given that burnout is an occupational hazard, it would be useful to explore the presence and prevalence of psychosocial hazards in the workplace and their correlation to workers' burnout rates. Psychosocial hazards include job demands, availability of resources, incivility at work, bullying, or job autonomy (LaMontagne et al., 2014). Therefore, it would be useful to investigate teacher burnout rates and psychosocial hazards at a school level in order to capture a more accurate picture of what causes burnout, so that potential workplace factors such as high workload or low resources are mitigated.

The same line of inquiry can be expanded to organisational research, especially given that the rates of burnout among various professions is on the rise (Asana & Sapio Research, 2021). Of particular interest would be the application of WP in hospital settings among the nurse population. Nurses, as well as other frontline medical professionals, have been severely impacted by the pandemic with burnout rates escalating to worrying proportions (Jun et al., 2021). Within the NZ context, research examining workplace stress and burnout in nurses highlights ongoing issues for the last two decades (Tabakakis et al., 2020). A 2001 study that explored burnout in NZ nurses found that 32.9% of them were in the advanced stages of burnout (Hall, 2001), while a 2007 survey of NZ and Australian nurses found that stress was on the rise and the researchers forecasted poorer mental and physical health for nurses in years to come (Chang et al., 2007). Moloney et al. (2018) explored the relationship between burnout and NZ nurses' intention to leave the profession and concluded that workload and job emotional demands had the largest effects on burnout being a significant predictor of nurse intention to leave the profession. Tabakakis et al. (2020) explored burnout in NZ registered nurses and concluded that the practice environment, specifically exposure to negative acts such as bullying, was associated with burnout. They further noted the toll of the emotional labour involved in the profession and the fact that emotional intelligence which is essential to nurses fulfilling their role, was not taught well (Tabakakis et al., 2020). Considering these findings, and the reality of the growing nurse shortage (Tabakakis et al., 2020), reducing sources of workplace stress and burnout in nurses and equipping them with the personal resources to manage the emotional demands of their job needs to be a leading priority for healthcare providers in NZ. MBIs have been shown to be successful in reducing nurse stress and burnout and improving nurses' resilience in other countries (Aryankhesal et al., 2019; Guillaumie et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2020). To date there has been no study

exploring the effect of mindfulness training on NZ nurses, which would make investigating a WP intervention in this context all the more important.

Related to further research on the Wellbeing Protocol in general, a few different avenues are worth exploring. Studies with larger participant samples and randomised control designs would be compelling in establishing that the programme definitely contributes to positive outcomes. Further, given that WP has specifically been developed as a workplace resilience intervention, it would be recommended to measure its impact in organisational contexts, such as large or medium-sized private enterprises.

We would also recommend testing the Wellbeing Protocol's impact on anxiety and depression. The latter has been shown to be correlated with burnout and low mental wellbeing (Bianchi et al., 2016; Birchinall et al., 2019; Maslach et al., 2001) and both conditions have been predicted by the World Health Organisation to become significantly higher in the next decade (Murray et al., 1996). Depression is already a leading cause of absenteeism and lost productivity at work, costing the US economy \$44 billion per year (Stewart, 2003). Anxiety disorders have increased incidence in the adult population, with one in five adults in the US, for example, experiencing it (Kessler et al., 2005). Therefore, it would be useful to assess if the Wellbeing Protocol has an impact or not on these types of disorders.

To address the response-shift bias inherent in self-report measures (Howard & Dailey, 1979), future research could explore incorporating a retrospective pre-test design or physiological measures. The retrospective pre-test method differs from pre-test-post-test methods in that both post-test and pre-test measures are collected at the same time (Drennan & Hyde, 2008). This method is not a replacement for pre-test-post-test measures but rather a complementary tool that has been shown to be useful in identifying respondent overestimations in their initial self-appraisals (Drennan & Hyde, 2008). Regarding

physiological markers of change in stress, measures of the hormones cortisol or dehydroepiandrosterone could be utilised. Heart rate variability is another significant measure that could be employed, as it points to the connection between neural and physical default stress responses (Brosschot et al., 2017; Thayer et al., 2012).

To further expand the research of WP on educators, I recommend longitudinal studies which monitor the impact of the programme at a school level. Impact on student motivation and achievement would also contribute a valuable dimension, as previous research has shown that teacher mental distress was correlated to negative outcomes for students (Abenavoli et al., 2013; Jennings & Greenberg, 2009). Thus, if WP has a positive impact on teachers and their ability to relate to and support students, it would be valuable to capture students' perspective on their teacher, as well as their learning outcomes.

## **6.5.** Concluding Thoughts

The COVID-19 pandemic introduced new stressors to most life domains, such as longer work hours, employment shortages, supply chain disruption, and increased demands at home, to name just a few. As we head into the third year of the pandemic, these stressors have become indefinite, causing many to feel overwhelmed and heightening everyone's risk of burning out. The American Psychological Association (APA) surveyed 1,501 US adult workers in 2021 and found that 79% of respondents reported job-related stress in the month before the survey, 32% experienced emotional exhaustion, and 44% were physically fatigued, a significant 38% increase compared to 2019 (Abramson, 2022). These findings are replicated in research by the McKinsey Institute which showed that across different nations from the Americas, to Europe, and Asia-Pacific, rates of burnout have almost doubled post COVID-19 (Alexander et al., 2021). Organisations worldwide are becoming more aware that employee wellbeing is a key factor affecting retention, productivity, and engagement. The

current study could provide valuable guidance for those organisations considering the contribution of the Wellbeing Protocol to employee wellbeing and resilience.

Burnout and mental distress among teachers are also at an all-time high. According to the US National Education Association, one in three teachers reported that COVID-19 had made them more likely to resign or retire early (Flannery, 2020). The American Psychological Association highlighted that educators are at a higher risk of burnout especially given that the public continues to resist COVID-19 prevention measures (Abramson, 2022). In New Zealand, the Education Review Office (2021) found that post COVID-19, teachers and principals are exhausted, less satisfied with their job, and disappointed with the level of support available. Considering that the pandemic is ongoing at the time of this writing, it is imperative for schools to implement measures to support teacher wellbeing. This research project provides guidance for school leaders and teachers who are seeking to implement mindfulness-based programmes to reduce burnout and stress symptoms.

To conclude, the Wellbeing Protocol may be a promising programme to improve wellbeing, even under conditions of crisis and intense stress. Its compact format and flexible mode of delivery make it a suitable intervention for workplaces and school settings.

Participant reports as well as the measures employed point to positive outcomes both immediately following programme participation and at three months follow-up. This suggests that the Wellbeing Protocol might be useful in alleviating employee stress and burnout and in promoting greater resilience and mental wellbeing.

## REFERENCES

- Abenavoli, R., Harris, A., Katz, D., Gildea, S., Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. (2013). The protective effects of mindfulness against burnout among educators. *The Psychology of Education Review*, *37*(2), 57–69.
- Aboagye, M. O., Qin, J., Qayyum, A., Antwi, C. O., Jababu, Y., & Affum-Osei, E. (2018).

  Teacher burnout in pre-schools: A cross-cultural factorial validity, measurement invariance and latent mean comparison of the Maslach Burnout Inventory, Educators Survey (MBI-ES). *Children and Youth Services Review*, 94, 186–197.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.09.041
- Abramson, A. (2022). Burnout and stress are everywhere. *Monitor on Psychology*, *53*(1), 72–73.
- Ahola, K., Hakanen, J., Perhoniemi, R., & Mutanen, P. (2014). Relationship between burnout and depressive symptoms: A study using the person-centred approach. *Burnout Research*, *1*(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2014.03.003
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. M., Sochalski, J., & Silber, J. H. (2002). Hospital

  Nurse Staffing and Patient Mortality, Nurse Burnout, and Job Dissatisfaction. *JAMA*,

  288(16), 1987–1993. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.288.16.1987
- Aikens, K. A., Astin, J., Pelletier, K. R., Levanovich, K., Baase, C. M., Park, Y. Y., & Bodnar, C. M. (2014). Mindfulness goes to work: Impact of an online workplace intervention. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 56(7), 721–731. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0000000000000000000
- Akhavan, N., Walsh, N., & Goree, J. (2021). The Benefits of Mindfulness Professional

  Development for Elementary Teachers: Considerations for District and School-level

  Leaders. *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*, 6(1), 24–42.

  https://doi.org/10.32674/jsard.v6i1.2462

- Alarcon, G. M. (2011). A meta-analysis of burnout with job demands, resources, and attitudes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 79(2), 549–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2011.03.007
- Alexander, A., De Smet, A., Langstaff, M., & Ravid, D. (2021). What employees are saying about the future of remote work. McKinsey Global Institute.

  https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/what-employees-are-saying-about-the-future-of-remote-work
- Aluja, A., Blanch, A., & García, L. F. (2005). Dimensionality of the Maslach Burnout

  Inventory in School Teachers. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 21(1),
  67–76. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759.21.1.67
- Anastasiades, M. H., Kapoor, S., Wootten, J., & Lamis, D. A. (2017). Perceived stress, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation in undergraduate women with varying levels of mindfulness. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 20(1), 129–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-016-0686-5
- Ancona, M. R., & Mendelson, T. (2014). Feasibility and preliminary outcomes of a yoga and mindfulness intervention for school teachers. *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, 7(3), 156–170. https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2014.920135
- Anthony-McMann, P. E., Ellinger, A. D., Astakhova, M., & Halbesleben, J. R. B. (2017).

  Exploring Different Operationalizations of Employee Engagement and Their

  Relationships With Workplace Stress and Burnout. *Human Resource Development*Quarterly, 28(2), 163–195. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21276
- Aryankhesal, A., Mohammadibakhsh, R., Hamidi, Y., Alidoost, S., Behzadifar, M., Sohrabi, R., & Farhadi, Z. (2019). Interventions on reducing burnout in physicians and nurses:

  A systematic review. *Medical Journal of the Islamic Republic of Iran*, 33, 77.

  https://doi.org/10.34171/mjiri.33.77

- Asana, & Sapio Research. (2021). Australia and New Zealand Anatomy of Work Index 2021.

  Overcoming Disruption in a Distributed World. Asana.

  https://resources.asana.com/anatomy-of-work-anz-2021.html
- Baer, R. A., Carmody, J., & Hunsinger, M. (2012). Weekly Change in Mindfulness and Perceived Stress in a Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction Program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 68(7), 755–765. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21865
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Hopkins, J., Krietemeyer, J., & Toney, L. (2006). Using Self-Report Assessment Methods to Explore Facets of Mindfulness. *Assessment*, *13*(1), 27–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191105283504
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., Walsh, E., Duggan, D., & Williams, J. M. G. (2008). Construct Validity of the Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire in Meditating and Nonmeditating Samples. *Assessment*, 15(3), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313003
- Baicker, K., Cutler, D., & Song, Z. (2010). Workplace Wellness Programs Can Generate Savings. *Health Affairs*, 29(2), 304–311. http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0626
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The Job Demands-Resources model: State of the art.

  \*\*Journal of Managerial Psychology, 22(3), 309–328.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940710733115
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Sanz-Vergel, A. I. (2014). Burnout and Work Engagement:

  The JD–R Approach. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and*Organizational Behavior, 1(1), 389–411. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091235
- Barrett, L. F. (2017). *How emotions are made: The secret life of the brain*. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.

- Barrett, L. F., & Bliss-Moreau, E. (2009). Affect as a Psychological Primitive. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 41, 167–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)00404-8
- Barrett, L. F., & Russell, J. A. (Eds.). (2015). *The psychological construction of emotion*. The Guilford Press.
- Bartlett, L., Martin, A., Neil, A. L., Memish, K., Otahal, P., Kilpatrick, M., & Sanderson, K. (2019). A systematic review and meta-analysis of workplace mindfulness training randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 24(1), 108–126. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000146
- Bartley, T. (2012). *Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for cancer: Gently turning towards*. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Bennett, K., & Dorjee, D. (2016). The Impact of a Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction

  Course (MBSR) on Well-Being and Academic Attainment of Sixth-form Students.

  Mindfulness, 7(1), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0430-7
- Bernay, R. (2014). Mindfulness and the beginning teacher. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 39(7), 58–69. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2014v39n7.6
- Bernay, R., Graham, E., Devcich, D. A., Rix, G., & Rubie-Davies, C. M. (2016). Pause, breathe, smile: A mixed-methods study of student well-being following participation in an eight-week, locally developed mindfulness program in three New Zealand schools. *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, *9*(2), 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2016.1154474
- Beshai, S., McAlpine, L., Weare, K., & Kuyken, W. (2016). A Non-Randomised Feasibility

  Trial Assessing the Efficacy of a Mindfulness-Based Intervention for Teachers to

  Reduce Stress and Improve Well-Being. *Mindfulness*, 7(1), 198–208.

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0436-1

- Bianchi, R., Schonfeld, I. S., & Laurent, E. (2015). Burnout–depression overlap: A review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *36*, 28–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.01.004
- Bianchi, R., Schonfeld, I. S., & Laurent, E. (2016). Burnout-depression overlap: A study of New Zealand schoolteachers. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 45(3), 4–12.
- Biegel, G. M., Brown, K. W., Shapiro, S. L., & Schubert, C. M. (2009a). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for the treatment of adolescent psychiatric outpatients: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77(5), 855–866. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016241
- Biegel, G. M., Brown, K. W., Shapiro, S. L., & Schubert, C. M. (2009b). Mindfulness-based stress reduction for the treatment of adolescent psychiatric outpatients: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77(5), 855–866. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016241
- Birchinall, L., Spendlove, D., & Buck, R. (2019). In the moment: Does mindfulness hold the key to improving the resilience and wellbeing of pre-service teachers? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 86, 102919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102919
- Blase, J. J. (1986). A Qualitative Analysis of Sources of Teacher Stress: Consequences for Performance. *American Educational Research Journal*, 23(1), 13–40. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312023001013
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brewer, J. A., Garrison, K. A., & Whitfield-Gabrieli, S. (2013). What about the "Self" is Processed in the Posterior Cingulate Cortex? *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00647
- Brewer, J. A., Worhunsky, P. D., Gray, J. R., Tang, Y.-Y., Weber, J., & Kober, H. (2011).

  Meditation experience is associated with differences in default mode network activity

- and connectivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(50), 20254–20259. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1112029108
- Broderick, P. C., & Metz, S. (2009). Learning to BREATHE: A Pilot Trial of a Mindfulness Curriculum for Adolescents. *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, 2(1), 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/1754730X.2009.9715696
- Brosschot, J. F., Verkuil, B., & Thayer, J. F. (2017). Exposed to events that never happen:

  Generalized unsafety, the default stress response, and prolonged autonomic activity.

  Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 74, 287–296.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.07.019
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, R. M., & Creswell, J. D. (2007). Mindfulness: Theoretical Foundations and Evidence for its Salutary Effects. *Psychological Inquiry*, *18*(4), 211–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/10478400701598298
- Burke, R. J., & Greenglass, E. R. (2001). Hospital restructuring, work-family conflict and psychological burnout among nursing staff. *Psychology & Health*, *16*(5), 583–594. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440108405528
- Burns, D. D. (2012). Feeling good: The new mood therapy. HarperCollins.
- Burns, D. D. (2020). Feeling great: The revolutionary new treatment for depression and anxiety. PESI Publishing & Media.
- Burrows, L. (2015). Inner Alchemy: Transforming Dilemmas in Education Through Mindfulness. *Journal of Transformative Education*, *13*(2), 127–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344615569535
- Buske-Kirschbaum, A., Geiben, A., Höllig, H., Morschhäuser, E., & Hellhammer, D. (2002).

  Altered responsiveness of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympathetic adrenomedullary system to stress in patients with atopic dermatitis.

- Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 87(9), 4245–4251. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2001-010872
- Carmody, J., & Baer, R. A. (2008). Relationships between mindfulness practice and levels of mindfulness, medical and psychological symptoms and well-being in a mindfulness-based stress reduction program. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *31*(1), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-007-9130-7
- Carolan, S., Harris, P. R., & Cavanagh, K. (2017). Improving Employee Well-Being and Effectiveness: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Web-Based Psychological Interventions Delivered in the Workplace. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(7), e7583. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7583
- Carroll, A., Sanders-O'Connor, E., Forrest, K., Fynes-Clinton, S., York, A., Ziaei, M., Flynn, L., Bower, J. M., & Reutens, D. (2021). Improving Emotion Regulation, Well-being, and Neuro-cognitive Functioning in Teachers: A Matched Controlled Study Comparing the Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction and Health Enhancement Programs. *Mindfulness*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-021-01777-4
- Carson, R. L., Weiss, H. M., & Templin, T. J. (2010). Ecological momentary assessment: A research method for studying the daily lives of teachers. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *33*(2), 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2010.484548
- Carver, C. S., & Connor-Smith, J. (2010). Personality and Coping. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61(1), 679–704. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100352
- CASEL. (2021). Core SEL competencies. CASEL. https://casel.org/sel-framework/
- Castillo-Gualda, R., Herrero, M., Rodríguez-Carvajal, R., Brackett, M. A., & Fernández-Berrocal, P. (2019). The role of emotional regulation ability, personality, and burnout

- among Spanish teachers. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 26(2), 146–158. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000098
- Cayoun, B. A., Francis, S. E., & Shires, A. G. (2019). The clinical handbook of mindfulness-integrated cognitive behavior therapy: A step-by-step guide for therapists.

  https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/book/10.1002/9781119389675
- Chang, E. M. L., Bidewell, J. W., Huntington, A. D., Daly, J., Johnson, A., Wilson, H., Lambert, V. A., & Lambert, C. E. (2007). A survey of role stress, coping and health in Australian and New Zealand hospital nurses. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 44(8), 1354–1362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.06.003
- Chaskalson, M. (2011). The mindful workplace: Developing resilient individuals and resonant organizations with MBSR. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Clarke, A., Friede, T., Putz, R., Ashdown, J., Martin, S., Blake, A., Adi, Y., Parkinson, J., Flynn, P., Platt, S., & Stewart-Brown, S. (2011). Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS): Validated for teenage school students in England and Scotland. A mixed methods assessment. *BMC Public Health*, *11*(1), 487. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-487
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Cohen, S. (1986). Contrasting the Hassles Scale and the Perceived Stress Scale: Who's really measuring appraised stress? *American Psychologist*, 41(6), 716–718. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.41.6.716
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress.

  \*\*Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385–396. JSTOR.

  https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404

- Collie, R. J. (2021). COVID-19 and Teachers' Somatic Burden, Stress, and Emotional Exhaustion: Examining the Role of Principal Leadership and Workplace Buoyancy.

  AERA Open, 7, 2332858420986187. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420986187
- Cook, C. R., Miller, F. G., Fiat, A., Renshaw, T., Frye, M., Joseph, G., & Decano, P. (2017).

  Promoting Secondary Teachers' Well-Being and Intentions to Implement EvidenceBased Practices: Randomized Evaluation of the Achiever Resilience Curriculum.

  Psychology in the Schools, 54(1), 13–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.21980
- Crane, R. (2009). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy: Distinctive features. Routledge.
- Creswell, J. D. (2017). Mindfulness Interventions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 68(1), 491–516. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-042716-051139
- Crum, A. (2011). Evaluating a mindset training program to unleash the enhancing nature of stress. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2011(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.2011.65870502
- Crum, A. J., Akinola, M., Martin, A., & Fath, S. (2017). The role of stress mindset in shaping cognitive, emotional, and physiological responses to challenging and threatening stress. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping*, *30*(4), 379–395.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2016.1275585
- Crum, A. J., & Lyddy, C. J. (2014). De-Stressing Stress: The Power of Mindsets and the Art of Stressing Mindfully. In A. Ie (Ed.), *The Wiley Blackwell handbook of mindfulness* (pp. 948–964). Wiley.
- Cunningham, W. G. (1983). Teacher burnout-Solutions for the 1980s: A review of the literature. *The Urban Review*, *15*(1), 37–51. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01112341

- Dane, E., & Brummel, B. J. (2014). Examining workplace mindfulness and its relations to job performance and turnover intention. *Human Relations*, 67(1), 105–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726713487753
- Daniels, A. (2004). Listening to New Zealand nurses: A survey of intent to leave, job satisfaction, job stress, and burnout [Master's Thesis, Auckland University of Technology]. https://openrepository.aut.ac.nz/handle/10292/199
- Davidson, R. J., Kabat-Zinn, J., Schumacher, J., Rosenkranz, M., Muller, D., Santorelli, S. F.,
  Urbanowski, F., Harrington, A., Bonus, K., & Sheridan, J. F. (2003). Alterations in
  Brain and Immune Function Produced by Mindfulness Meditation: *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 65(4), 564–570. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.PSY.0000077505.67574.E3
- de Schipper, E. J., Riksen-Walraven, J. M., Geurts, S. A. E., & Derksen, J. J. L. (2008).

  General mood of professional caregivers in child care centers and the quality of caregiver–child interactions. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 42(3), 515–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2007.07.009
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). Hedonia, eudaimonia, and well-being: An introduction. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 9(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-006-9018-1
- Ditrich, T., Wiles, R., & Lovegrove, B. (Eds.). (2017). *Mindfulness and education: Research and practice*. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Dodge, R., Daly, A., Huyton, J., & Sanders, L. (2012). The challenge of defining wellbeing.

  \*International Journal of Wellbeing, 2(3), 222–235. https://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v2i3.4
- Domitrovich, C. E., Bradshaw, C. P., Berg, J. K., Pas, E. T., Becker, K. D., Musci, R.,
   Embry, D. D., & Ialongo, N. (2016). How Do School-Based Prevention Programs
   Impact Teachers? Findings from a Randomized Trial of an Integrated Classroom
   Management and Social-Emotional Program. *Prevention Science*, 17(3), 325–337.
   https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-015-0618-z

- Drennan, J., & Hyde, A. (2008). Controlling Response Shift Bias: The Use of the Retrospective Pre-Test Design in the Evaluation of a Master's Programme.

  \*Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 33(6), 699–709.
- Education Review Office. (2021). Learning in a Covid-19 World: The Impact of Covid-19 on Teachers and Principals. New Zealand Government. https://ero.govt.nz/our-research/learning-in-a-covid-19-world-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-teachers-and-principals
- Emerson, L.-M., Leyland, A., Hudson, K., Rowse, G., Hanley, P., & Hugh-Jones, S. (2017).

  Teaching Mindfulness to Teachers: A Systematic Review and Narrative Synthesis. *Mindfulness*, 8(5), 1136–1149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0691-4
- Faraci, P. (2018). Testing for the dimensionality of the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) on a sample of high school teachers. *Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, *15*(1), 50–59.
- Fay, D., & Sonnentag, S. (2002). Rethinking the effects of stressors: A longitudinal study on personal initiative. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 7(3), 221–234. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.7.3.221
- Felver, J. C., & Jennings, P. A. (2016). Applications of Mindfulness-Based Interventions in School Settings: An Introduction. *Mindfulness*, 7(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0478-4
- Flannery, M. E. (2020, August 14). Safety Concerns Over COVID-19 Driving Some

  Educators Out of the Profession. NEA. https://www.nea.org/advocating-forchange/new-from-nea/safety-concerns-over-covid-19-driving-some-educators-out
- Flook, L., Goldberg, S. B., Pinger, L., Bonus, K., & Davidson, R. J. (2013). Mindfulness for Teachers: A Pilot Study to Assess Effects on Stress, Burnout, and Teaching Efficacy.

  Mind, Brain, and Education, 7(3), 182–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12026

- Flook, L., Smalley, S. L., Kitil, M. J., Galla, B. M., Kaiser-Greenland, S., Locke, J., Ishijima, E., & Kasari, C. (2010). Effects of Mindful Awareness Practices on Executive Functions in Elementary School Children. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 26(1), 70–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377900903379125
- Franco, C., Mañas, I., Cangas, A. J., Moreno, E., & Gallego, J. (2010). Reducing Teachers'

  Psychological Distress through a Mindfulness Training Program. *The Spanish Journal*of Psychology, 13(2), 655–666. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600002328
- Frank, J. L., Reibel, D., Broderick, P., Cantrell, T., & Metz, S. (2015). The Effectiveness of Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction on Educator Stress and Well-Being: Results from a Pilot Study. *Mindfulness*, 6(2), 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-013-0246-2
- Fredrickson, B. (2009). *Positivity* (1st ed). Crown Publishers.
- Fredrickson, B. (2014). Love 2.0: Creating happiness and health in moments of connection (First Plume printing). Plume.
- Fredrickson, B. L., Cohn, M. A., Coffey, K. A., Pek, J., & Finkel, S. M. (2008). Open hearts build lives: Positive emotions, induced through loving-kindness meditation, build consequential personal resources. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 95(5), 1045–1062. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013262
- Freudenberger, H. J. (1989). Burnout. *Loss, Grief & Care*, *3*(1–2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1300/J132v03n01\_01
- Fried, Y., Shirom, A., Gilboa, S., & Cooper, C. L. (2013). The Mediating Effects of Job

  Satisfaction and Propensity to Leave on Role Stress-Job Performance Relationships:

  Combining Meta-Analysis and Structural Equation Modeling. In C. L. Cooper (Ed.),

  From Stress to Wellbeing Volume 1: The Theory and Research on Occupational

- *Stress and Wellbeing* (pp. 231–253). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137310651 11
- Gabriel, K. P., & Aguinis, H. (2021). How to Prevent and Combat Employee Burnout and Create Healthier Workplaces During Crises and Beyond. *Business Horizons*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2021.02.037
- Gargiulo, R. A., & Stokes, M. A. (2009). Subjective Well-Being as an Indicator for Clinical Depression. *Social Indicators Research*, 92(3), 517–527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9301-0
- Gerber, E. B., Whitebook, M., & Weinstein, R. S. (2007). At the heart of child care:

  Predictors of teacher sensitivity in center-based child care. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 22(3), 327–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2006.12.003
- Gerritsen, J. (2021a, September 30). "We are definitely going to be short": Hundreds more teachers needed in 2022. *Newshub*. https://www.newshub.co.nz/home/new-zealand/2021/09/we-are-definitely-going-to-be-short-hundreds-more-teachers-needed-in-2022.html
- Gerritsen, J. (2021b, December 2). Teacher shortage: Schools make do but "it's not going to last." *RNZ*. https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/national/436279/teacher-shortage-schools-make-do-but-it-s-not-going-to-last
- Gilliam, W. S., & Shahar, G. (2006). Preschool and Child Care Expulsion and Suspension:

  Rates and Predictors in One State. *Infants & Young Children*, 19(3), 228–245.
- Giorgi, G., Lecca, L. I., Alessio, F., Finstad, G. L., Bondanini, G., Lulli, L. G., Arcangeli, G., & Mucci, N. (2020). COVID-19-Related Mental Health Effects in the Workplace: A Narrative Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(21), 7857. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17217857

- Gold, E., Smith, A., Hopper, I., Herne, D., Tansey, G., & Hulland, C. (2010). Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) for Primary School Teachers. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 19(2), 184–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-009-9344-0
- Golkar, A., Johansson, E., Kasahara, M., Osika, W., Perski, A., & Savic, I. (2014). The Influence of Work-Related Chronic Stress on the Regulation of Emotion and on Functional Connectivity in the Brain. *PLOS ONE*, *9*(9), e104550. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0104550
- Good, D. J., Lyddy, C. J., Glomb, T. M., Bono, J. E., Brown, K. W., Duffy, M. K., Baer, R. A., Brewer, J. A., & Lazar, S. W. (2016). Contemplating Mindfulness at Work: An Integrative Review. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 114–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315617003
- Gouda, S., Luong, M. T., Schmidt, S., & Bauer, J. (2016). Students and Teachers Benefit from Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction in a School-Embedded Pilot Study.

  Frontiers in Psychology, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00590
- Goyal, M., Singh, S., Sibinga, E. M. S., Gould, N. F., Rowland-Seymour, A., Sharma, R., Berger, Z., Sleicher, D., Maron, D. D., Shihab, H. M., Ranasinghe, P. D., Linn, S., Saha, S., Bass, E. B., & Haythornthwaite, J. A. (2014). Meditation Programs for Psychological Stress and Well-being: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 174(3), 357–368.
  - https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.13018
- Grégoire, S., Lachance, L., & Taylor, G. (2015). Mindfulness, mental health and emotion regulation among workers. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, *5*(4), 96–119. https://doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v5i4.444
- Gu, J., Strauss, C., Crane, C., Barnhofer, T., Karl, A., Cavanagh, K., & Kuyken, W. (2016).

  Examining the factor structure of the 39-item and 15-item versions of the Five Facet

- Mindfulness Questionnaire before and after mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for people with recurrent depression. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(7), 791–802. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000263
- Guidetti, G., Converso, D., Loera, B., & Viotti, S. (2018). Concerns about change and employee wellbeing: The moderating role of social support. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 30(3), 216–228. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-09-2017-0083
- Guillaumie, L., Boiral, O., & Champagne, J. (2017). A mixed-methods systematic review of the effects of mindfulness on nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 73(5), 1017–1034. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13176
- Gunaratana, B. H. (2011). *Eight Mindful Steps to Happiness: Walking the Buddha's Path.*Wisdom Publications.
- Hafenbrack, A. C., Kinias, Z., & Barsade, S. G. (2014). Debiasing the Mind Through

  Meditation: Mindfulness and the Sunk-Cost Bias. *Psychological Science*, 25(2), 369–

  376. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613503853
- Hall, L. (2001). Burnout: Results of an empirical study of New Zealand nurses.

  \*Contemporary Nurse\*, 11(1), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.11.1.71
- Hamre, B. K., Pianta, R. C., Downer, J. T., & Mashburn, A. J. (2008). Teachers' Perceptions of Conflict with Young Students: Looking beyond Problem Behaviors. *Social Development*, 17(1), 115–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00418.x
- Harmsen, R., Helms-Lorenz, M., Maulana, R., & Veen, K. van. (2018). The relationship between beginning teachers' stress causes, stress responses, teaching behaviour and attrition. *Teachers and Teaching*, 24(6), 626–643. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1465404

- Henry, P. C. (2005). Life Stresses, Explanatory Style, Hopelessness, and Occupational Class.
  International Journal of Stress Management, 12(3), 241–256.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/1072-5245.12.3.241
- Hewitt, P. L., Flett, G. L., & Mosher, S. W. (1992). The Perceived Stress Scale: Factor structure and relation to depression symptoms in a psychiatric sample. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, *14*(3), 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00962631
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress.

  \*American Psychologist, 44(3), 513–524. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2002). Social and Psychological Resources and Adaptation. *Review of General Psychology*, 6(4), 307–324. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.6.4.307
- Hobfoll, S. E., Freedy, J., Lane, C., & Geller, P. (1990). Conservation of Social Resources:

  Social Support Resource Theory. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 7(4),
  465–478. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407590074004
- Hofstede, G. H. (1984). *Culture's consequences: International differences in work-related values* (Abridged ed). Sage Publications.
- Hofstede Insights. (2022). *Compare countries*. Hofstede Insights. https://www.hofstede-insights.com/fi/product/compare-countries/
- Honkonen, T., Ahola, K., Pertovaara, M., Isometsä, E., Kalimo, R., Nykyri, E., Aromaa, A., & Lönnqvist, J. (2006). The association between burnout and physical illness in the general population—Results from the Finnish Health 2000 Study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 61(1), 59–66.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005.10.002

- Howard, G. S., & Dailey, P. R. (1979). Response-shift bias: A source of contamination of self-report measures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 64(2), 144–150. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.64.2.144
- Huberman, A. M., Grounauer, M.-M., & Marti, J. (1993). *The lives of teachers*. Teachers College Press; Cassell.
- Hue, M., & Lau, N. (2015). Promoting well-being and preventing burnout in teacher education: A pilot study of a mindfulness-based programme for pre-service teachers in Hong Kong. *Teacher Development*, 19(3), 381–401.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2015.1049748
- Hülsheger, U. R., van Gils, S., & Walkowiak, A. (2021). The regulating role of mindfulness in enacted workplace incivility: An experience sampling study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 106(8), 1250–1265. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000824
- Hultell, D., Melin, B., & Gustavsson, J. P. (2013). Getting personal with teacher burnout: A longitudinal study on the development of burnout using a person-based approach.
   Teaching and Teacher Education, 32, 75–86.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2013.01.007
- Hunter, S. C., Houghton, S., & Wood, L. (2015). Positive Mental Well-being in Australian Adolescents: Evaluating the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale. *The Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, 32(2), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1017/edp.2015.12
- Huppert, F. A. (2009). Psychological Well-being: Evidence Regarding its Causes and Consequences†. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 1(2), 137–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-0854.2009.01008.x

- Huppert, F. A., & Whittington, J. E. (2003). Evidence for the independence of positive and negative well-being: Implications for quality of life assessment. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 8(1), 107–122. https://doi.org/10.1348/135910703762879246
- Hwang, Y.-S., Bartlett, B., Greben, M., & Hand, K. (2017). A systematic review of mindfulness interventions for in-service teachers: A tool to enhance teacher wellbeing and performance. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 64, 26–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.01.015
- Hwang, Y.-S., Noh, J.-E., Medvedev, O. N., & Singh, N. N. (2019). Effects of a Mindfulness-Based Program for Teachers on Teacher Wellbeing and Person-Centered Teaching Practices. *Mindfulness*, 10(11), 2385–2402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-019-01236-1
- Janssen, M., Heerkens, Y., Kuijer, W., Heijden, B. van der, & Engels, J. (2018). Effects of Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction on employees' mental health: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, 13(1), e0191332. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191332
- Jennings, P. A. (2011). Promoting teachers' social and emotional competencies to support performance and reduce burnout. In A. Cohan & A. Honigsfeld (Eds.), *Breaking the mold of pre-service and inservice teacher education: Innovative and successful practices for the 21st century* (pp. 133–143). Rowman & Littlefield Education.
- Jennings, P. A. (2015a). *Mindfulness for teachers: Simple skills for peace and productivity in the classroom*. W.W. Norton & Company.
- Jennings, P. A. (2015b). Early Childhood Teachers' Well-Being, Mindfulness, and Self-Compassion in Relation to Classroom Quality and Attitudes Towards Challenging Students. *Mindfulness*, 6(4), 732–743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-014-0312-4
- Jennings, P. A. (2016). CARE for Teachers: A Mindfulness-Based Approach to Promoting Teachers' Social and Emotional Competence and Well-Being. In K. A. Schonert-

- Reichl & R. W. Roeser (Eds.), *Handbook of Mindfulness in Education: Integrating Theory and Research into Practice* (pp. 133–148). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-3506-2\_9
- Jennings, P. A., Frank, J. L., Snowberg, K. E., Coccia, M. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2013).
  Improving classroom learning environments by Cultivating Awareness and Resilience in Education (CARE): Results of a randomized controlled trial. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 28(4), 374–390. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000035
- Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2009). The Prosocial Classroom: Teacher Social and Emotional Competence in Relation to Student and Classroom Outcomes. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 491–525. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654308325693
- Jennings, P. A., Minnici, A., & Yoder, N. (2019). Creating the working conditions to enhance teacher social and emotional well-being. In D. Osher, M. J. Mayer, R. J. Jagers, K. Kendziora, & L. Wood (Eds.), *Keeping students safe and helping them thrive: A collaborative handbook on school safety, mental health, and wellness* (Vol. 1, pp. 210–239). Praeger.

https://books.google.co.nz/books?hl=en&lr=&id=\_9aVDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=P A210&dq=Creating+the+working+conditions+to+enhance+teacher+social+and+emot ional+well-

- being.&ots=IBDjSEPY7D&sig=uYROV9ekGt6JTJKtn\_p0dREKJkM#v=onepage&q =Creating%20the%20working%20conditions%20to%20enhance%20teacher%20socia 1%20and%20emotional%20well-being.&f=false
- Jha, A. P., Stanley, E. A., Kiyonaga, A., Wong, L., & Gelfand, L. (2010). Examining the protective effects of mindfulness training on working memory capacity and affective experience. *Emotion*, 10(1), 54–64. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018438

- Johnson, S. M., Kraft, M. A., & Papay, J. P. (2012). How Context Matters in High-Need Schools: The Effects of Teachers' Working Conditions on Their Professional Satisfaction and Their Students' Achievement. *Teachers College Record*, *114*(10), 1–39.
- Jun, J., Ojemeni, M. M., Kalamani, R., Tong, J., & Crecelius, M. L. (2021). Relationship between nurse burnout, patient and organizational outcomes: Systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 119, 103933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103933
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2005). Wherever you go, there you are: Mindfulness meditation in everyday life. Hyperion.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2013). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness (Revised and updated edition). Bantam Books.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2016). The Stress Reduction Clinic. *Mindfulness*, 7(3), 775–776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-016-0503-2
- Karlin, D. S. (2018). Mindfulness in the workplace. *Strategic HR Review*, *17*(2), 76–80. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-11-2017-0077
- Kemeny, M. E., Foltz, C., Cavanagh, J. F., Cullen, M., Giese-Davis, J., Jennings, P. A.,
  Rosenberg, E. L., Gillath, O., Shaver, P. R., Wallace, B. A., & Ekman, P. (2012).
  Contemplative/emotion training reduces negative emotional behavior and promotes
  prosocial responses. *Emotion*, 12(2), 338–350. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026118
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Prevalence, Severity, and Comorbidity of Twelve-month DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.617

- Keyes, C. L. M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: A complementary strategy for improving national mental health. *American Psychologist*, 62(2), 95–108. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.2.95
- Kim, H., & Kao, D. (2014). A meta-analysis of turnover intention predictors among U.S. child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 47, 214–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.09.015
- Koutsimani, P., Montgomery, A., & Georganta, K. (2019). The Relationship Between Burnout, Depression, and Anxiety: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00284
- Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2015). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research (5th ed). SAGE.
- Kunz-Ebrecht, S. R., Mohamed-Ali, V., Feldman, P. J., Kirschbaum, C., & Steptoe, A.
  (2003). Cortisol responses to mild psychological stress are inversely associated with proinflammatory cytokines. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 17(5), 373–383.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-1591(03)00029-1
- Kyriacou, C. (1987). Teacher stress and burnout: An international review. *Educational Research*, 29(2), 146–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/0013188870290207
- LaMontagne, A. D., Martin, A., Page, K. M., Reavley, N. J., Noblet, A. J., Milner, A. J., Keegel, T., & Smith, P. M. (2014). Workplace mental health: Developing an integrated intervention approach. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14(1), 131. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-14-131
- Landy, F. J., & Conte, J. M. (2013). Work in the 21st century: An introduction to industrial and organizational psychology (4. ed). Wiley.

- Le Fevre, M., Matheny, J., & Kolt, G. S. (2003). Eustress, distress, and interpretation in occupational stress. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *18*(7), 726–744. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940310502412
- Le Nguyen, K. D., & Fredrickson, B. (2018). Positive Emotions and Well-being. In D. Dunn (Ed.), *Positive psychology: Established and emerging issues* (pp. 29–46). Taylor and Francis.

  https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlab k&AN=1588512
- Leiter, M. P., Day, A., & Price, L. (2015). Attachment styles at work: Measurement, collegial relationships, and burnout. *Burnout Research*, 2(1), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2015.02.003
- Linton, M.-J., Dieppe, P., & Medina-Lara, A. (2016). Review of 99 self-report measures for assessing well-being in adults: Exploring dimensions of well-being and developments over time. *BMJ Open*, 6(7), e010641. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010641
- Lizano, E. L., & Mor Barak, M. (2015). Job burnout and affective wellbeing: A longitudinal study of burnout and job satisfaction among public child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *55*, 18–28.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.05.005
- Lomas, T., Medina, J. C., Ivtzan, I., Rupprecht, S., & Eiroa-Orosa, F. J. (2017). The impact of mindfulness on the wellbeing and performance of educators: A systematic review of the empirical literature. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *61*, 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.008
- Lund, S., Madgavkar, A., Manyika, J., Smit, S., Ellingrud, K., Meaney, M., & Robinson, O. (2021). *The future of work after COVID-19* (The Postpandemic Economy). McKinsey Global Institute.

- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). Maslach Burnout Inventory—ES Form.
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1986). Maslach Burnout Inventory—ES Form.
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W. B., & Leiter, M. P. (2001). Job Burnout. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 397–422. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397
- McCay, E., Frankford, R., Beanlands, H., Sidani, S., Gucciardi, E., Blidner, R., Danaher, A., Carter, C., & Aiello, A. (2016). Evaluation of Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy to Reduce Psychological Distress and to Promote Well-Being: A Pilot Study in a Primary Health Care Setting. SAGE Open, 6(3), 2158244016669547.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244016669547
- McEwen, B. S. (2004). Protection and damage from acute and chronic stress: Allostasis and allostatic overload and relevance to the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders.

  \*\*Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1032, 1–7.\*\*

  http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.auckland.ac.nz/10.1196/annals.1314.001
- McKinsey & Company, & Lean In. (2021). Women in the Workplace 2021. https://womenintheworkplace.com/
- McMillan, J. H. (2004). *Educational research: Fundamentals for the consumer* (4th ed).

  Pearson/A and B.
- Meiklejohn, J., Phillips, C., Freedman, M. L., Griffin, M. L., Biegel, G., Roach, A., Frank, J.,
  Burke, C., Pinger, L., Soloway, G., Isberg, R., Sibinga, E., Grossman, L., & Saltzman,
  A. (2012). Integrating Mindfulness Training into K-12 Education: Fostering the
  Resilience of Teachers and Students. *Mindfulness*, 3(4), 291–307.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-012-0094-5
- Milfont, T. L., Denny, S., Ameratunga, S., Robinson, E., & Merry, S. (2008). Burnout and Wellbeing: Testing the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory in New Zealand Teachers.

- Social Indicators Research, 89(1), 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-007-9229-9
- Mills, J., Ramachenderan, J., Chapman, M., Greenland, R., & Agar, M. (2020). Prioritising workforce wellbeing and resilience: What COVID-19 is reminding us about self-care and staff support. *Palliative Medicine*, *34*(9), 1137–1139. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216320947966
- Molloy Elreda, L., Jennings, P. A., DeMauro, A. A., Mischenko, P. P., & Brown, J. L. (2019). Protective Effects of Interpersonal Mindfulness for Teachers' Emotional Supportiveness in the Classroom. *Mindfulness*, 10(3), 537–546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0996-y
- Moloney, W., Boxall, P., Parsons, M., & Cheung, G. (2018). Factors predicting Registered Nurses' intentions to leave their organization and profession: A job demands-resources framework. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(4), 864–875. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13497
- Montgomery, C., & Rupp, A. A. (2005). A Meta-Analysis for Exploring the Diverse Causes and Effects of Stress in Teachers. *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue*Canadienne de l'éducation, 28(3), 458–486. https://doi.org/10.2307/4126479
- Murray, C. J. L., Lopez, A. D., Harvard School of Public Health, World Health Organization, & World Bank (Eds.). (1996). The global burden of disease: A comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020. Published by the Harvard School of Public Health on behalf of the World Health Organization and the World Bank; Distributed by Harvard University Press.
- n.a. (2021, December 7). Covid 19 Delta outbreak: Principals, teachers more stressed and exhausted than last year. *NZ Herald*. https://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/covid-19-delta-

- outbreak-principals-teachers-more-stressed-and-exhausted-than-last-year-ero-survey/JX52K7KFY6UYFNID6TM7T353SQ/
- Napoli, M. (2004). Mindfulness Training for Teachers: A Pilot Program. *Complementary Health Practice Review*, 9(1), 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076167503253435
- Narasimhan, M., Allotey, P., & Hardon, A. (2019). Self care interventions to advance health and wellbeing: A conceptual framework to inform normative guidance. *BMJ*, *365*, 1688. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.1688
- New Zealand Educational Institute, & Deakin University. (2020). New Zealand Primary and

  Area School Teachers' and Principals' occupational Hauora / Health and Wellbeing

  Survey Report 2019.

  https://www.nzei.org.nz/NZEI/Media/Releases/2020/08/New\_teacher\_and\_principal\_
- New Zealand Government. (2021, December 22). *History of the COVID-19 Alert System*.

  Unite against COVID-19. https://covid19.govt.nz/about-our-covid-19-response/history-of-the-covid-19-alert-system/

wellbeing\_findings\_deeply\_concerning.aspx

- Ng Fat, L., Scholes, S., Boniface, S., Mindell, J., & Stewart-Brown, S. (2017). Evaluating and establishing national norms for mental wellbeing using the short Warwick— Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS): Findings from the Health Survey for England. *Quality of Life Research*, 26(5), 1129–1144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-016-1454-8
- Osher, D., Sprague, J., Weissberg, R. P., Axelrod, J., Keenan, S., & Kendziora, K. T. (2008). A comprehensive approach to promoting social, emotional, and academic growth in contemporary schools. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), *Best practices in school psychology, V* (5th ed., Vol. 5, pp. 1263–1278). National Association of School Psychologists.

- Ozamiz-Etxebarria, N., Berasategi Santxo, N., Idoiaga Mondragon, N., & Dosil Santamaría, M. (2021). The Psychological State of Teachers During the COVID-19 Crisis: The Challenge of Returning to Face-to-Face Teaching. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 3861. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.620718
- Philipsen, B., Tondeur, J., Pareja Roblin, N., Vanslambrouck, S., & Zhu, C. (2019).

  Improving teacher professional development for online and blended learning: A systematic meta-aggregative review. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 67(5), 1145–1174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09645-8
- Pines, A. M. (2002). Teacher Burnout: A psychodynamic existential perspective. *Teachers and Teaching*, 8(2), 121–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540600220127331
- Porges, S. W. (2017). The pocket guide to polyvagal theory: The transformative power of feeling safe. W. W. Norton & Company.
- Postholm, M. B. (2012). Teachers' professional development: A theoretical review. *Educational Research*, 54(4), 405–429.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2012.734725
- Poulin, P. A., Mackenzie, C. S., Soloway, G., & Karayolas, E. (2008). Mindfulness training as an evidenced-based approach to reducing stress and promoting well-being among human services professionals. *International Journal of Health Promotion and Education*, 46(2), 72–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/14635240.2008.10708132
- Pressley, T. (2021). Factors Contributing to Teacher Burnout During COVID-19.

  \*Educational Researcher\*, 0013189X211004138.

  https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X211004138
- Rafferty, A. E., & Griffin, M. A. (2006). Perceptions of Organizational Change: A Stress and Coping Perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *91*(5), 1154–1162.

- Roeser, R. W. (2014). The Emergence of Mindfulness-Based Interventions in Educational Settings. In S. A. Karabenick & T. C. Urdan (Eds.), *Motivational Interventions* (Vol. 18, pp. 379–419). Emerald.
- Roeser, R. W., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Jha, A., Cullen, M., Wallace, L., Wilensky, R., Oberle, E., Thomson, K., Taylor, C., & Harrison, J. (2013). Mindfulness training and reductions in teacher stress and burnout: Results from two randomized, waitlist-control field trials. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 105(3), 787–804. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032093
- Roeser, R. W., Skinner, E., Beers, J., & Jennings, P. A. (2012). Mindfulness Training and Teachers' Professional Development: An Emerging Area of Research and Practice. 

  Child Development Perspectives, 6(2), 167–173. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00238.x
- Ruotsalainen, J. H., Verbeek, J. H., Mariné, A., & Serra, C. (2014). Preventing occupational stress in healthcare workers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002892.pub3
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2001). On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 141–141.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (1996). Stress, Glucocorticoids, and Damage to the Nervous System: The Current State of Confusion. *Stress*, *I*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3109/10253899609001092
- Scaria, D., Brandt, M. L., Kim, E., & Lindeman, B. (2020). What is wellbeing? In E. Kim & B. Lindeman (Eds.), *Wellbeing* (pp. 3–10). Springer.
- Schaufeli, W. B. (2017). Burnout: A Short Socio-Cultural History. In S. Neckel, A. K. Schaffner, & G. Wagner (Eds.), *Burnout, Fatigue, Exhaustion: An Interdisciplinary*

- *Perspective on a Modern Affliction* (pp. 105–127). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52887-8 5
- Schonfeld, I. S. (2001). Stress in 1st-Year Women Teachers: The Context of Social Support and Coping. *Genetic, Social & General Psychology Monographs*, 127(2), 133.
- Schonfeld, I. S., Bianchi, R., & Luehring-Jones, P. (2017). Consequences of Job Stress for the Mental Health of Teachers. In T. M. McIntyre, S. E. McIntyre, & D. J. Francis (Eds.), *Educator Stress: An Occupational Health Perspective* (pp. 55–75). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53053-6\_3
- Schussler, D. L., Jennings, P. A., Sharp, J. E., & Frank, J. L. (2016). Improving Teacher

  Awareness and Well-Being Through CARE: A Qualitative Analysis of the

  Underlying Mechanisms. *Mindfulness*, 7(1), 130–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0422-7
- Segal, Z. V., Williams, J. M. G., Teasdale, J. D., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (2018). *Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression* (Second edition, paperback edition). The Guilford Press.
- Seth, A. K. (2015). The Cybernetic Bayesian Brain—From Interoceptive Inference to

  Sensorimotor Contingencies. In T. Metzinger & J. M. Windt (Eds.), *Open Mind* (Vol. 35). Mind group. https://open-mind.net/collection.pdf
- Seth, A. K. (2016, November). The real problem. *Aeon*. https://aeon.co/essays/the-hard-problem-of-consciousness-is-a-distraction-from-the-real-one
- Skaalvik, E., & Skaalvik, S. (2015). Job Satisfaction, Stress and Coping Strategies in the Teaching Profession—What Do Teachers Say? *International Education Studies*, 8(3), p181. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v8n3p181

- Sokal, L. J., Trudel, L. E., & Babb, J. (2020a). Canadian teachers' attitudes toward change, efficacy, and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Educational Research Open*, 1, 100016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedro.2020.100016
- Sokal, L. J., Trudel, L. G. E., & Babb, J. C. (2020b). Supporting Teachers in Times of Change: The Job Demands- Resources Model and Teacher Burnout During the COVID-19 Pandemic. https://doi.org/10.11114/ijce.v3i2.4931
- Spector, P. E. (1998). *Job satisfaction: Application, assessment, causes, and consequences.*Sage.
- Spilt, J. L., Koomen, H. M. Y., & Thijs, J. T. (2011). Teacher Wellbeing: The Importance of Teacher–Student Relationships. *Educational Psychology Review*, 23(4), 457–477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-011-9170-y
- Stahl, B., & Goldstein, E. (2010). *A mindfulness-based stress reduction workbook*. New Harbinger Publications.
- Stats NZ Tauranga Aoteroa. (2020). COVID-19's impact on women and work.

  https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/covid-19s-impact-on-women-and-work
- Stewart, W. F. (2003). Cost of Lost Productive Work Time Among US Workers With Depression. *JAMA*, 289(23), 3135. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.289.23.3135
- Stewart-Brown, S., Tennant, A., Tennant, R., Platt, S., Parkinson, J., & Weich, S. (2009).

  Internal construct validity of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale

  (WEMWBS): A Rasch analysis using data from the Scottish Health Education

  Population Survey. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 7(1), 15.

  https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-7-15
- Strahler, J., Skoluda, N., Kappert, M. B., & Nater, U. M. (2017). Simultaneous measurement of salivary cortisol and alpha-amylase: Application and recommendations.

- Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 83, 657–677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.08.015
- Sutton, R. E., & Wheatley, K. F. (2003). Teachers' Emotions and Teaching: A Review of the Literature and Directions for Future Research. *Educational Psychology Review*, *15*(4), 327–358. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026131715856
- Tabakakis, C., McAllister, M., & Bradshaw, J. (2020). Burnout in New Zealand registered nurses: The role of workplace factors. *Kai Tiaki Nursing Research*, 11(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.620105302099348
- Taylor, C., Harrison, J., Haimovitz, K., Oberle, E., Thomson, K., Schonert-Reichl, K., & Roeser, R. W. (2016). Examining Ways That a Mindfulness-Based Intervention Reduces Stress in Public School Teachers: A Mixed-Methods Study. *Mindfulness*, 7(1), 115–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-015-0425-4
- Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., Weich, S., Parkinson, J., Secker, J., & Stewart-Brown, S. (2007a). The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 5(1), 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-5-63
- Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., Weich, S., Parkinson, J., Secker, J., & Stewart-Brown, S. (2007b). The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 5(1), 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-5-63
- Thayer, J. F., Åhs, F., Fredrikson, M., Sollers, J. J., & Wager, T. D. (2012). A meta-analysis of heart rate variability and neuroimaging studies: Implications for heart rate variability as a marker of stress and health. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(2), 747–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.11.009

- Toma, G. F., Rubie-Davies, C. M., & Le Fevre, D. (under reviewa). A workplace wellness program protects against COVID-19 effects on mental wellbeing. *The Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*.
- Toma, G. F., Rubie-Davies, C. M., & Le Fevre, D. (under reviewb). Decreasing stress and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: A quantitative analysis. *The Journal of Occupational Health*.
- Townshend, K., Jordan, Z., Stephenson, M., & Tsey, K. (2016). The effectiveness of mindful parenting programs in promoting parents' and children's wellbeing: A systematic review. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, *14*(3), 139–180. https://doi.org/10.11124/JBISRIR-2016-2314
- Tsouloupas, C. N., Carson, R. L., Matthews, R., Grawitch, M. J., & Barber, L. K. (2010). Exploring the association between teachers' perceived student misbehaviour and emotional exhaustion: The importance of teacher efficacy beliefs and emotion regulation. *Educational Psychology*, 30(2), 173–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410903494460
- Tucker, P., & Czapla, C. S. (2021). Post-COVID Stress Disorder: Another Emerging

  Consequence of the Global Pandemic. *Psychiatric Times*, *38*(1).

  https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/post-covid-stress-disorder-emerging-consequence-global-pandemic
- United Nations. (2020). *Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on Women* (p. 21). United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women), United Nations Secretariat. https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2020/04/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women

- Vargas Rubilar, N., & Oros, L. B. (2021). Stress and Burnout in Teachers During Times of Pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 5586. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.756007
- Virgili, M. (2015). Mindfulness-Based Interventions Reduce Psychological Distress in Working Adults: A Meta-Analysis of Intervention Studies. *Mindfulness*, 6(2), 326–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-013-0264-0
- Westman, M., Hobfoll, S. E., Chen, S., Davidson, O. B., & Laski, S. (2004). Organizational stress through the lens of conservation of resources (COR) theory. In P. L. Perrewe & D. C. Ganster (Eds.), *Exploring Interpersonal Dynamics* (Vol. 4, pp. 167–220). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1479-3555(04)04005-3
- Whitehead, A., Ryba, K., & O'Driscoll, M. (2000). Burnout among New Zealand Primary School Teachers. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 29(2), 52–52.
- Williams, J. M. G., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (2011). Mindfulness: Diverse perspectives on its meaning, origins, and multiple applications at the intersection of science and dharma. *Contemporary Buddhism*, 12(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/14639947.2011.564811
- Williams, M., & Penman, D. (2011). *Mindfulness: An eight-week plan for finding peace in a frantic world*. Rodale Books.
- Wink, M. N., LaRusso, M. D., & Smith, R. L. (2021). Teacher empathy and students with problem behaviors: Examining teachers' perceptions, responses, relationships, and burnout. *Psychology in the Schools*. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22516
- Wong, V. W., Ruble, L. A., Yu, Y., & McGrew, J. H. (2017). Too Stressed to Teach?

  Teaching Quality, Student Engagement, and IEP Outcomes. *Exceptional Children*,

  83(4), 412–427. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402917690729

- World Health Organization. (2019, May 28). Burn-out an "occupational phenomenon":

  International Classification of Diseases. https://www.who.int/news/item/28-05-2019-burn-out-an-occupational-phenomenon-international-classification-of-diseases
- World Health Organization. (2020, March 11). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19—11 March 2020. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020
- Yousef, S. (2021). *Anatomy of Work Index 2021*. Asana & University of California Berkely. https://asana.com/resources/anatomy-of-work-summary
- Zee, M., & Koomen, H. M. Y. (2016). Teacher Self-Efficacy and Its Effects on Classroom Processes, Student Academic Adjustment, and Teacher Well-Being: A Synthesis of 40 Years of Research. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 981–1015. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626801
- Zhang, X., Song, Y., Jiang, T., Ding, N., & Shi, T. (2020). Interventions to reduce burnout of physicians and nurses: An overview of systematic reviews and meta-analyses.
  Medicine, 99(26), e20992. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000000020992
- Zorn, J. V., Schür, R. R., Boks, M. P., Kahn, R. S., Joëls, M., & Vinkers, C. H. (2017).
  Cortisol stress reactivity across psychiatric disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 77, 25–36.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.11.036

# **APPENDICES**

## **Appendix 1. Open Ended Survey Questions at All Data Collection Times**

## Time 1. Before the Intervention

- 1. What do you find most challenging in your life now? Please explain/give examples.
- 2. How do you try to solve your problems generally? Please explain/give examples.
- 3. How satisfied are you with your life now? Please explain/give examples.
- 4. Is there anything else you'd like to share?

## Time 2. Immediately After the Intervention

- 1. Has the mindfulness programme had any effect on your life at work or at home? Please explain/give examples.
- 2. Has the mindfulness programme had any effect on the challenges you had in your life? Please explain/give examples.
- 3. How satisfied are you with your life now? Please explain/give examples.
- 4. Is there anything else you'd like to share?

### Time 3. Three Months After the Intervention

- 1. Do you still practice any technique learnt in the mindfulness programme? If yes, please explain/give examples.
- 2. Has the mindfulness programme had any effect on your life at work or at home? Please explain/give examples.
- 3. How satisfied are you with your life now? Please explain/give examples.
- 4. Is there anything else you'd like to share?

### **Appendix 2. Focus Group Questions**

- 1. Think back at the entire programme. What went particularly well?
- 2. What needs improvement?
- 3. What is different in your life, if anything, as a result of this programme?
- 4. What words or feelings come to mind when you think about this programme?
- 5. If you were inviting a friend to participate in this programme, what would you say in the invitation?
- 6. Think back before the course. Has your understanding of mindfulness changed since then? If yes, how? And why do you think this might be the case?
- 7. Think back before the course. Has your understanding of wellbeing changed since then? If yes, how? And why do you think this might be the case?
- 8. Think back before the course. Has your understanding of stress changed since then? If yes, how? And why do you think this might be the case?
- 9. Is there anything we should have talked about but didn't?

### Probing questions/statements to be used if needed (Krueger & Casey, 2015)

- Would you explain further?
- Would you give me an example of what you mean?
- Would you say more?
- Is there anything else?
- I don't understand.

## **Appendix 3. Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form**

School of Learning Development and Professional Practice Faculty of Education The University of Auckland H Block, Gate 3 74 Epsom Avenue, Epsom Auckland 1023, New Zealand





### Participant Information Sheet

**Project Title:** The Wellbeing Protocol - Effects on Teacher Stress, Burnout,

And Wellbeing During the Covid-19 Outbreak

**Principal Investigator:** Prof. Christine Rubie-Davies

**Co-investigator**: Prof. Deidre Le Fevre

**Student researcher**: Georgi Toma

#### **Researcher introduction**

My name is Georgi Toma and I am a PhD student in the School of Learning

Development and Professional Practice, in the Faculty of Education and Social Work at The

University of Auckland.

### Project description and invitation

I would like to invite you to take part in a research study on the impact of a mindfulness-based resilience programme on your stress levels, wellbeing, and burnout. Mindfulness is a way of paying attention to the present moment and the programme I am offering might help you manage the stress inherent to your profession, feel calmer and happier, and better understand your thought processes and emotional reaction patterns. Mindfulness has been shown to help decrease stress and increase positive feelings of wellbeing. It has also been shown to help people experience less burnout symptoms. With this study, I aim to see if that is true for you and in your experience. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. Teachers from all subject areas are welcome to volunteer. There are no specific requirements to be part of this study.

### **Project Procedures**

Starting in April 2020, I will be delivering The Wellbeing Protocol, a mindfulnessbased programme created to reduce stress and burnout. The techniques you will learn in the programme are simple and effective and also fun. The main focus of each session is how the concepts and techniques discussed can be applied to your daily life. That means that every session is very interactive and there is plenty of space for you to express your ideas. We will be exploring stress mechanisms and how to minimise their impact, learn techniques to disengage our automatic thought processes and emotional reaction patterns, and to cultivate a sense of calm and balance in our minds and bodies. The programme will last for 12 sessions, with one session per week. The sessions will take place online. As part of the programme, you will have the option to do some mindfulness activities in your free time. There will be many options to choose from on the course website. These activities are optional and they all take less than 10-15 minutes to complete. You will be asked to complete an online questionnaire three times: before the programme starts, immediately after the programme finishes and three months after programme completion. This questionnaire will take approximately 30 minutes and it will be done online. You can also take part in a focus group at the end of the programme if you wish to. The focus group is an online video session where you, together with other 5 to 10 participants, will share your opinion about the programme. This session will last around 30 minutes and it will be led by a research assistant. It will be audio recorded and it won't be possible for the recorder to be switched off. However, you can choose not to answer a specific question and you can just stay silent. Also, everything discussed in the focus group should be kept confidential so you will be asked not to share that information with anyone. The audio recording of the focus group will be transcribed by a research assistant. All the participants will be deidentified during transcription and no names will be used in any reports. Here are the questions used in the focus group:

- 1. Think back at the entire programme. What went particularly well?
- 2. What needs improvement?
- 3. What is different in your life, if anything, as a result of this programme?
- 4. What words or feelings come to mind when you think about this programme?
- 5. If you were inviting a friend to participate in this programme, what would you say in the invitation?
- 6. Think back before the course. Has your understanding of mindfulness changed since then? If yes, how? And why do you think this might be the case?
- 7. Think back before the course. Has your understanding of wellbeing changed since then? If yes, how? And why do you think this might be the case?
- 8. Think back before the course. Has your understanding of stress changed since then? If yes, how? And why do you think this might be the case?
  - 9. Is there anything we should have talked about but didn't?

If at any point during the programme you feel stressed, you can always talk to me or to a counsellor whose contact details will be made available to you at the beginning of the programme. You can also withdraw from the programme at any time without having to give any reasons.

Please note I am the researcher, the intervention facilitator and mindfulness programme creator. In order to avoid any potential conflict of interest, the data collection and coding will be managed by a research assistant who will provide me with de-identified data. I will act with integrity with respect to data analysis procedures and will work closely with my supervisors to ensure objectivity is retained at all times. Neither of my supervisors have any

association/relationship with potential pools of participants that could be considered a conflict of interest or perception of coercion.

### Data storage/retention/destruction/future use

The research assistant will store the participant list on a password-protected computer and will delete it permanently once all the data have been entered and the database is complete. The research assistant will lead and record the focus groups and will transcribe the audio recording de-identifying all participants. She/he will send the researcher de-identified transcripts. All the de-identified data will be backed up on University of Auckland server and deleted six years after PhD completion. Hardcopies of the consent forms will be stored in a locked cabinet at the University for six years and then destroyed. Electronic copies of the consent forms will be stored on a password protected computer and permanently deleted after six years.

The final report will be submitted for assessment for a Doctor of Philosophy degree from The University of Auckland and a copy of the thesis will be accessible at The University of Auckland library and online. Findings may also be used for academic publications and conference presentations. Once the study is complete, I will provide you with a summary report if you wish so.

### Right to withdraw from participation

You can withdraw from the programme at any time without giving any reasons. You can also ask me to take your questionnaire data out of the study up until two weeks after you have completed it.

Participants who volunteer to be part of the focus groups may refuse to answer any questions and are free to leave the group discussion without having to give a reason.

However, because of the nature of the group situation, the recording device cannot be turned

off during the discussion and, if they withdraw from the research, information they have contributed up to that point cannot be withdrawn.

### **Anonymity and Confidentiality**

A research assistant will de-identify the data before sending it to me so I won't know what your answers to the questions were. No reference will be made to any persons connected to the research in any publications that result from this study. The research assistant has signed a confidentiality agreement so she/he will not share any information about the study with anyone. However, confidentiality cannot be fully guaranteed as it is possible that participants may speak to others about the research study.

#### **Contact details**

If you agree to participate, please complete, sign and return the attached consent form by email to g.toma@auckland.ac.nz. Thank you for reading this information sheet.

Warm regards, Georgi Toma, PhD Student

School of Learning, Development and Professional Practice Faculty of Education & Social Work The University of Auckland

Email: g.toma@auckland.ac.nz

Phone: [a pre-paid phone number will be purchased by the researcher to be used for the study; the number will be inserted here]

### **University of Auckland contacts:**

Supervisor	Co-Supervisor	Head of School
Professor Christine Rubie-Davies	Professor Deidre Le Fevre	Associate Professor Richard Hamilton
School of Learning, Development and	School of Learning, Development and	School of Learning, Development and
Professional Practice, Faculty of Education	Professional Practice, Faculty of	Professional Practice, Faculty of
& Social Work,	Education & Social Work,	Education & Social Work, The
The University of Auckland	The University of Auckland	University of Auckland
c.rubie@auckland.ac.nz	d.lefevre@auckland.ac.nz	rj.hamilton@auckland.ac.nz

For any queries regarding ethical concerns you may contact the Chair, The University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee, Office of Research Strategy and Integrity, The University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019, Auckland 1142. Telephone 09 373-7599 extn. 83711. Email: humanethics@auckland.ac.nz.

School of Learning Development and Professional Practice Faculty of Education The University of Auckland H Block, Gate 3 74 Epsom Avenue, Epsom Auckland 1023, New Zealand



### **Consent Form**

This Consent Form will be held for a period of six years

**Project Title:** The Wellbeing Protocol - Effects on Teacher Stress, Burnout,

And Wellbeing During the Covid-19 Outbreak

**Principal Investigator:** Prof. Christine Rubie-Davies

**Co-investigator**: Prof. Deidre Le Fevre

**Student researcher**: Georgi Toma

I have read the Participant Information Sheet, have understood the nature of the research and why I have been selected. I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have had them answered to my satisfaction.

- I agree to take part in this research.
- I understand that I am free to withdraw my participation at any time, and to withdraw any data traceable to me up to two weeks following completion of the questionnaire.
- If I volunteer for the focus group, I understand that I will be recorded. I may refuse to answer any questions and am free to leave the group discussion without having to give a reason. However, the recording device cannot be turned off during the discussion and, if I withdraw from the research, information I have contributed up to that point cannot be withdrawn.
- If I volunteer for the focus group, I agree that everything discussed is confidential and I will not share that information with anyone.
- I understand that a research assistant who has signed a confidentiality agreement will code the online questionnaires and the focus group.

- I understand that participants will not be identified in any written report or oral presentation arising from this research; however, I also understand that complete confidentiality cannot be guaranteed.
- I understand that the questionnaire data and consent forms related to this study will be kept in a locked cabinet at the University of Auckland or a password protected computer and will be destroyed after six years.

• I O wish / O do not wish to receive a summary of findings, which can be
emailed to me at this email address:
I consent. Begin the research
I do not consent.
Name: Date: